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On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”) of Q P Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”),
| am pleased to present to you the annual report of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023").

MAJOR BUSINESS MOVES AND
ACHIEVEMENTS

In FY2023, the economic slowdown around the world and
the persistent inflation in western countries dealt a heavy
blow to the overall consumer sentiment and import demands.
With its bases in China and market presence in the globe,
the Group’s business is inevitably influenced by the external
environment. Faced with the challenges, the Group’s
management has been closely monitoring market dynamics,
timely formulating, implementing and reviewing development
strategies, so as to maintain the competitive advantage.

As a manufacturing enterprise, we are committed to making
breakthroughs on the basis of existing businesses as we
recognise the significance of business diversification. During
the reporting period, we actively implemented four major
business diversification strategies, including exploring
new projects of different product categories with existing
original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) customers,
developing new customers for the existing product lines,
expand OEM product lines and introducing new business
models, which laid a foundation for the Group to achieve
long-term business growth. In response to the booming
trading card game market in China, in the reporting period,
we invested in acquiring relevant equipment and expanding
the marketing team, and actively participated in related trade
fairs in the mainland to develop the business. For the web
sales business, during the reporting period, we commenced
the trial run of Q P Market Network (“QPMN?”), a one-stop
online platform for product customisation launched in
2022. Valuable market information and feedback were
obtained to facilitate the adjustment and improvement of
website infrastructure, marketing strategies and product
alternatives, underpinning the long-term development of
QPMN. In addition to the OEM business and the web sales
business, we developed the original brand manufacturer
(“OBM”) business during the reporting period. Leveraging
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our experience and know-how accumulated in the card
game production for years, we launched our own card
game brand with self-designed products and self-managed
distribution, so as to better capture the market opportunities
of relevant products. Besides, in view of the growing concern
over information and cyber security in various industries,
we invested appropriate resources in the development of
cyber security-related services during the reporting period
with the aim of seizing the opportunities arising from the
local demands for such services and achieving business
diversification in the long run.

In terms of operation, the Vietnam plant commenced
operations officially in the third quarter of 2023. Establishing
a production base outside China is an important milestone
of the Group. The new Vietnam plant provides an additional
geographical manufacturing option for our OEM customers,
thus allows us to better cater to their business needs and
seize business opportunities, while diversifying potential
geopolitical risks in the long run. Upon the operation of
the new Vietnam plant, we endeavoured to apply the
management experience and operation system of our
Dongguan plant and Heshan plant to the Vietnam plant. We
sent operation and production specialists from our plants in
China to the new plant for on-site instruction, training and
management, so as to smoothen the operations of the new
plant.

On 28 February 2023, the Group entered into a construction
agreement with an independent third party contractor in
relation to the construction of a new factory building at our
Heshan plant at a consideration of RMB45 million, aiming
to improve the Group’s production capacity and enhance
the overall production and operational efficiency. The
construction is expected to be completed in the second
quarter of 2024.
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Moreover, the Group further advanced the operation-related
IT development work to strengthen the application of digital
systems during the reporting period, thereby effectively
consolidating the workflow of production, warehousing
of raw materials and finished products and order delivery
across departments and thus improving the overall efficiency.

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

In FY2023, our overall revenue decreased by approximately
18.6% to approximately HK$1,039.2 million. Our OEM sales
decreased by approximately 21.9% from approximately
HK$1,082.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
(“FY2022") to approximately HK$845.8 million for FY2023,
which was mainly attributable to reduced product demand
of certain major OEM customers as a result of weakened
consumer sentiment due to continuing inflationary pressures
in our major markets and the slowdown in global economic
growth during the reporting period. Web sales amounted to
approximately HK$193.4 million for FY2023, which remained
at a similar level compared to approximately HK$193.7 million
for FY2022. The profit attributable to the equity holders
of the Company decreased by approximately 36.8% from
approximately HK$126.8 million for FY2022 to approximately
HK$80.1 million for FY2023.

The Board has proposed to declare a final dividend of HK8.0
cents per share amounting to approximately HK$42.6 million
for FY2023, which is expected to be paid on or around
Tuesday, 25 June 2024. In making the decision, the Board
has prudently considered the Group’s current and future
cash flows, the uncertainties in the economy, the outlook for
further growth and profitability and views of key stakeholders,
including regulators and shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The final dividend is subject to approval
at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”). If
approved, this will represent total dividends of HK10.0 cents
per share for FY2023.
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OUTLOOK & PROSPECTS

The World Bank forecast that the global economic growth
will slow in 2024 for the third consecutive year. This,
coupled with unfavourable factors including geopolitical
tensions and inflation, leads to an expectation that the
market will face further challenges. Nevertheless, based
on the solid business and financial foundation, we are still
confident about the long-term prospect of the Group. We
will continuously implement different development strategies
and plans to achieve the long-term goal of sustainable
development and growth. On the business front, business
diversification remains one of our priorities. We will continue
to pursue various diversification strategies, actively exploring
new opportunities in different areas and markets in
response to markets and customers’ demands. In terms of
operations, the completion and commissioning of the new
Vietnam plant will bring additional capacity and competitive
advantage to the Group. We will progressively build reliable
and skilled local teams in the Vietnam plant to maximise its
advantage. Overall, we are pushing forward smart operations
with application of technologies and innovation to achieve
seamless connection and centralised management across
businesses and production sites in the long run, so that we
can further enhance our operating efficiency, production
capacity and competitiveness.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my sincere appreciation to all of our employees
who contributed to the Group in a dedicated and professional
manner despite challenges. | also thank our Shareholders,
business partners and professional parties for their support
to the Group throughout the reporting period.

CHENG Wan Wai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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FINANCIAL | BF i &
HIGHLIGHTS

For the year ended
31 December
BZEZ+t-A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
—_=E_= —E - _F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT F& T
Revenue W 1,039,199 1,276,392
Gross profit EF 356,092 416,764
Adjusted profit attributable to equity holders A% & 2 A &) 7 25 B B
of the Company J& {5 % 80,099 126,839
Earnings per shares (HK cents) BRAR CEMWL)
— Basic and diluted — %ﬁ&%% 15.06 23.84
Interim dividend per share (HK cents) TR ER B (B 2 3
Final dividend per share (HK cents) BERAREK 5\(/% iy 81 11
Total dividend per share (HK cents) Bk EBEOEMNL) 10 14
Note: et -
1 Subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general 1 MAGRRREERRBFRNG LIE -
meeting.

R Adjusted Profit Attributable to
evenue .
3% Equity Holders of the Company
AR N B R RELEF
HK$'000 1,389,759 HK$’000
FHT 1,276,392 TR 130,514*
1,193,641 1+232:631 ’ 126,839
119,042
1,039,199
91,861*
80,099
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2019 J 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NEFE —Z-TFE T — T F —T-=F —TE-hFE —T-TFE T — T —E-=F
* Eliminated the effect of non-recurring listing related expenses of HK$7.6 million and
HK$1.2 million for FY2019 and FY2020, respectively
EREDIIR-Z—NFHREE RS- DFEUWREERIELCEE EHaREMS
7T6EEBBTRI2AEBTHVE
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MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
Corporate Profile

Established in 1985, the Group is a paper product
manufacturing and printing services provider, offering our
customers diversified manufacturing and printing solutions
for a wide spectrum of products. Headquartered in Hong
Kong, we operate production plants at Dongguan and
Heshan in Guangdong Province, the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”), and Phu Ly City in Ha Nam Province,
Vietnam. Our principal product categories are tabletop
games, greeting cards, educational items and premium
packaging. Our products are sold to () OEM customers
who order mass quantities for direct sales and distribution
through their own sales network; and (ii) individual and
corporate customers who order through online sales
channels. We have established stable business relationships
with our major OEM customers in the United States
of America (the “USA”) and Europe, which include an
international greeting cards publisher and multinational
children educational products and toys brands.

Business Overview

During the reporting period, despite the full resumption
of social and economic activities around the world upon
retreat of the COVID-19 pandemic, the further slowdown
in global economic growth and the persistent inflationary
pressure in various region weakened consumer sentiment
and purchasing power, and in turn affected the sales
of the Group’s related products. At the same time, the
ongoing intense competition from the PRC and overseas
manufacturers impeded the Group’s business expansion.
Amid the challenging market environment, the Group
adopted diversified growth strategies in its OEM business,
developing new product lines and new customers in a
proactive manner and providing existing customers with
manufacturing solutions that catered to their business
needs. During the reporting period, the Group’s OEM sales
decreased from approximately HK$1,082.7 million for FY2022
to approximately HK$845.8 million for FY2023, representing
a decrease of approximately HK$236.9 million or 21.9%.
The aforementioned market environment and competition
have also imposed certain challenges to the Group’s web
sales business. To maintain the competitive advantage and
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long-term growth of the web sales business, the Group
implemented various business strategies during the reporting
period including active digital marketing to consolidate the
leading position of its brand in search engines and maintain
its presence in the e-commerce market. We also launched
crowdfunding campaigns for self-designed products to
boost sales and brand awareness. Our web sales brands
also took part in various exhibitions to further increase their
exposure in the relevant markets. Meanwhile, we rationalised
our web sales brands to focus on the development of
those with better market positions and achieve more
effective use of resources. In addition, we continued to
strive to strengthen the functions and services of QPMN, a
one-stop e-commerce platform for custom products, so as
to enhance the compatibility of the platform’s services in
various regions and expand its product offerings, laying a
solid foundation for the further expansion of our web sales
business in the future. In FY2023, our web sales amounted
to approximately HK$193.4 million which remained at a
similar level compared to approximately HK$193.7 million
for FY2022. The number of active registered user accounts,
which refers to the registered user accounts with order(s)
placed at our major websites, increased by approximately
11.3% from approximately 57,600 as at 31 December 2022
to approximately 64,100 as at 31 December 2023.

In respect of operations, the Group’s new plant located
at Phu Ly City in Ha Nam Province, Vietnam was put into
operation in the third quarter of 2023. Apart from that, on
28 February 2023, the Group entered into a construction
agreement with an independent third party contractor in
relation to the construction of a new factory building at our
Heshan plant, aiming to improve the Group’s production
capacity and enhance the overall production and operational
efficiency. The construction is expected to be completed in
the second quarter of 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overall, the revenue of the Group decreased from
approximately HK$1,276.4 million for FY2022 to
approximately HK$1,039.2 million for FY2023, representing
a decrease of approximately 18.6%, which was mainly
attributable to weakened consumer sentiment due to
continuing inflationary pressures in our major markets
and the slowdown in global economic growth in FY2023.
The Group’s profit attributable to the equity holders of
the Company decreased by approximately 36.8% from
approximately HK$126.8 million for FY2022 to approximately
HK$80.1 million for FY2023. The Group’s net profit
margin decreased from approximately 9.9% for FY2022 to
approximately 7.5% for FY2023. The decrease in the profit
attributable to the equity holders of the Company was
primarily attributable to the decrease in OEM sales during
FY2023.

Future Outlook

The slowdown in global economic growth and inflationary
pressures are expected to continue in the coming year,
posing ongoing challenges to overall consumer demand
and the manufacturing market. The potential volatility of
the geopolitical situation may bring uncertainties to the
manufacturing industry. In view of such, we will continue
to adhere to our strategic deployment to actively explore
new businesses, consolidate our business and enhance
our operations so as to maintain the Group’s competitive
advantage. In respect of the OEM business, we will review
the current business development approach, adopt
aggressive strategies and provide competitive services so as
to strive for more business opportunities. We will continue
to develop trading card game manufacturing business by
actively expanding markets in different regions, developing
more production processes and elevating our product quality
and operation standards, in order to further capture the
potential of the relevant markets and achieve diversification
of our OEM business. In respect of web sales business, we
will continue to carry out both online and offline marketing
strategies, including enhancement of digital marketing, new
product release on crowdfunding platforms and participation
in more overseas exhibitions and business events. In
addition, we have established local and overseas marketing
teams for our e-commerce platform QPMN to facilitate
new business expansion. With its more mature website
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE T

infrastructure, we will actively promote QPMN to different
geographical markets with the aim of expanding the market
share of the Group’s web sales business in the long run.
Regarding our OBM business newly developed during the
reporting period, we will seek collaboration with brands and
licensors, develop other product categories in addition to our
existing card products, and add on customisation to enrich
customer experience.

In terms of operations, following the commencement of
operation of the Vietnam plant and the upcoming completion
of Heshan new plant, we will focus on consolidating the
positioning of each of our production bases, strengthen the
capacity of Dongguan plant as a hub for product engineering,
research and development and digital production, and
leverage the advantages of Heshan plant and Vietnam plant
serving as the manufacturing hubs for the Group’s OEM
business, so as to strengthen production specialisation and
overall operational efficiency of our production bases. We
will continue to devote resources to the development of a
digitalised and smart operation system, review and optimise
the deployment and workflow of different production lines,
optimising the overall efficiency and cost in the long run.

Despite the market challenges, we will stay focused on the
optimisation of operations and steady business expansion.
The Group will continue to closely monitor and evaluate
market changes and take corresponding actions and
responses to mitigate the impact.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B LM

FINANCIAL REVIEW Bt 7 ]
Revenue Y 2=

The Group achieved revenue of approximately HK$1,039.2
million for FY2023, representing a decrease of approximately
18.6% as compared with approximately HK$1,276.4 million
for FY2022. The decrease in the Group’s revenue for FY2023
was mainly attributable to the decrease in OEM sales.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of total revenue
for the periods indicated by business segment:

AREBR-_ZE-_ZFURFEERKZE
H1,0302BEEA L BT _FHK
FE#1,276.48 8B TR 2 4918.6% ° 7
SRR - =FHREFEENREE A
AT E B OEMSE &R BT »

TREIRARHEIRER 2 A8 D8
#0455 AR AR -

Year ended 31 December
BE+=-A=+—HILEE

2023 2022
—E=-= —FT - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#& T F& T
OEM sales OEMiH & 845,781 81.4 1,082,686 84.8
Web sales HuhiHE 193,418 18.6 193,706 15.2
Total @at 1,039,199 100.0 1,276,392 100.0

OEM sales decreased from approximately HK$1,082.7
million for FY2022 to approximately HK$845.8 million for
FY2023, representing a decrease of approximately 21.9%.
The decrease was primarily due to weakened consumer
sentiment due to continuing inflationary pressures in our
major markets and the slowdown in global economic growth
in FY2023.

Web sales amounted to approximately HK$193.4 million
for FY2023, which remained at a similar level compared to
approximately HK$193.7 million for FY2022.

OEMBHERBH T _FHHRFENLD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIR[E i Mo T

The table below summarises the geographical revenue based T~ & it 7 & AR HI R 32 217 B 19 1 &

on the destination of delivery for the periods indicated: 73 B Hh [ U A

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-BLEE

2023 2022
—g=-=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHET
The USA ES 695,088 66.9 866,131 67.9
Europe &M 173,903 16.7 232,620 18.2
The PRC H 79,981 7.7 83,410 6.5
Others H b 90,227 8.7 94,231 7.4
Total BEt 1,039,199 100.0 1,276,392 100.0

The USA and Europe remained the two largest overseas 3B K B3 A& 7/ &= B /R K8 ShH 35
markets of the Group which in aggregate accounted for A D RE T -_=ZFHHBEFEE K —
83.6% and 86.1% of the total revenue for FY2023 and =T — — F Bf B F € 42 I 35 4983.6% M
FY2022, respectively. The decrease in sales from these two  86.1% ° KB ZEME T IS ERE T %
markets was primarily attributed to the decrease of OEM T & it R EKOEMES E R 4

sales due to the reasons mentioned above.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales mainly consists of the cost of
raw materials, staff costs in relation to production, sub-
contracting charges, depreciation, utilities and factory
overheads. The Group recorded a decrease in cost of sales
of approximately 20.5% from approximately HK$859.6 million
for FY2022 to approximately HK$683.1 million for FY2023.
The decrease in cost of sales was primarily attributable
to the decrease in production output as a result of fewer
purchase orders placed by our OEM customers during the
reporting period.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

For FY2023, the gross profit of the Group was approximately
HK$356.1 million, representing a decrease of approximately
14.6% as compared with approximately HK$416.8 million
recorded in FY2022. The gross profit margin increased
from approximately 32.7% for FY2022 to approximately
34.3% for FY2023, which was primarily attributable to the
higher portion of revenue generated from web sales and the
depreciation of the Renminbi (“‘RMB”) against Hong Kong
Dollars (“HKD” or “HK$”), and such positive effect was
partially offset by the reduced economies of scale resulting
from the decrease in sales volume during the reporting
period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIR[E i Mo T

Other gains, net

The Group’s other gains, net mainly consist of foreign
exchange gain, fair value gain/(loss) on derivative financial
instruments and loss on disposals of property, plant and
equipment. The increase of other gains, net was primarily
due to the depreciation of the RMB against HKD and the
Group did not enter into forward foreign currency contracts
to hedge against the risk of RMB appreciation against United
States Dollars (“USD”) during FY2023.

Other income

The Group’s other income mainly consists of sales of scrap
materials and government grants. The decrease in other
income was mainly due to the decrease in sales of scrap
materials and the decrease in receipts of government
subsidies in the PRC.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses primarily
consist of transportation expenses, staff costs of our
sales personnel, sales commission and service charges
of payment gateways. The Group’s selling and distribution
expenses decreased by approximately 8.0% from
approximately HK$110.4 million for FY2022 to approximately
HK$101.6 million for FY2023. The decrease was mainly
due to the saving in transportation expenses upon the
implementation of relevant improvement strategies for
delivering goods of our web sales business.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses mainly comprise
staff costs, depreciation and amortisation, and legal
and professional fees. The Group’s administrative
expenses decreased slightly by approximately 1.4%, from
approximately HK$185.2 million for FY2022 to approximately
HK$182.7 million for FY2023. The Group’s administrative
expenses for FY2023 remained stable as compared with that
in FY2022.

18 QP GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED E£2&£EIZERER AT

H Uy 25 75 2R

AEBNEMKRS FRIZERBELI
wEERIAQNTERR (EBE)
REEME BEEARBZER - Hit
Wt FERIBMEBRHRNARBLBITRE
BEAXRSER-_Z_=FUHRFER L LT
MEBINESHAE MARERZ TR
T ENER -

H i A
AEBEMPATZEREHEEREMN MK
FiF 76 B o Eo At U AL 3 22 e 0 R R 3
SR K BT W b B KRS S B R A o

HERDHEHBEX
AEEMNHEERSHERYTERIEER
BRH HEABEBEIRA HEASR
TRNEEAREE AEENHEERDH
AYBA T _FHHRFEMNLHI048
EETRALN8.0% E_T-=ZFHK
FEMNINEEEBT - BIETERH
RAMAILEEEK NS ERERRK
HERBEREERER -

THRX

AEEMTHRASTEBEEIRA
TERBHUREEREXEBRH A&
ENTHRETSH S —_FU0HBRFEN
18528 BB TR AR D H14%E_F
TEFEMRFEENNI2TBEEE T o R
T FYRFE ASENITHRAX
BT FHBRFERLERFETE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance income, net

The Group recognised finance income, net of approximately
HK$3,797,000 for FY2023 as compared with finance income,
net of approximately HK$86,000 for FY2022, as a result of
a higher level of surplus cash was placed on term deposits
and the interest rates remained consistently high throughout
FY2023.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense decreased by approximately
21% from approximately HK$16.3 million for FY2022 to
approximately HK$16.0 million for FY2023. The effective tax
rate of the Group for FY2023 and FY2022 were approximately
16.9% and 11.4%, respectively. The increase in the effective
tax rate was mainly caused by the increase in non-deductible
expenses and unrecognised tax losses, primarily resulting
from the establishment of newly formed subsidiaries during
the reporting period.

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the
Company

The profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
decreased by approximately 36.8% from approximately
HK$126.8 million for FY2022 to approximately HK$80.1
million for FY2023. The Group’s net profit margin decreased
from approximately 9.9% for FY2022 to approximately
7.5% for FY2023. The decrease in net profit was primarily
attributable to the decrease in OEM sales during the
reporting period.
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MANAGEMENTDBCUS&ONANDANAUSE
En fi nTuFFE& *Fl'

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The shares (the “Shares”) of the Company were listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 16 January 2020 (the “Listing”). There
has been no change in the share capital of our Group since
then and share capital of our Group only comprises ordinary
shares. As at the date of this annual report, the Company
has 532,000,000 ordinary Shares in issue.

The Group relies principally on its internally generated capital
and bank borrowings to fund its business. Details of the
borrowings (including the maturity profile of borrowings) are
set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During FY2023, the Group maintained a healthy liquidity
position, with working capital mainly financed by internal
resources. The Group adopts a prudent cash and financial
management policy. We closely review trade receivable
balances and any overdue balances on an ongoing basis and
only trade with creditworthy parties. We closely monitor the
Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure
of the Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can meet
its funding requirements to manage liquidity risk.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group reported net current
assets of approximately HK$204.3 million, as compared with
approximately HK$253.8 million as at 31 December 2022. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash and bank balances
was approximately HK$160.4 million, of which approximately
HK$28.8 million was denominated in HKD, approximately
HK$109.0 million was denominated in USD, approximately
HK$19.8 million was denominated in RMB and the
remaining balance was denominated in other currencies (31
December 2022: approximately HK$294.7 million, of which
approximately HK$168.3 million was denominated in HKD,
approximately HK$93.4 million was denominated in USD,
approximately HK$29.4 million was denominated in RMB and
the remaining balance was denominated in other currencies),
representing a decrease of approximately HK$134.3 million
as compared with that as at 31 December 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2023, total borrowings and lease
liabilities for the Group amounted to approximately HK$50.8
million (31 December 2022: approximately HK$119.2 million).
The borrowings were denominated in HKD and VND and
lease liabilities were denominated in HKD and RMB. Bank
borrowings are mostly at floating rates and lease liabilities
are at fixed rates.

For FY2023, the net cash generated from operating activities
was approximately HK$112.1 million (FY2022: approximately
HK$269.0 million). The net cash generated from operating
activities was mainly derived from the profits recorded during
the reporting period. The net cash used in investing activities
was approximately HK$195.0 million (FY2022: approximately
HK$82.0 million). The net cash used in financing activities
was approximately HK$143.6 million (FY2022: approximately
HK$47.9 million). For FY2023, the net cash used in investing
activities was mainly attributable to payments in relation to
the placement of time deposits, the payments in relation to
the purchase of property, plant and equipment, and the net
cash used in financing activities was mainly attributable to
the dividend payments and the repayment of borrowings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities (31 December 2022: nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately
HK$21.0 million (31 December 2022: approximately HK$45.0
million) capital commitments in relation to the purchase of
property, plant and equipment.

EEE njnﬁ& 1‘)?

T =F+ZHA=1+—H FTEEH
FBEREEAENRS08BE BT (=
—HF+ZA=1+—H: 11028 8B
ERABETREEEFE MEE

AIAAB TR AREEE - KEH R
BRZEFE MEEAGBAILE

|| >Er|\

=
[ﬂ]mo

3
/

o

or O m o1 A oF SR

R

"

y 5%

NZE_=FHRFE  LLEHE
LEBLHANIAEB T(Z __EW
ﬁif’%ﬂﬁdﬁ%@nﬂ”ﬂ%é@%
SREFBEDNEIEREREHAESEH
mﬂ KREZHAMAR S FELHA195.0
BEBET(CZE-Z_FHMBFE: 4820
BEEBAEL) mEBEIHMARSFENA
143 6B BAET(ZCE__FUHBFE: L
A79RBAL)  RZZEZ=FHWHFE -
KEERHMARSFEIEZEHFANRNEH
BATHERNNRERE@EEEY % -
WEREEONR MREEZEMAR
CFETEARIMNRBEREEER -

RAREE
RZEZ=F+ZHA=+—H A5 H
TEEASABBEBCZTE=ZZF+=A
=t+—B8:&)-

BERALE
RZTEZ=F+ZRA=+—H FXEEH
BEVE BEARBNERNEREDNR
.088A T (ZE_F+=-A=+—H:
#4508 8B TT)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3 21



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIR[E i Mo T

GEARING RATIO

Gearing ratio is calculated by the total debt (being
borrowings and lease liabilities) divided by the total equity as
at the end of the respective reporting periods and multiplied
by 100%. The Group’s gearing ratio was approximately 6.1%
and 14.1% as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, respectively.

We closely monitor our gearing ratio, analyse the maturity
profiles of our borrowings and manage our liquidity level to
ensure a sufficient cash flow to service our indebtedness
and meet cash requirements arising from our business. We
also explore various financing opportunities to improve our
capital structure and reduce our cost of capital.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN
EXCHANGE RATES AND RELATED
HEDGES

As the Group is headquartered in Hong Kong and our
production facilities are primarily located in the PRC,
most of our production costs and operating expenses
are primarily denominated in HKD and RMB, while our
revenue is mainly denominated in USD and HKD, and we
are exposed to foreign currency risks primarily as a result
of revenue, production costs and operating expenses that
are denominated in foreign currencies other than HKD. The
Group’s foreign currency exposure also comprises assets
and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the
subsidiaries’ functional currencies.

The Group has set up a policy to manage its foreign currency
risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates and employing financial instruments for
hedging should the need arise. The Group does not adopt a
formal hedge accounting policy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any
outstanding forward foreign exchange contract (31
December 2022: the notional principal amounts of the
outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts were
approximately HK$109.2 million). For FY2023, fair value gain
on derivative financial instruments of approximately HK$1.3
million (FY2022: fair value loss of approximately HK$19.9
million) was recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION IN
RELATION TO CONSTRUCTION OF A
FACTORY IN HESHAN

On 28 February 2023, the Group entered into the
construction contract with an independent third party
contractor, pursuant to which the contractor agreed, among
other things, to undertake the construction works of the
factory in Heshan at a consideration of RMB45,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$50,873,000), subject to
adjustment (if any). The Group intends to increase overall
production capacity in Heshan so as to cater for the
continuous growth of our paper products manufacturing
business. Under such plan, the Group can also enhance
its overall production efficiency and operational efficiency
as the management will be able to perform better
production planning and more effective allocation of
resources to support our production capacity with the
increased production space and new machines in Heshan.
Details of the construction contract were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 28 February 2023.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any
significant investments (31 December 2022: nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
during FY2023 and FY2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIR[E i Mo T

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no other
plans for material investments or capital assets.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, right-of-use assets amounted to
approximately HK$80.2 million (2022: HK$82.0 million) and
property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately
HK$69.5 million (2022: HK$73.2 million) have been charged
as security for bank borrowings of the Group.

Details of pledge of assets are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial information.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange on 16 January 2020 of which
133,000,000 ordinary shares (comprising 13,300,000 Hong
Kong offer shares and 119,700,000 international placing
shares) had been allotted and issued under the global
offering, at an offer price of HK$1.18 per Share. The actual
net proceeds from the listing of the Company’s shares on 16
January 2020 (the “Listing”) were approximately HK$111.9
million (after deduction of the listing expenses).

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had applied the net
proceeds in the manner consistent with that described in the
section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the
Prospectus, and announcements (“Announcements”) of
the Company dated 30 March 2022 and 26 August 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIRET M

=

=

—=F+-_A=+—H8: ' LTHE
I FHEEWEHEA TRHIIER

As at 31 December 2023, the net proceeds from the 3
BRZEAERROMER G KiE

Listing had been fully utilised. The table below sets out

and same proportions as shown in the Prospectus and

Announcements. The table below summarises the actual use EBEEN_E-_=F+-A=1+—H

IS
b
an adjusted allocation as adjusted in the same manner J%
@
&
Z

of the net proceeds as at 31 December 2023:

A
=
WOIEE 2 EAESE - T RELH
#
HR AR

Actual use of

net proceeds  Unutilised net

up to proceeds as at

Actual 31 December 31 December
net proceeds 2023 2023
BEEZ-E_-= A—EBE_-=
+=A=+-B +t+=BA=+-H
ERFE FERETFEN 1 5 & A
Use of proceeds FERERE REFHE ERAE FEREFE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FTERT FTET TERT
Enhance the Group’s production REAEEMNEERE IR 58,726 (58,726) -
capacity and operational flexibility MeBEN
Optimise the Group’s product mix and ARETEEBAEE 27,964 (27,964) -
production specialisation by, among MEKENIEZBL
others, reallocating the Group’s RRAREBMBELN
production capacity to Heshan and ZBEASENE
enhancing the Group’s operational mEEREEZER
efficiency
Enhance the Group’s technological RAXEENREMENR 13,087 (13,087) -
capability and upgrading the Group’s ABRAEEMERARE
IT infrastructure EWRE
Working capital and other general EEEeRAEM—REE 12,081 (12,081) -
corporate purposes B
111,858 (111,858) -
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OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHENG Wan Wai (#%1&) wmy, aged 65, is one of
our founders, an executive Director, chairman of our Board
and chief executive officer of our Company. Mr. Cheng was
appointed as a Director in April 2018 and redesignated as
an executive Director in January 2019. He is responsible
for formulating overall strategies, planning and business
directions of our Group. Mr. Cheng also serves as a director
or a legal representative of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
Mr. Cheng has over 35 years of experience in the printing
industry. He established our Group in 1985 with Mr. Yeung
Keng Wu Kenneth and served as a director of Q P Printing
Limited since its incorporation. Mr. Cheng is the spouse of
Ms. Hui Li Kwan, an executive Director of our Group.

Between December 2016 and February 2023, Mr. Cheng
served as a vice chairman of the board of directors of the
Hongkong Shine Tak Foundation Association Limited, a
charity organisation, and was appointed as its executive vice
chairman since February 2023. He has also been serving
as a permanent honorary president since December 2014,
In July 2023, Mr. Cheng was awarded the Medal of Honour
by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region. In September 2023, Mr. Cheng was awarded an
Honorary Fellowship by the Professional Validation Council of
Hong Kong Industries.

Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth (# % ), aged 65, is one
of our founders and an executive Director, and is responsible
for formulating overall strategies and planning, and
overseeing the manufacturing operations of our Group. Mr.
Yeung was appointed as our Director in April 2018 and
redesignated as an executive Director in January 2019. Mr.
Yeung also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group. He has over 35 years of experience in the printing
industry. He established our Group in 1985 with Mr. Cheng
Wan Wai and served as a director of Q P Printing Limited
since its incorporation.

Between January 2012 and January 2017, Mr. Yeung had
been a member of the 12th Dongguan Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. He
has been serving as a permanent honorary president of
Hongkong Shine Tak Foundation Association Limited, a
charity organisation, since December 2016.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny (B &), aged 61, is an executive
Director, and is responsible for formulating strategic
planning, overseeing overseas sales, human resources,
administration and training functions of our Group. Ms. Liu
was appointed as our Director in April 2018 and
redesignated as an executive Director in January 2019. Ms.
Liu also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group. She joined our Group in September 1990 and has
over 35 years of experience in the printing industry. Ms. Liu
obtained a degree of Executive Master of Business
Administration from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in May 2004.

Mr. CHAN Wang Tao Thomas (BR £ &), aged 60, is
an executive Director, and is responsible for overseeing
business development and sales functions of our Group.
Mr. Chan was appointed as our Director in April 2018 and
redesignated as an executive Director in January 2019. Mr.
Chan also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group. He joined our Group in October 2000 and possesses
over 20 years of experience in the paper-based items
manufacturing and printing industry. Mr. Chan obtained a
degree of Executive Master of Business Administration from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in November 2013.

Ms. HUI Li Kwan (¥ &), aged 62, is an executive Director,
and is responsible for managing material development and
supply. Ms. Hui was appointed as our Director in April 2018 and
redesignated as an executive Director in January 2019. Ms. Hui
also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
She joined our Group in July 1985 and has over 35 years of
experience in the printing industry. Ms. Hui is the spouse of
Mr. Cheng Wan Wai, an executive Director and chairman of our
Group.
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EENEREEERE

Mr. MAK Chin Pang (Z & §), aged 52, is an executive
Director, and is responsible for overseeing administrative and
legal compliance matters, accounting and corporate finance
functions of our Group. He was appointed as our Director
in April 2018 and redesignated as an executive Director in
January 2019. Mr. Mak also serves as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. He is the chairman of the risk
management committee and a member of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of our Company. He
joined our Group in May 2001 and has over 20 years of
experience in accounting, finance, corporate governance,
capital management and strategic planning matters.

Mr. Mak obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business
Administration in Finance from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology in November 1994. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors. He also passed the qualifying examination in Six
Sigma Green Belt and was awarded a certificate from the Six
Sigma Institute.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas (Bf B &), v+, up aged 50,
was appointed as our independent non-executive Director in
December 2019. He is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee and a member of the audit committee, nomination
committee and risk management committee of our Company.
Mr. Chan is currently a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and
has over 20 years of experience in the legal practice. He has
become a partner of Squire Patton Boggs, a law firm since
September 2005.

Mr. Chan was admitted to practise law as a solicitor in Hong
Kong in May 1999 and has since then become a member
of The Law Society of Hong Kong. He served as a council
member of The Law Society of Hong Kong from December
2014 to May 2019. He was also admitted to practice law in
the Australian Capital Territory and Victoria, Australia in June
1997 and October 2000, respectively, and was admitted
to practice as a solicitor in England and Wales in October
2007. Mr. Chan graduated from The University of Melbourne,
Australia, with a double degree of Bachelor of Laws and
Bachelor of Science in March 1997.

Mr. Chan was a council member of The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology from April 2016 to
March 2022, and he has been serving as a member of
the Court of the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology for a period of three years from September 2022.
He has been appointed to serve as a council member of
The Chinese University of Hong Kong for a period of three
years from June 2022. He has also been appointed as a
member of the Hospital Governing Committee of Castle
Peak Hospital and Siu Lam Hospital since April 2019. Since
November 2018, Mr. Chan has been serving as a council
member of Fu Hong Society. Since May 2022, Mr. Chan
has also been appointed as the director of AALCO Hong
Kong Regional Arbitration Centre. Since June 2021, Mr.
Chan has become a non-club-linked director of the board
of the Football Association of Hong Kong, China Limited
with a term until June 2025. Mr. Chan is Hong Kong Deputy
to the 13th National People’s Congress and 14th National
People’s Congress of the PRC. He was awarded the Medal
of Honours from the Government of the HKSAR in July 2016
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and has also been appointed as a Justice of the Peace by
the Government of the HKSAR since July 2021. He has been
appointed to serve as a member of Committee on Innovation,
Technology and Industry Development of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region Government with effect from
March 2023, and as a member of Communications Authority
with effect from April 2023. Since May 2023, he has been
appointed as a member of the Social Development Expert
Group under the Chief Executive’s Policy Unit Expert Group
for a period of one year. Since June 2023, he has been
appointed as the Chairman of the Innovation and Technology
Venture Fund Advisory Committee for a period of two years.

Mr. Chan has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of (i) Sa Sa International Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 178), since September 2019; (ii)
Pangaea Connectivity Technology Limited (Stock Code:
1473), since January 2021; (iii) Million Cities Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 2892), since December 2021; (iv)
Genertec Universal Medical Group Company Limited
(Stock Code: 2666), since June 2022; and (v) China
Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code:
144), since December 2022, respectively. The shares of the
abovementioned companies are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange.

30 QP GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &8 &BZERERAHE

M-_E-_=—F=-AREZTAES
THERNAFREEEERRE
KB WH-CFE-_=FHAEETEME
BEERKE BZT-=FH AR &
EZIARERREERAETHL S
%E%%@WWE'E%E%*¢°Q
ZEZ=FRAR FEZETAREERA
RESHERAZEENEE  THAHM
oo

& 45 Rl

/\E

MMEXCEBEZME AT ARG ZBEILIEHR
TEL (VP IPEBEZERERAARSG
R8I BZZE—NFNAR) :(i)IR
BEARERARAR (BRH R 1473)(8
—E-F-AR) (i8R ERBRA
Al(RM R :2802)(EZE=—F+=A
) (vVBEARKEEEEER AR (K
AR 2666) (BT = —F/NAi#e): KV
BERERZERAER AR (BRMHR: 144)
(BEZZE-—F+-A) - L RAZK
MR R FTER LT °



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel (E3CB), 88s, mH, JP,
aged 66, was appointed as our independent non-executive
Director in December 2019. He is also the chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and risk management committee
of our Company. He is a Fellow of The Hong Kong Institute
of Engineers and a registered professional engineer of the
Engineers Registration Board. He has been awarded the title
of professorate senior engineer by the Department of Human
Resources and Social Security of Guangdong Province. He
has over 20 years of experience in the engineering industry.

Prof. Cheng is the Managing Director of Dunwell Technology
(Holdings) Limited. Prof. Cheng serves as the President of
the Hong Kong Environmental Industry Association. Between
July 2015 and July 2017, he served as the chairman of the
Federation of Hong Kong Industries, and was appointed as
its Honorary President since July 2017. Since May 2023, he
has been appointed as a member of the Council for Carbon
Neutrality and Sustainable Development for a period of two
years.

Prof. Cheng was appointed by The University of Hong Kong
as Honorary Professor for the period from March 2016 to
February 2019 and has been appointed as Adjunct Professor
in the Department of Industrial and Manufacturing Systems
Engineering since March 2019. He has also been appointed
by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University as Professor of
Practice (Management) in the Department of Management
and Marketing. He was appointed as a Justice of the Peace
by the Government of the HKSAR in July 2011. He was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) in 2017 and the
Medal of Honours in July 2007 from the Government of the
HKSAR.

In February 2014, Prof. Cheng received the Certificate of
Congressional Recognition for his induction into the Hall of
Fame Class of 2014 from the California State Polytechnic
University, Pomona, the United States. He obtained a degree
of Bachelor of Science in Industrial Engineering from the
California State Polytechnic University, Pomona, the United
States, in June 1981.
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Mr. NG Shung (R &), Jr (Australia), aged 60, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director in December
2019. He is also the chairman of the audit committee and
a member of the remuneration committee, nomination
committee and risk management committee of our Company.
He is a fellow certified public accountant in Hong Kong and
has over 10 years of experience in professional accounting.
He has been operating publication business by serving
as the chairman of the board of directors of Racing World
Publications Limited since 2003.

Mr. Ng was admitted to the status of Certified Practising
Accountant of the Australian Society of Certified Practising
Accountants in September 1992, and was issued a Public
Practice Certificate by the Australian Society of Certified
Practising Accountants in February 1993. He was admitted
as a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (formerly known as the Hong Kong Society
of Accountants) in March 1999. He obtained a degree of
Bachelor of Economics from Macquarie University, Australia,
in April 1986, and a degree of Master of Commerce in
Organizational Behaviour from the University of New South
Wales, Australia, in April 1988. He was also admitted as
a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Director in January
2018.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ng had served in the Executive Committee of the Hong
Kong Paralympic Committee & Sports Association For The
Physically Disabled from 2009 to 2015, and had been the
chairman of its public relations and marketing subcommittee
from 2010 to 2013. He had served as an Elected Member
of the General Committee of Riding For The Disabled
Association Limited and as chairman of the Public Relations
and Fundraising Subcommittee from 2003 to 2010 and
from 2015 to 2016, respectively. He has also served as the
vice-chairman of the International Liaison Subcommittee
and vice-chairman of the Rehab Subcommittee of Riding
For The Disabled Association Limited from 2011 to 2013
and from 2012 to 2015, respectively. He had also served as
the president of Hong Kong Racehorse Owners Association
from 2014 to 2015 and was appointed as a Voting Member
of the Hong Kong Jockey Club in 2016. He was appointed
as Justice of the Peace by the Government of New South
Wales, Australia, in 1992, and was awarded Chief Executive’s
Commendation for Community Service by the Government of
the HKSAR in 2009. Since July 2023, he has been appointed
as the Chairman of the Executive Committee of the Hong
Kong Thoroughbred Breeders’ Alliance for a period of two
years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. HUNG Wai Ming Kenny (G£{&8), aged 63, joined
our Group in May 1994. Mr. Hung currently is the senior
director of manufacturing and administration of our Group,
and is responsible for the management of manufacturing
and administration operation of the factories of our Group.
Mr. Hung had been a director of Q P International Limited
between January 2018 and December 2020. Mr. Hung has
over 30 years of experience in production management.

Mr. HA Kevin Tu Hao (8 %), aged 58, joined our Group
in November 2003. Mr. Ha is the director of technology
development of our Group, and is responsible for the
management and supervision of our technology department.
Mr. Ha had been served as a director of Q P International
Limited between January 2018 and December 2020. Mr.
Ha has over 20 years of experience in the printing and
publishing industry.

Mr. WOO Yu Sing Kevin (##i &), aged 60, joined our
Group in March 2018. Mr. Woo is the senior director of product
integrity of our Group, and is responsible for the management
and supervision of our product integrity department to
safeguard the product integrity and safety, quality system
and assurance, compliance, and environmental, occupational
health and safety. Mr. Woo had been served as a director of
DPI Laboratory Services Limited between March 2018 and
December 2020. Mr. Woo has over 35 years of experience in
the quality system, quality control and assurance management
in the manufacturing industry, as well as the laboratory
management.

Mr. CHU Chong Kei Elvis (%k £l &), aged 60, joined our
Group in November 2008. Mr. Chu is the director of quality
assurance and compliance of our Group, and is responsible
for the management and supervision of our quality assurance
and compliance department. Mr. Chu had been served as
a director of Q P International Limited between January
2018 and December 2020. Mr. Chu has over 25 years of
experience in the quality control and assurance management
in the manufacturing industry.

34 QP GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &8 &EZERERAHE

EREERE
HEHEEE 63 RN AHEFERA
MAREE - HAELEREAEBH SR
REBRERTR BEEEREEXRN
SEMEMENEEMITREER -
HEETR-_T-NF-AE_T-FTF
T AREEEEBEREEERATNES -
HAAEERBEBIOFNEEETELR -

AIBEELE 585 RZTEZE=F1+—A
IMAKRER - ] 58 £ REANE B K AT
BRAEE BETEREBHRMEBL -
MEETTR-_ZE-N\EFE-—AEZE_ZF
T AEAEREBELEBRARNES -
fa] 55 A R ED Jill B AR 36 B 120 FF 48 B o

MBI EE 6057 RZZE—/\F=AM
AREE - PAERIAEENSRE
MEBALE AETEENEBEREA
HUREEMRNEARLS ZE28
AERF -ABEME UKERRFR BERE
REZE - HEETR_ZE-\F=RZE
TR FFT_REAEREMBRASE
RARIMES - HEERBEEENEE
BRX BHEZHEREBFEEUARERE
EEFTEEBBISFTHLER -

KEIELE 60 R-ZEZN\F+—A
MAREE - KRELEBREAESENRE
REMNBEEERE AEEREREE
BMORERBREBEIF - RELED
RZE-N\F—REZT=-_FF+-HIE
TERHBRECEERAGNES - K&
A A B ik 2 R BIo5F B B 8 1 H AR

HEEER -



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHEUNG Chun Man (3& £ 3X), aged 51, joined our
Group in October 2012. Mr. Cheung is the senior IT director
of our Group, and is responsible for management and
supervision of our IT department. Mr. Cheung has over 20
years of experience in the information and technology. Mr.
Cheung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Mathematics from
the University of Waterloo in Canada in May 1997.

Mr. HUI Chun Yip David (& B ¥ ), aged 45, joined
our Group in November 2009. Mr. Hui is the general
manager of our Vietnam operations. Mr. Hui had served
as a director of Q P International Limited between January
2018 and December 2020. Mr. Hui has over 20 years of
experience in the engineering area of the manufacturing
industry. He obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering
in Manufacturing Informatics and Systems Engineering from
the City University of Hong Kong in November 2006 and a
degree of Master of Engineering in Engineering Management
from the Open University of Hong Kong in October 2016.
Mr. Hui was certified as a Registered Lean Specialist (Life
Type Registration) in October 2014 and a registered Lean
Sigma Black Belt in March 2015 by the Six Sigma Institute of
Hong Kong. In September 2015, he obtained a certificate of
certified Six Sigma Black Belt from the China Association for
Quality. He completed the Industry 4.0 Program Facilitator
Training in June 2017 and was awarded a certificate of
completion from the Fraunhofer Institutes of Production
Technology and the Hong Kong Productivity Council.

Mr. TANG Chi Ming (E8& ), aged 54, joined our Group
in July 2022. Mr. Tang is the senior engineering director
of our Group, and is responsible for the management
and supervision of our engineering department. Mr. Tang
has over 20 years of experience in engineering, operation
management, sales and general management in the
manufacturing industry. Mr. Tang obtained a higher diploma
in Land Survey in November 1993 and a degree of Bachelor
of Science in Land Survey & Geo-informatics in November
1994 from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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Mr. WONG Hung Pan (Z &), aged 38, joined our Group
in March 2017. Mr. Wong is the financial controller of
our Group and the company secretary of our Company
and is responsible for financial matters, corporate
governance, capital management, strategic planning
and company secretarial matters. Mr. Wong has over 15
years of experience in accounting and audit, corporate
finance, corporate secretarial management and corporate
governance with several international accounting firms
and listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong obtained
a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accounting and Finance
from the University of Exeter, the United Kingdom in July
2007 and further obtained a degree of Master of Corporate
Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
September 2019. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an associate
member of The Chartered Governance Institute, and an
associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute. He is also a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA)
charterholder. Furthermore, he passed the qualifying
examination in Six Sigma Green Belt and was awarded a
certificate from the Six Sigma Institute.
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GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the
corporate governance of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to a high level of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of Shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability. The Board believes that the key to a success
lies in achieving unity of corporate vision and mission, which
serve as our beacons and guiding everyone at our Group
to move in the same direction. Since the inception of our
Group, we have gradually established our own culture and
philosophy, which are reinforced across our values of acting
lawfully, ethically and responsibly through various channels,
including but not limited to introduction sessions for new
employees, ongoing comprehensive trainings and annual
business meeting. The Company has adopted the principles
and code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(“CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
as its own code of corporate governance.
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During FY2023, the Company has applied and complied with
the CG Code in each case as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules, except for the deviation from the CG Code
of code provision C.2.1. Under code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive should
be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual and the division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive should be clearly established
and set out in writing. Mr. Cheng Wan Wai currently holds
both positions of the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company, being responsible for the
effective functioning of the Board in accordance with good
corporate governance practice and implementing objectives,
policies and strategies approved by members of the Board
from time to time. Mr. Cheng has been the key leadership
figure of the Group who has been primarily involved in the
formulation of business strategies and, more importantly,
the determination of the overall direction of the Group since
1985. The Board considers that having Mr. Cheng acting as
both our chairman and chief executive officer provides strong
and consistent leadership to our Group and facilitate the
efficient execution of our business strategies. Also, the Board
considers there are adequate safeguards in place to ensure
sufficient balance of powers within the Board, such as major
issues affecting the operations of the Company are made in
consultation with experienced and high caliber Directors in
regular Board meetings, the delegation of authorities to the
management and the supervision of the management by the
members of the Board and the relevant Board committees.
Having considered the factors mentioned above, the Board
considers Mr. Cheng is the best candidate for both positions
and the present arrangements are beneficial and in the
interest of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.
The Board will continue to review and consider segregating
the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer at an
appropriate time, taking into account the circumstances of
the Group as a whole.

38 QP GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED &8 &EZERERAHE

REZZFZZFHBRFE AREIZEAN
BT EMRMECIMENEXRERT
8 HEmBEDLEXERATAMGEXEC21 &
BR SN o ARIB X E G ST RIA ST AR XX H
C2lff TFETHRAHNACEAR
DX TN ER-ARKRE BEXFETT
B zEBREND TEBERE LA
EmIH - WIBELELEBAREARF
EFeIEMTHRAH BETRES
SRBERFEXEATRBYEE " I
EREZTEKRETHIENEZE KX
LR -BEEB-NLN\AFE—ER
AEENERZEEAN TBFRHITEED
Kt BHEE2NE AEEBEEAKE
MEBEITR EFEXAR ABELR
TEFETHRAEHRAISANEEREHEMm
BOREH—BOMEL  WRERME
BRENBRRIT - I EFGHE
EERAERREEESANENFE -
PIMEEARARAEHTNEANETROETE
HNEF2eRtAAICREERESRH
B THRENZEREEIAESFEKE
HIlHESZEeEEEEE K2R
FPHRRARE BEFERREEERZM
EBRUNKEANE MRENTHESR
METAEAEERRR 2 BRBN G - &
FEREBRN TESLEAEEER
BRAMARETZEREERERIKER
BT AR B R BLAL -



MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard indicated by the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by
the Company, that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code adopted by the
Company during FY2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Roles and Responsibilities

The Company is headed by an effective Board which
oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and takes decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company. The Board directly and indirectly
through its committees, leads and provides direction to the
management by laying down strategies and overseeing their
implementation by the management. The Board monitors the
operating and financial performance of the Group, reviews
the internal control policies of the Group, and ensures that
effective governance and sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

The Board regularly review the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing
them.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company. The Directors shall disclose to the Company
details of other offices held by them.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating
to policy setting, strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of directors and other significant
operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and
coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, consisting of
six executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors, whose biographical information set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. The composition of the
Board is as follow:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHENG Wan Wai, m+H (Chairman)
Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth

Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny

Mr. CHAN Wang Tao Thomas

Ms. HUI Li Kwan

Mr. MAK Chin Pang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas, mH, upP
Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel, BBS, MH, JP
Mr. NG Shung, JpP (Australia)

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning. The independent
non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a
high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and
providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.
The independent non-executive Directors will also be able to
provide an impartial, external opinion to protect the interests
of our public Shareholders.
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Throughout the reporting period, the Board had at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board
with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect
of his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based
on such confirmations, the Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent during
the reporting period.

The Group has mechanisms in place to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. Directors are
required to annually submit an anonymous questionnaire on
relevant independent matters in relation to contributions of
independent non-executive Directors. Such questionnaire
encourages Directors to share suggestions, provide
comments and raise any concerns regarding independent
matters. The results of such questionnaire are discussed
in Nomination Committee meeting and Board meeting. The
Board has a balanced composition of executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors that underpins
a strong independent element on the Board and brings
independent views and input from Directors. None of the
independent non-executive Directors receives equity-based
remuneration with performance-related elements. Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) may request
for further information from senior management on the
matters to be discussed at Board meetings and Board
Committees meetings. External independent professional
advice is also available to all Directors whenever necessary.
The implementation and effectiveness of the aforementioned
mechanisms were reviewed by the Board during the
reporting period.

Save for Mr. Cheng Wan Wai and Ms. Hui Li Kwan who
are the spouse of each other, there is no other relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship) among members of the Board.
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Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance
Records

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Such Board
meetings involve the active participation, either in person
or through other electronic means of communication, of a
majority of Directors. Notices of not less than fourteen days
will be given for all regular board meetings to provide all
Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters
in the agenda for regular board meetings.

During FY2023, four Board meetings were held at regular
at which the Directors approved, among other
things, (i) the annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022, (ii) the interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2023, and (i) the distribution of dividends
as well as discussed the overall strategy, business progress,
operation updates, corporate governance matters, quarterly
results and other matters. The Board also held a special
meeting to consider ad hoc matters during the year.

interval,

The attendance records of each Director at the Board, Board
committee meetings and annual general meeting (“AGM”)
during the financial year are set out in the table below:

Audit

Name of Directors Board  Committee
E3e EnzEg

Mr. CHENG Wan Wai (Chairman PEREE(ZE) 505 -
Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth BERLE 55 -
Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny BRn& L 505 -
Mr. CHAN Wang Tao Thomas REELE 45 -
Ms. HUI Li Kwan FHELL 5/ -
Mr. MAK Chin Pang REELE 5/5 -
Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas RELEE 5/5 212
Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel LygiE e 4/5 112
Mr. NG Shung RELE 505 212
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Apart from Board meetings, the Chairman also held a
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors
without the presence of other Directors during the financial
year.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement
or a letter of appointment with the Company for a specific
term and is subject to termination provisions therein and
provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in
the Articles.

At any time or from time to time, the Board shall have the
power to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board or as an additional Director
to the existing Board subject to any maximum number of
Directors, if any, as may be determined by the Shareholders
in general meeting. Any Director so appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting
of the Company after his appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting. Any Director so appointed as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the first AGM of the Company after his appointment and
be eligible for re-election at such meeting. Any Director so
appointed by the Board shall not be taken into account in
determining the Directors or the number of Directors who are
to retire by rotation at an AGM.

At each AGM, one third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of
Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one third shall be the number of retiring
Directors. The Directors to retire in each year shall be those
who have been in office longest since their last re-election or
appointment but, as between persons who became or were
last re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire
shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be
determined by lot.
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No person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for
election to the office of Director at any general meeting,
unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that
person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that
person of his willingness to be elected has been lodged at
the head office or at the registration office of the Company.
The period for lodgment of such notices shall commence
no earlier than the day after despatch of the notice of the
relevant general meeting and end no later than seven days
before the date of such general meeting and the minimum
length of the period during which such notices to the
Company may be lodged must be at least seven days.

Continuous Professional Development of
Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities
and to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Directors are encouraged
to participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be
arranged and reading materials on relevant topics would be
provided to Directors where appropriate.

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction
shall be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant
sites and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Prior to the Listing, all Directors have been given the training
regarding the directors’ duties and responsibilities, corporate
governance and regulatory updates and relevant reading
materials including compliance manual/legal and regulatory
updates/seminar handouts have been provided to the
Directors for their reference and studying.

During the financial year, our legal adviser has provided an
training and relevant materials to all Directors on continuous
professional development for directors.
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The current Board members have participated in the IREIEFEXERFRADTLXMA N
following training programmes during the year: EH:

Types of training
e i
Reading materials
relating to general

Attending business, regulatory
training organised updates on listing rules
Name of Directors by our legal adviser and board practices
HEEB-REH-
SMERMNEERE IHRARESERAMN
i3I RAEEER
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. CHENG Wan Wai (Chairman) BREAE(LE) / /
Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth BEALE / /
Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny BRmL L / /
Mr. CHAN Wang Tao Thomas REERE / v/
Ms. HUI Li Kwan HHERT v/ v/
Mr. MAK Chin Pang ERELE v/ /
Independent non-executive Directors BIXHITES
Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas REELE v/ v/
Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel BVEHK / /
Mr. NG Shung REEHE v/ /
BOARD COMMITTEES EEXEY

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Z=Z@D X VNEZES Eﬂ%’@?ﬁ
audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination &€ - FHEE € RELZEeLEAR
committee and risk management committee, for overseeing EE?@;EE% NEEERRFI BT E
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board ARAGIMEEEZESHDE] Eﬂiﬁﬂ“ﬂz
committees of the Company are established with specific & E @ FRHPARZ R LB E
written terms of reference which deal clearly with their ZEEZES@mBESHE T ZNAR T%M
authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Board U4 REEZ R4 ut - WAl E B RKH R RS
committees are posted on the Company’s website and the B

Stock Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders

upon request.
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Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. NG Shung, Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas and
Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel, and is chaired by Mr. NG
Shung who has appropriate professional qualifications,
accounting and related financial management expertise as
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Under its terms of reference, the primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to (i) make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and removal of the external auditor; (i)
review the financial statements of the Group and monitoring
the integrity of such financial statements; (iii) oversee the
financial reporting, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group; and (iv) oversee and manage the
relationship with external auditors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit
Committee held two meetings to (i) review the audited annual
results and annual report for the year ended 31 December
2022; (i) review the unaudited interim results and interim
report for the six-month ended 30 June 2023; (iii) review
the remuneration, terms of engagement, the relationship,
and independence of the Group’s external auditor; and
(iv) monitor the effectiveness of the internal audit function
by reviewing the internal audit programme and the major
investigation findings. The Audit Committee also met the
external auditor once without the presence of the executive
Directors.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee considered that
the relevant financial statements have been prepared in
compliance with the applicable accounting principles and
requirements of the Stock Exchange and disclosures have
been fully made.
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company
(“Remuneration Committee”) comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN Hiu
Fung Nicholas, Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel and Mr. NG
Shung and one executive Director, namely Mr. MAK Chin
Pang, and is chaired by Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas.

Under its terms of reference, the primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee are to review and determine
the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other
compensation payable to Directors and senior management
of our Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to (i) review the remuneration
policy of the Group; (ii) assess the performance of
executive Directors with reference to the corporate goals
and objectives; (iii) review the remuneration packages of
executive Directors and senior management of the Group;
and (iv) make recommendations to the Board on respective
remuneration packages.

Details of the remuneration of the Company’s Directors
and five highest paid individuals are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The range of remuneration of the senior management are as
follows:

Range of Remuneration

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

¥
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Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee”) comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel, Mr.
CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas and Mr. NG Shung and one
executive Director, namely MAK Chin Pang, and is chaired by
Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel.

Under its terms of reference, the primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to our
Board on the appointment and removal of our Directors. In
assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s
Board diversity policy. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving
and maintaining diversity on the Board, where necessary,
and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

Pursuant to Director nomination policy of the Group, the
Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment and reappointment of Directors in accordance
with the following selection criteria, procedures and process:

() The Nomination Committee shall consider the following
factors when nominating potential candidates for the
appointment and reappointment of Directors:

o whether the individual’s educational background
and qualification, skills and experience are relevant
to the Company’s business model and specific
needs;

° the individual’s character and reputation for
integrity;

° whether the individual would be able to devote
sufficient time to the Board;
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° In respect of appointment and reappointment of
independent non-executive Directors, to consider
the independence of the individual with reference
to the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules;

° how the individual would be able to contribute to
the diversity of the Board with reference to the
factors set out in the Board diversity policy of the
Company from time to time in force; and

o Board succession planning considerations.

(i)  The Board or the Nomination Committee shall deploy
such channel(s) for identifying suitable director
candidates as it deems appropriate, including
but not limited to referrals from existing Directors,
Shareholders, advisers and third party agency firms and
advertisements.

(i) The Nomination Committee shall adopt such process as
it deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the
potential candidates, such as interviews, background
checks and third party reference checks, and select or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals to be nominated for directorships based
on the selection criteria set out in paragraph (i) above.

(iv) The ultimate responsibility for the selection and
appointment of Directors shall rest with the entire
Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to (i) review the structure, size
and composition of the Board; (i) make recommendations
to the Board on the re-appointment of Directors; (iii) assess
the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and (iv) review its own performance, constitution and terms
of reference and recommend any changes if considers
necessary to the Board for approval.
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Risk Management Committee

The risk management committee of the Company (“Risk
Management Committee”) comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung
Nicholas, Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel and Mr. NG Shung
and one executive Director, namely Mr. Mak Chin Pang, and
is chaired by Mr. Mak Chin Pang.

Under its terms of reference, the primary duties of the
Risk Management Committee include, but are not limited
to, the following: (i) reviewing the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and ensure that the
management has performed its duties to establish effective
systems; (ii) formulating risk policies and standards; (iii)
reviewing the material risk exposures of the Group; (iv)
reviewing annually the changes in nature and extent of
significant risks; (v) reviewing annually the scope and quality
of management’s ongoing monitoring of risk management
systems; (vi) reviewing the Directors’ decisions on entering
into hedge arrangements; (vii) reviewing the effectiveness
of the hedge policy; and (viii) providing recommendations
to the Board on the hedge policy, where appropriate and if
necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Risk
Management Committee held two meetings to monitor the
risk management and internal control systems by reviewing
major investigation findings on risk management and internal
control matters and response from management to these
findings.

Board Diversity Policy

In order to enhance the effectiveness of our Board and to
maintain the high standard of corporate governance, we have
adopted the Board diversity policy which is available on the
Company’s website. It sets out the measurable objectives
to achieve and maintain diversity of our Board. Pursuant
to the Board diversity policy, we seek to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors
when selecting the candidates to our Board, including but
not limited to gender, skills, age, professional experience,
knowledge, cultural, education background, ethnicity and
length of service. The ultimate decision of the appointment
will be based on merit and the contribution which the
selected candidates will bring to our Board.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring
the diversity of our Board members and review the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board diversity
policy on an annual basis.

Our Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills,
including, strategies and management planning, human
resources, administration, training, business development,
sales, material development, procurement, accounting and
corporate finance, engineering, information technology
and legal compliance. As at the date of this annual report,
the Board comprised nine Directors, including seven male
Directors and two female Directors with different appropriate
skills, knowledge and experience to promote and achieve
better performance of the Group. Three of them are
independent non-executive Directors with different industry
backgrounds, representing one third of the members of
our Board. We will continue to take steps to promote
gender diversity at all levels of the Company, including but
not limited to the Board and the management levels. The
Company targets to avoid a single gender Board and will
timely review the gender diversity of the Board in accordance
with the business development of the Group. Besides,
gender diversity is considered to be one of essential factors
for the Company to select suitable candidate as a Director in
the future. Taking into account our existing business model
and specific needs as well as the different background of our
directors, the composition of our Board satisfies our Board
diversity policy.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board’s diversified
composition was summarised as follows:

Gender
4 51

Age
Fil

As at 31 December 2023 the Group had a total of 2,677
employees (including senior management). 1,487 of them
are males (55.5%) and 1,190 of them are females (44.5%).
The Board is satisfied with the gender diversity of the
employees. Although the Group agrees to facilitate gender
balance across the workforce, we do not intend to set any
gender diversity measurable objectives given that staff
recruitment is mainly based on the needs of the Group and
we are committed to providing equal opportunities in staff
recruitment process.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out
in the code provision in the CG Code.

52 QP GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED £2&£BEZERERAAE

RATHAES EERNS TLERE
T -

Length of service

PR & 58

5 years or
below
RFHAT

Over
20 years
Z+ENRE
67%

33%

Category
=il

Independent
non-executive
Director

B IFMTES

Executive
Director
HITES
67%

33%

RZBE-_=F+-_A=+—H x&£EE
EHOGTTZEEEBRRESRERE) B
11,4874 2 B (55.5%) 1,190 2 & 1k
(44.5%) - EE=EHEEM A% ik & E
ME - -BEASEREREEEMRF
B ERMEZHEEMAAGENER
ZutERE W BEREIREFTER
BEAEBHTZRKMEL  mMEMH D
REBIHERETIRHTEKS -

¥ EEREE
EERIETEET A TR ZTAMK
SR EL 2 BRE ©



During the reporting period, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, had reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the code
of conduct and compliance manual applicable to employees
and directors and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this corporate governance report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

In order to ensure the internal control system operate
effectively, the Company has adopted a series of internal
control policies, procedures and self-assessments designed
to provide reasonable assurance for achieving objectives
including effective and efficient operations, reliable
financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws
and regulations. The Board reviews the risk management
and internal controls annually. Highlights of the Company’s
internal control system include the following:

Code of conduct — Our code of conduct explicitly communicates
to each employee our values, acceptable criteria for decision-
making and our ground rules for behavior.

Internal audit — Our Group has its own internal audit team
which regularly monitors key controls and procedures in
order to assure our management and the Board of Directors
that the internal control system is functioning as intended.
The internal audit department carries out an annual risk
assessment on each identified audit area and revised an
annual audit plan according to the nature of business and
risk exposures. The audit plan is reviewed and agreed by
the Audit Committee. In addition to the agreed schedule of
work, the internal audit department conducts other review
and investigation work as may be required. The internal audit
department is also responsible for following up corrective
actions to ensure that satisfactory controls are maintained.
The Audit Committee receives summary reports from the
internal audit department periodically while the results of
internal audit reviews and responses to the recommended
corrective actions are also reported to the executive
Directors.
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Compliance with Listing Rules — QOur various policies aim
to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules, including but
not limited to aspects related to corporate governance,
connected transactions and securities transactions by the
Directors.

Enhanced internal control procedures to prevent the
occurrence of non-compliance incidents — The Company
also adopted a number of enhanced internal control
procedures to prevent the occurrence of non-compliance
incidents.

We have established a set of risk management policies and
measures to identify, evaluate and manage risks arising from
our operations. Our risk management process starts with
identifying the major risks associated with our corporate
strategy, goals and objectives. Each of our operating
departments is responsible for identifying and analysing risks
associated with its function, maintaining a comprehensive
risk register,
effectiveness of such risk mitigation plans and reporting
the status of risk management. Our Risk Management
Committee, Audit Committee and ultimately the Board
supervise the implementation of our risk management
policy at the corporate level by bringing together each
operating department, such as quality control, research and
development and sales, to collaborate on risk issues among
different functions.

preparing risk mitigation plans, measuring

The Board, through the Risk Management Committee and
Audit Committee, conducted an annual review of both design
and implementation effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, which covered
all material controls including financial, operational and
compliance control for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Such annual review was done with a view to ensuring the
Group’s resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal control and financial reporting functions are
adequate. The Directors satisfied and confirmed that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately
approved, and the dissemination of such information is
efficiently and consistently made. The Group is committed
to ensure that information contained in announcements
are not false or misleading as to a material fact, or false or
misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
disclosure of inside information in a balanced, adequate and
effective way.

The Group sets out written guidelines and procedures to the
employees or directors of the Group, while the employees or
directors of the Group undertake to ensure inside information
of the Group is not to be disseminated to the public unless
the Board decides such information is regarded as inside
information and requires disclosure in accordance with
the Listing Rules and the Securities and Future Ordinance.
Measures are in place to preserve the confidentiality of inside
information and to ensure that its recipients recognise their
obligations to maintain its confidentiality. In communicating
with external parties, only designated officers are authorised
to respond to enquiries in allocated areas of issues. The
written guidelines and procedures will be subject to be
reviewed by the Company as and when it thinks appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
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The statement of the independent auditors of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the section of “Independent Auditor’s
Report” of this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31
December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$2,190,000
and approximately HK$490,000 respectively, details of which
are set out below:
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#7490,000/8 7T * FHBEWT

Fees Paid/

Payable

Service Category PR # %8 5 B/ EAER

HK$’000

FHET

Audit Services 87 AR 75 2,190
Non-audit services (mainly represented interim FEZRE (EEEE LR KE

review and taxation services provided by I S ) /N
PricewaterhouseCoopers and its affiliates) REPEERN RN GRS 490
Total Bt 2,680

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. WONG Hung Pan has been appointed as the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”).
He is an employee of the Group and have day-to-day
knowledge of the issuer’s affairs. His biography is set out in
the section of “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary on corporate governance and
Board process. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company Secretary had attended not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with Shareholders through various
communication channels. To safeguard Shareholders’
interests and rights, separate resolution should be proposed
for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Director. All resolutions
put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange
after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting
by the Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Company’s amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association (the
“Articles”), the Board may whenever it thinks fit, convene
an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”). EGM shall also
be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less
than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having
the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall
be made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary
for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

A Shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary at the principal place of business
in Hong Kong of the Company at 21/F, Kings Wing Plaza 2,
No. 1 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories,
Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the
Shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/
she intends to put forward at general meeting regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting
documents.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put forward enquiries to the
Board at general meeting or send written enquiries to the
Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the following:

Address:  21/F, Kings Wing Plaza 2, No. 1 On Kwan Street, Shek
Mun, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Board/Company
Secretary)

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose
a Person for Election as a Director of the
Company

The Company adopts a formal, considered and transparent
procedure for Shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director of the Company. The following procedures are
subject to the Articles, the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and applicable legislation and regulation:

° If a Shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote
at the general meeting convened to deal with the
appointment or election of Director(s), wishes to
propose a person (other than himself/herself) for
election as a Director at that meeting, he/she may
lodge a written notice with the Company Secretary
at 21/F, Kings Wing Plaza 2, 1 On Kwan Street, Shek
Mun, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

° In order for the Company to inform all Shareholders
of that proposal, the written notice must state (i) his/
her intention to propose such person for election as
a Director, and (ii) the biographical details of such
nominated candidate as required under Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules for publication by the Company
and be signed by the Shareholder concerned and the
person who has been proposed indicating his/her
willingness to be elected.

o The period for lodgement of the above notice shall
be a seven-day (7) period commencing on a day
after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election of Director(s).
If the Directors should determine and notify the
Shareholders of a different period for lodgement of
the above notice, such period shall in any event be a
period of not less than seven (7) days, commencing
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice
of the general meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of
such general meeting.
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° Upon receipt of the above notice from a Shareholder
which is received after publication of the notice of
general meeting, the Company shall, prior to the
general meeting, publish an announcement or issue
a supplementary circular disclosing the particulars of
the proposed Director pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules.

Shareholders who have enquiries regarding the above
procedures may write to the Company Secretary at 21/F,
Kings Wing Plaza 2, 1 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin,
New Territories, Hong Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s website (www.gpp.com) provides
comprehensive and accessible news and information of
the Company to the Shareholders, other stakeholders
and investors. The Company will also update the website
information from time to time to inform Shareholders and
investors of the latest development of the Company.

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company is endeavours to maintain
an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular,
through AGM and other general meetings. At the AGM,
Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available to
meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed. The Board has reviewed the
implementation of shareholders’ communication policy and
is satisfied that it has been effective for the Company to
communicate with Shareholders through available channels.
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Constitutional Documents

The second amended and restated memorandum and
articles of association was adopted by a special resolution
passed by the Shareholders at the general meeting held on 8
June 2023. The amendments were made to, among others,
bring the Articles of Association in line with the amendments
made to the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and
the Listing Rules, in particular Appendix A1 to the Listing
Rules regarding the core shareholder protection standards
which became effective on 1 January 2022. Details of the
amendments are set out in the circular dated 27 April 2023
to the Shareholders.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment
of dividends. Our Directors may recommend a payment
of dividends after taking into account, among others,
our operations and earnings, capital requirements and
surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions,
capital expenditure and future development requirements,
Shareholders’ interests and other factors which they may
deem relevant at such time. We expect to pay a dividend in
respect of each financial year of not less than 30% of our
distributable profits each year. The payment and amounts of
dividends, if any, depend on our results of operations, cash
flows, financial position, statutory and regulatory restrictions
on the dividends paid by us, future prospects and other
factors which we consider relevant. Holders of our Shares
will be entitled to receive such dividends pro rata according
to the amounts paid up or credited as paid up on the
shares. The declaration, payment and amount of dividends
will be subject to our discretion. The proposed payment of
dividends is also subject to the absolute discretion of the
Board and any declaration of final dividend for the year will
be subject to the approval of our Shareholders. The Board
will review the dividend policy on an annual basis.

Any distributable profits that are not distributed in any
given year will be retained and available for distribution in
subsequent years. To the extent profits are distributed as
dividends, such portion of profits will not be available to be
reinvested in our operations.
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The Board herein presents their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
14 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on page 148.

The Board recommended the declaration of a final
dividend at the rate of HK8.0 cents per share amounting
to approximately HK$42.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, which is expected to be paid on or around
Tuesday, 25 June 2024 to all persons registered as holders
of shares of the Company on Tuesday, 18 June 2024, subject
to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM to be held
on Friday, 7 June 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business during the year, a
discussion on the prospect of the Group’s future business
development, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing are provided
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of
the Group are shown in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators is provided in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis”, “Financial Highlights” and
“Financial Summary” of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

As a socially responsible corporation, the Group has
endeavoured to strictly comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection. The Company
recognises the importance of environmental protection.
The Company is committed to providing an eco-friendly
energy environment for our staff and has developed energy
conservation and carbon reduction policy so as to minimise
negative environmental impacts. The details are set out in
the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the financial year, as far as the Company is aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations by our Group that has a
significant impact on the business and operations of the
Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We fully understand that employees, customers and vendors,
and other stakeholders (together “Stakeholders”) are
the key to our sustainable and stable development. We
are committed to maintaining a good relationship with our
Stakeholders so as to ensure our continuing development.

The Group regarded our staff as the most valuable
assets of the Company. The Group is providing a fair and
harmonious workplace where individuals with diverse
cultural backgrounds are treated equally. The Group offer
a reasonable remuneration package and fair opportunities
for career advancement based on employees’ performance.
The Group also provides our staff with different training,
including on-the-job training and training courses provided
by professional organisations in order to enhance our staff’s
career progression.

The Group believes that our vendors (including
subcontractors) are equally important in business operation
and development. We proactively communicate with
our vendors to ensure they are committed to delivering
high-quality and sustainable output.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWE

BEHRERRE

ER—HEBEEHEAEEINQAR A&H
ERNERETERRERENERZR
ER - ARABHABRERENERIE -
ARm A A8 TR —EREREEN
TYEIR IR M b € &0 BE IR A B SR > AR K
HRENAEAEBFZE - AHEFREANKF

WIRE HERERBE] & -

BT EERER

RMBRFEEARN  RARR M KNEH
MESRERITETHAEEER R
LEEEARTENBRERIER

B2 A 22 A BA & A9 B 4K
RMASBHE WREMOETHERT

BERME RBE BFEPRHEBNURHE
fMEAEE(RHIFEEEEDEGE
EZ-RMBHEENZHBEERFTR
HREAERAARAIFEER -

AEBBEETIRAARRARAEEN
BE AEEREHEQITFRMENIIES
- AEBETRXEESENALTERZE
FEHF AKERBEEENRREH
EENFMTERRATHNERERES
AEENRSEEEBRHIRFIEERE
BIEIEHEXERERENEIRE)
URAEBIMEELR -

AEERR  BANEED(EEDE2/8)
REBEERBERTAZFEERE - LA
REEERERNERHEERR IR
BRHELARFENER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3 63



64

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for each of the last five financial years is set out in the
section headed “Financial Summary” of this annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$357,000 (2022: HK$190,000).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company adopted
on 20 December 2019 (“Share Option Scheme”), no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders unless otherwise as required
by the Stock Exchange.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company may pay dividends out of share premium,
retained earnings and other reserves. As at 31 December
2023, the Company’s reserve available for distribution
amounted to approximately HK$143.6 million.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during
the year are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND
SUBCONTRACTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, sales to the
Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately
59.1% of the total sales for the year and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to approximately 25.4%.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 38.8% of the total purchases for the year
and purchase from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to approximately 20.2%.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, subcontracting
fees charged by the Group’s five largest subcontractors
account for approximately 81.1% of the total subcontracting
fees for the year and the subcontracting fee charged by
our largest subcontractor included therein amounted to
approximately 26.3%.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest
in the Group’s five largest customers, suppliers and
subcontractors during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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BANK BORROWING

Details of the bank borrowing of the Group as at 31
December 2023 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance practices. Information on the
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the qualification as
Shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the AGM
to be held on Friday, 7 June 2024, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 4 June 2024 to
Friday, 7 June 2024, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 3
June 2024, being the last share registration date.

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to the
proposed final dividend (subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at the AGM), the register of members of
the Company will be closed from Friday, 14 June 2024 to
Tuesday, 18 June 2024, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to
qualify for the entitlement to the proposed final dividend,
unregistered holders of shares of the Company are required
to lodge all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 13 June 2024.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the reporting period
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHENG Wan Wai, m+H (Chairman)
Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth

Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny

Mr. CHAN Wang Tao Thomas

Ms. HUI Li Kwan

Mr. MAK Chin Pang

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Hiu Fung Nicholas, MH, JpP
Prof. CHENG Man Chung Daniel, B8S, MH, JP
Mr. NG Shung, JpP (Australia)

In accordance with Article 108(a) and (b) of the Articles,
Mr. Yeung Keng Wu Kenneth, Ms. Liu Shuk Yu Sanny and
Ms. Hui Li Kwan shall retire by rotation. All of the above
Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM. The Company has received
annual confirmations of independence from all independent
non-executive Directors, and still considers them to be
independent as at the date of this annual report.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the existing Directors of the Company
are set out in section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Promoting good corporate governance and managing
enterprise wide risk is a priority of the Company. The
Company convinced that corporate governance and directors
and officers liability insurance (the “D&O Insurance”)
complement each other. The Company has arranged
appropriate D&O Insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against Directors
and senior management arising out from corporate activities.
The D&O Insurance will be reviewed and renewed annually.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the existing executive Directors has been appointed
for a term of three years subject to the provision of retirement
and rotation of directors under the Articles. Either party has
the right to terminate the service agreement by giving not
less than three months’ written notice to other party.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been
appointed for a term of three years at an annual remuneration
set out in their appointment letters subject to the provision
of retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.
Either party has the right to terminate the service agreement
by giving not less than one month’s written notice to other

party.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM have entered into service contract with
the Company which are not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Other than as disclosed in note 9 and note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements, there were no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company,
or its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or a connected entity of a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year, nor were there any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance for the provision of services to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) or any of its
subsidiaries for the year. There were also no contracts of
significance between the Company or one of the subsidiaries
and the controlling shareholders or any of its subsidiaries.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company (which is not a contract of service with any
Director or any person engaged in the full time employment
of the Company) were entered into or existed during the year.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total employees
of 2,677 (31 December 2022: 2,280). The Group’s employee
benefit expenses mainly included salaries, over time
payments and discretionary bonuses, other staff benefits
and contributions to retirement schemes. For FY2023,
the total staff costs of the Group (including the Directors’
remuneration) were approximately HK$343.9 million (FY2022:
approximately HK$356.2 million).

The remuneration policy of the Company is reviewed
regularly, making reference primarily to the market conditions
and performance of the Company and individual staff
members (including the Directors). Remuneration packages
include, as the case may be, a basic salary, Director’s
remuneration, contribution to pension schemes, discretionary
bonus relating to the financial performance of our Group
and individual performance. During the reporting period,
the remuneration policy and remuneration packages of
the Directors and senior management are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee of the Company, with consideration
given in regard to experience, duties and responsibilities,
performance and achievement of the individuals, with
reference to the market condition in relation to the Group’s
performance and profitability.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the applicable laws
and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them shall or may incur or
sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or
supposed duty in their respective offices except such (if any)
as they shall incur or sustain through their own dishonesty,
wilful default or fraud.

During FY2023, the Company has taken out and maintained
appropriate insurance to protect the Directors against
potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought
against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and/or short positions
of the Directors and chief executives of our Company in the
Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and our associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance (“SFO”) which
will be required to be notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO)
or which will be required, pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to in that section,
or which will be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be
notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:
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Long position in the ordinary shares of
the Company

Capacity/
nature of interest

Name of Directors and
chief executives

EEREFETHRARBHS

B fEEtE

Mr. CHENG Wan Wai Interest in a controlled
corporation®oete 2)

EBELEE A2 K B R (a2

Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth Interest in a controlled
corporation®ete 2)

15 8% 8 5t A& X2 ] % B R (a2

Interest in a controlled
corporation®ete 9

REBEE R

Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny

BB R £+

Mr. CHAN Wang Tao Thomas Interest in a controlled
corporation®oete 4

PR &8 E PR K B (e

Ms. HUI Li Kwan

FFHRIE KL

Interest of spouse™ere ¥
B {8 #2825 Wi9)

Interest in a controlled
corporation®ete 6)
48 % B e 2 2

Mr. MAK Chin Pang

EREREE
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EFEeWmE
(i) FTQrREBERNER
Number of
underlying
Shares held Percentage of
(et ) shareholding
HEMER
i =
ERBEDL
310,353,954 (L) 58.34%
310,353,954 (L) 58.34%
64,706,046 (L) 12.16%
19,950,000 (L) 3.75%
310,353,954 (L) 58.34%
3,990,000 (L) 0.75%
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Notes:

The letter “I” denotes a person’s long position (as defined
under Part XV of the SFO) in such Shares.

The shares are held by Good Elite Holdings Limited (“Good
Elite”), the entire issued share capital of which is owned as
to 50% by Mr. CHENG Wan Wai and as to 50% by Mr. YEUNG
Keng Wu Kenneth.

The shares are held by Cypress Spurge Holdings Limited
(“Cypress Spurge”), the entire issued share capital of which
is wholly-owned by Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny.

The shares are held by Dawn Gain Investment Limited, the
entire issued share capital of which is wholly-owned by Mr.
CHAN Wang Tao Thomas.

Under the SFO, Mr. CHENG Wan Wai is deemed to be
interested in the same number of Shares held by Good Elite.
Ms. HUI Li Kwan is the spouse of Mr. CHENG Wan Wai.
Under the SFO, Ms. HUI Li Kwan is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares in which Mr. CHENG Wan Wai is interested.

The shares are held by Welcome Mark Investment Limited,
the entire issued share capital is wholly-owned by Mr. MAK
Chin Pang.
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Long position in the ordinary shares of

associated corporations

Name of Directors
and chief executives

EER
TETHRABHSR

Mr. CHENG Wan Wai
MIzELE

Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu
Kenneth

15 388 % &

Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny
BB+

Mr. CHAN Wang Tao
Thomas

REBEE

Ms. HUI Li Kwan
FTRE

Mr. MAK Chin Pang

Name of
associate
corporations

MEEZEERB

Good Elite

Good Elite

Cypress Spurge

Dawn Gain
Investment
Limited

Good Elite

Welcome Mark

(ii)

Capacity/nature

of interest

B0/ EEME

Beneficial owner
EmEBA

Beneficial owner

ERmBAA

Beneficial owner
ExEAA

Beneficial owner

i
Ik

SHEA A

Interest of spouse
foBER

Beneficial owner

Investment
Limited
ERBEE EnEAA
Note:
1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s long position (as defined

under Part XV of the SFO) in such Shares.
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Number of
underlying
Shares
held

(Note 1)
BEHBA
R&&E

(Bti1)

Percentage of
shareholding

KRED L

50%

50%

100%

100%

50%

100%

Hrat
1. BXFELUBEZBEALRZSERD
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XVEL) °
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at
31 December 2023.

Directors’ rights to acquire shares or
debentures

Save for the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2023 was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates
had any interest in a business which competed or was likely
to compete with the business of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As a

t 31 December 2023, to the best knowledge of the

Directors, the following persons (other than a Director or

chief

executive of the Company) or corporations who had

interests or short positions of in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of

Part
Secti
to in

XV of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to
on 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
that section, or which will be required, to be notified to

the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Name of
substantial Shareholders or

oth

TERRJUAMALIRE E8

er persons Nature of interest

EEME

Ms. WONG Lai Ying Interest of spouseere 2
BREAEX LT Bif 48 e 25 (222)
Good Elite Beneficial ownerNote 9

Cypress Spurge

Notes:

T A WD)

Beneficial ownerNote 4
Rt YD

The letter “L” denotes a person’s long position (as defined under Part
XV of the SFO) in such Shares.

Under the SFO, Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth is deemed to be
interested in the same number of Shares held by Good Elite. Ms.
WONG Lai Ying is the spouse of Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth.
Under the SFO, Ms. WONG Lai Ying is deemed to be interested in all
our Shares in which Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth is interested.

Good Elite is beneficially owned equally by Mr. CHENG Wan Wai and
Mr. YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth. Each of Mr. CHENG Wan Wai and Mr.
YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth is deemed to be interested in the same
number of Shares that are held by Good Elite under the SFO.

Cypress Spurge is beneficially wholly-owned by Ms. LIU Shuk Yu
Sanny. Ms. LIU Shuk Yu Sanny is deemed to be interested in the
same number of Shares that are held by Cypress Spurge under the
SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023,
according to the register of interests required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, there was no
person who had any interest or short position in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 20 December 2019, the Company adopted the Share
Option Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to selected eligible persons for their contributions
to the Group. The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in
compliance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

Since the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme and
up to 31 December 2023, no options were granted under the
Share Option Scheme.

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate
Eligible Persons (as set out in below) (i) to optimise their
future contributions to our Group; (ii) to reward them for their
past contributions; and (iii) to attract, retain or otherwise
maintain on-going relationships with Eligible Persons who
are significant to and/or whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the performance, growth and success of the
Group.
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Eligible persons

The Board may, at its sole discretion, invite any director or
proposed director (including an independent non-executive
director) of any member of the Group, any executive director
of, manager of, or other employee holding an executive,
managerial, supervisory or similar position in, any member
of the Group (an “Employee”), any proposed Employee,
any full-time or part-time Employee, or a person for the
time being seconded to work full-time or part-time for any
member of the Group (an “Executive”), a consultant,
business or sole venture partner, franchisee, contractor,
agent or representative of any member of the Group, a
person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional or other services to any member of the Group,
or an associate (as defined under the Listing Rules) of any
of the foregoing persons (together, “Eligible Persons” and
each an “Eligible Person”).

Acceptance of an offer of options

An offer of the grant of an option shall be deemed to
have been accepted when the duplicate letter comprising
acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee together
with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.0 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company within the period specified in the letter containing
the offer of the grant of the option. Such remittance shall in
no circumstances be refundable. Once such acceptable is
made, the option shall be deemed to have been granted and
to have taken effect from the offer date.
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Maximum number of Shares available for
subscription

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise
of all options which may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme (and under any other post-IPO share option scheme
of the Company) shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
Shares representing 53,200,000 Shares in issue immediately
after completion of the Global Offering and as at 16 January
2020 (the “Listing Date”) (“Scheme Mandate Limit”"),
provided that the Company may at any time as the Board
may think fit seek approval from the Shareholders to refresh
the Scheme Mandate Limit, except that the maximum
number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all options
which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
(and under any other post-IPO share option scheme of the
Company) shall not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of approval by the Shareholders in general meeting
where such limit is refreshed. Options previously granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other post-IPO
share option scheme (including those outstanding, cancelled
and lapsed in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the Share Option Scheme or any other post-IPO share option
scheme or exercised options under the said schemes of the
Company) shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating
the limit as refreshed. The Company shall issue a circular
containing the information required under Rule 17.02(2) of the
Listing Rules to the Shareholders. In addition, the Company
may seek separate approval from the Shareholders in general
meeting for granting options beyond the Scheme Mandate
Limit, provided that the options in excess of the Scheme
Mandate Limit are granted only to the Eligible Persons
specified by the Company before such approval is sought
and for whom specific approval is obtained. The Company
shall issue a circular to the Shareholders containing the
information required under Rule 17.03C(3) of the Listing
Rules.

Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, the maximum
number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme (and under any other post-IPO
share option scheme of the Company) shall not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time.
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The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to any one Eligible
Person (including exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue from time to time. Where any further grant of options
to such an Eligible Person would result in the Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and
which may be granted to such Eligible Person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such further
grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the Shares in
issue, such further grant shall be separately approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting with such Eligible Person
and his associates or close associates (as the case may be)
abstaining from voting. The applicable requirements of Rule
17.03D of the Listing Rules shall be complied with.

The maximum numbers set out in this paragraph shall
be subject to adjustment in accordance with the lapse of
options but shall not in any event exceed the limits imposed
by Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

As no share options were granted since the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme and up to the end of the reporting
period, the number of options available for grant under the
Share Option Scheme at the beginning and the end of the
reporting period was 53,200,000 Shares, representing 10%
of the issued Shares as at the date of this annual report.
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Grant of options to core connected persons

Insofar as and for so long as the Listing Rules require, where
any offer of an option is proposed to be made to a Director,
chief executive of the Company or substantial Shareholder
or any of their respective associates, such offer must first
be approved by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who
is or whose associate is the grantee to whom the option
is proposed to be granted). Insofar and for so long as the
Listing Rules so require, no option may be granted to any
substantial Shareholder or independent non-executive
Director or any of their respective associates which would
result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options already granted or to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person
under the Share Option Scheme (and under any other share
option scheme of the Company) in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of board meeting for proposing
such further grant (i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
the share capital of the Company in issue; or (ii) having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Shares
at the date of the board meeting for proposing such further
grant, in excess of HK$5 million, unless such further grant
is approved by the Shareholders in general meeting. Before
seeking such approval, the Company shall issue a circular
containing such information as required by the Listing Rules
to the Shareholders. At such general meeting, the grant
of options to the substantial Shareholder or independent
non-executive Director or any of their respective associates
shall, for so long and insofar as the Listing Rules so required,
be approved by the Shareholders by way of poll with the
grantee, his associates and all core connected persons of
our Company abstaining from voting, except that any such
person may vote against such resolution provided that he
has informed the Company of his intention to do so and
such intention has been stated in the relevant circular to the
Shareholders.
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Subscription price of the Shares

The subscription price in respect of any particular option
shall be such price as the Board may in its absolute
discretion determine at the time of the grant of the relevant
option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer
of the grant of the option) but the subscription price shall not
be less than whichever is the highest of:

() the nominal value of a Share;

(i)  the closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date;
and

(i) the average of the closing prices of Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the
five business days immediately preceding the offer
date. The subscription price shall also be subject to
adjustment in accordance with the reorganisation of
capital structure.

Minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised, and the period during which
an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board
in its absolute decision and in accordance with the Listing
Rules. However, no offer shall be capable of or remain open
for acceptance after the expiry of 10 years commencing on
the Listing Date.

Vesting period

The vesting period of an option granted under the Share
Option Scheme will be determined by the Board in its
absolute decision and in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Exercise price

An option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be
exercised in whole or in part by the grantee according to the
procedures for the exercise of options established by the
Company from time to time. Every exercise of an option must
be accompanied by a remittance for the full amount of the
subscription price for the option shares in respect of which
the option is being exercised.
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Duration

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of ten years commencing on the Listing Date.
However, the Shareholders may by a resolution in general
meeting at any time terminate the Share Option Scheme.
Upon expiry or termination of the Share Option Scheme,
no further options shall be offered but in all other respects
the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in
full force and effect. All options granted before such expiry
or termination (as the case may be) and not then exercised
shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.
In respect of any option granted, the Board may in its
discretion determine the exercise periods, provided that such
period shall not be longer than 10 years commencing on the
commencement date of such report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Board, the Board
confirms that the Company has maintained the public float
as required by the Listing Rules as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this annual report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of
the Shares.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions are set out in note
35 to the consolidated financial statements. The transactions
related to the rental payment and the disposal of a motor
vehicle to related parties which constituted de minimis
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, were fully exempt from the requirements of reporting,
annual review, announcement, approval of independent
shareholders and other relevant disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Other than the
transactions mentioned above, the Directors have confirmed
that the related parties transactions did not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company, which consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng
Shung, Mr. Chan Hiu Fung Nicholas and Prof. Cheng Man
Chung Daniel, has reviewed, together with the participation
of the management, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed auditing and financial
reporting matters including the review of the audited financial
statements of the Group for FY2023.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF
THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no
significant events affecting the Group after FY2023 and up to
the date of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. The Board has taken
the Audit Committee’s recommendation that a resolution for
their re-appointment as independent auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

There is no change of independent auditor in any of the
preceding three years.

By order of the Board

CHENG Wan Wai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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ABOUT THE REPORT

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Q P Group Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) hereby publish the Environmental,
Social and Governance (‘ESG”) Report (“Report”) of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively as the “Group”

r “We”) for the year ended on 31 December 2023 (the
“Reporting Period” or “FY2023"). This Report summarises
our policies, approaches and practices towards ESG
management to its stakeholders and enabling them to have a
better understanding about the progress and performance of
the Group’s ESG development.

Scope of Report

This ESG Report covers the Group’s business in paper
product manufacturing and printing of its headquarter in
Hong Kong and two key production plants at Dongguan
and Heshan in Guangdong Province of the PRC. The
Company will continue to review the scope of reporting
regularly according to our materiality principles and the key
stakeholders’ opinions, and will extend the scope in future if
necessary.

Our ESG Management Structure

The Group is a paper product manufacturing and printing
services provider. Like many other industry players, our
business and operations are highly intertwined with ESG
issues. We believe that sustainable practices in ESG help us
set the foundation for long-term success and value creation
for our stakeholders. Our ESG proposition and commitment
to sustainability in business development, manufacturing
operations, facility management,
management and community engagement are embedded in
our corporate culture and set out in our Vision, Mission and
Core Values.

human resources
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The Group adopts a top down management approach on
ESG management. The Board is responsible for overseeing
the management of the Group’s ESG issues, which includes
formulating and reviewing ESG policies, strategies, directions
and priorities; evaluating ESG risks and opportunities;
administering and reviewing our ESG performance,
effectiveness and internal control; and approving ESG reports
and relevant disclosures. We have also established an ESG
working group which is comprised of department heads of
manufacturing operations, administration, human resources,
material sourcing, sales and corporate communications. The
working group is in charge of the identification of major ESG
risks, formulation of sustainability targets, implementation
of sustainable practices and evaluation and reporting of
sustainability performance in different areas of business
operations according to their materiality, expectations of
top management and stakeholders and relevant regulatory
requirements. The working group also coordinates and
supervises ESG issues, reviews the progress of key
performance indicators through regular meetings and makes
appropriate adjustments based on the Group’s business
and operations conditions. Through regular reports from
and meetings with the working group, the Board reviews
the Group’s targets and performance from time to time to
address potential risks, evaluate our ESG standards, monitor
progress and seek continuous improvement.
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The Board is fully aware of the increasing demand for good
corporate sustainability practices that can benefit both a
company’s business success and risk management as
well as public interest. Under the leadership of the Board,
the Group will continue to step up efforts and resources
in different ESG aspects to build more sustainable and
equitable business operations. As a manufacturer, we
will particularly focus on improving our performance in
environmental and operational aspects including emission
and waste management in the coming years, which are
all inextricable parts in our daily operations and may
potentially lead to intensive and extensive impact, to meet
the heightened regulatory standards and expectations of
stakeholders. Details of relevant policies, strategies and
targets are set forth in later sections of the Report.

Reporting Standard

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
under Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(‘ESG Reporting Guide”). The Board has acknowledged
its responsibility to oversee the Group’s sustainable
development and review the truthfulness, accuracy and
completeness of the Report.

The Report was prepared following the four principles
suggested in the ESG Reporting Guide.

Materiality — Materiality assessments are carried out to
identify material environmental and social issues that have
major impacts on the Group and its significant stakeholder
groups.

Quantitative — Key performance indicators and improvement
goals are measurable and are reported in a quantitative way
with narrative and comparative data where appropriate.
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Balance — The ESG performance of the Group is reported
in an objective and fair manner without the inappropriate
use of selections, omissions or presentation formats that
may inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the
report reader.

Consistency — Consistent statistical methodologies are
adopted to assess key performance indicators which allow
meaningful comparisons of relevant data over time. Any
changes to the methodologies or any other relevant factors
affecting a meaningful comparison will be disclosed in this
Report.

Contact and Feedback

The Group values your feedback on this Report and
our ESG performance. If you have any comments or
suggestions, please feel free to contact us via email at
investorrelations@qgpp.com.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

By thoroughly considering the individuals and parties
that may affect or be affected by the operations of the
Group, the Group identified six significant stakeholder
groups,
shareholders/investors, employees, customers, suppliers
and community partners. The Group maintains a close tie
with these significant stakeholder groups to understand
their expectations and concerns through regular and
effective communication channels, including but not limited
to the general meetings, annual and interim reports, press
releases, charity work, employee suggestion boxes and
interactions in daily operations. We strive to balance their
expectations and concerns when assessing and determining
our ESG directions. The Group ensures that the relevant
risk management measures and internal control systems
are operating effectively. The following table shows the
management response to the expectations and concerns of
the six significant stakeholder groups.

including governmental/regulatory organisations,
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EXPECTATIONS AND
STAKEHOLDERS CONCERNS MANAGEMENT RESPONSE
R & HEEER EEERRE
Government/ > Compliance in laws and > Uphold integrity and compliance in operations
regulatory regulations REBRFRHBEREGH
organisations BFERNER > Establish comprehensive and effective internal
BN/ EEHE > Fulfill tax obligation control system
BOMKELE B 2HEA RN AR RS
> Compliance with relevant laws, regulatory
requirements and industry standards
ETHBEE EERERITERE
> Pay tax on time, and contribute to the society
BERARIDETS
Shareholders/ > Return on investment > Management possesses relevant experience
investors % & B3R and expertise to optimise the sustainability and
BR1HEE > Information transparency profitability of the Group’s business
B BERE EREAAHBALRNEXZNE BRAKEE
> Corporate governance system BRI AR E M & BT g
TEERHE > Regular information dissemination by publications
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company
REXMERAREI@TREREA
> Dedicated to business growth, risk management
and improvement in internal control
BOREBER - B b E 2 A B 6 20
Employees > Labour rights > Set up contractual obligations to protect
BT BTIkx employees’ rights and welfare
> Career development HEAHNETNREEI RS HEHRET
BEER > Encourage employees to participate in continuous
> Compensation and welfare education and professional training
B K48 A BEEI2EBEEHERFEEE
> Health and workplace safety > Establish a structural human resource evaluation
BEETESMEZE framework for staff development and promotion
BUFEBUEANERAGER REBIZERK
B
> Establish a fair, reasonable and competitive
remuneration system
BIYRF GBENMERFINFMER
> Enhance occupational health and workplace safety
level
RABERERIESMZ2KTE
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EXPECTATIONS AND

B - R R EAE

STAKEHOLDERS CONCERNS MANAGEMENT RESPONSE
K& HEEER EEEEE
Customers > High quality and safe > Maintain a high standard of product quality
= products REREENEREE
BERLZZER > Provide customer service and product engineering
> Timely delivery solutions to satisfy customers’ specific needs
RERE RUEEFPFRERERIBBAAR URRERP
> Reasonable pricing NEEEE
EReE > Formulate comprehensive quality assurance
> Operational compliance process and recall procedures
ARLEE HE2EMNEERBREMBYIEF
> Ensure adequate production capacity and stable
operation for order fulfilment
BREMEERNRBENES EATHKATE
> Ensure the performance of contractual obligations
BRBIEHNEL
> Improve efficiency and cost-effectiveness of
operation and production
HELERFEFENBER KRB &
> Ensure compliance with international standards
on quality, security, environment and social
responsibilities
BRETEE %2 RRELMGEETIED
PRAZ %
> Protect customers’ intellectual property rights
REZFMBERE
Suppliers > Stable demand > Ensure the performance of proper contractual
R FEREE obligations are in place
> Good relationship with the BRETHESGHNRE
Company > Maintain an effective supply chain management
EARNRRER FRAEF system

> Corporate reputation
DEEE

RESMHEEETERR
> Establish and maintain strong and long-term co-
operating relationship with good quality suppliers
EeEHERRYMRFFREERBNS ERBE
> Ensure timely payment in accordance with
purchase contract

ERRERESORENR
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EXPECTATIONS AND
STAKEHOLDERS CONCERNS MANAGEMENT RESPONSE
6 E HEEER EEERRE
Community partners | > Environmental protection > Establish an effective and efficient system for
HEAERH RIBRE disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
> Community contribution BUAMRRROBEEREZEENEE R4
& 8 R > |Implement eco-friendly measures to reduce use of
> Economic development energy, water and paper
RpEER ERRRER RO EAER  KRAR
> Perform periodic third-party environmental
assessments

EHETE=ABRENM

> Contribute to the community through donations to
registered charities
BRRAIMEESRBET BERHLE

> Encourage employees to participate in charitable
activities and voluntary services
BBEI2NEZEEZHRETIRS

> Maintain a good and stable financial performance
and business growth

RERHEBTENHBEENEHER
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MATERIALITY MATRIX

The Group has evaluated a number of environmental, social
and operating criteria and assessed their significance for the
Group and its stakeholders. This assessment helps us ensure
that the Group’s business objectives and development
direction are in line with the stakeholders’ expectations and
requirements. The Group’s and stakeholders’ matters of
concern are presented in the following materiality matrix:

L
a
>

an

Importance to Stakeholders Medium

HEHENEEM H

Low

&

Low

&

< Environmental
¢ BEIE

B L BREARE

EEMEME
AEEEFHEZRRE g2 ERE
THEHAREREFNDENERN
HEFHEADRMABBRAEENRE A
FEHEARTAENAFKNENHEESR
Ko AREERFNENHEIFHEZIRN
ATNEZERRE:

MATERIALITY MATRIX
EEMEM

Promotion opportunities
4 Staff compensation and
welfare policies o -
£ compliance
¢ ERfe juality and safety
B THMEEHBrE > Customers’ satisfaction level
> Customer data protection and
privacy
Intellectual property rights
Anti-corruption

<> Compliance of environmental
laws and regulations

4 Talent management

¢ Anti-discrimination

+

¢

¢

Community involvement
R

Protecting human rights
Training and development
Preventive measures for child
and forced labour

> Vendor management
& ETRIRERER
¢ ATEE

¢ RBAR

¢ REAE

¢ EIEEE

¢ ETRBELTH
bi=laEi=ich
HEREE

Clean production
Use of raw materials
R E AR

RS

Medium High
th 5
Importance to the Group
HAKENERMS
¢ Employee > Operation
¢ BIFMHE > ZEHE
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SUSTAINABILITY TARGETS AFEERERE

To ensure effective implementation of our sustainability ABRAESCEERMOAIFEZRKE
strategies, the Board has formulated a set of 5-year targets EEE O B EE M - A E - 8 R M KE R
of continuous improvement in the areas of emission, FAMF BEIXELHEREEZE®
waste reduction, efficiency of energy and water use, staff BEHlzI—ERAFBIZ > S|EREHE -
development and community investment to guide our #{TN TiEi st - AF BZBF15 & 7
planning, execution and evaluation in the long run. Details of 20T :

the 5-year targets are set forth below:

Status in 2023 —ZE==F}kR 5-year targets (2021-2025) AF BT (ZF-—FZEZ_F_A1F)
Reduce greenhouse emission (tonnes CO,e per HK$1 million of
@ ﬂ 1.8%* revenue) by 10.0%*
BEREHFNE(M_S(REE 81 88BTWE) M 10.0%*
Reduce disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous solid waste
3 7.7%* (tonnes/per HK$1 million of revenue) by 10.0%*
[ BEEREEEREYNRE (W S1 8588 TKE) B2 10.0%"

Reduce electricity consumption (MWh per HK$1 million of
%g ﬂ 3.2%* revenue) by 15.0%*
RECKER S1888TRE) #HD 15.0%
m Increase the portion of renewable electricity in overall electricity
f 0.0%* consumption to 15.0%
\ AT NGB R PR E 15.0%

Reduce hazardous and non-hazardous wastewater (tonnes per

0 O {1 2.6%* HK$1 million of revenue) by 5.0%"
6 BERBERUK (W, 1 BEBTKS) WD 50%"

0 13.7 Increase the average training hours per employee per year to
W HO[JRS NS 20 hours
N B EE I HFFI9EIIRGEUE N E 20/

@ 3.206 Increase our involvement in knowledge sharing and charity
J . work to 1,500 hours in total per year
HOURS /B

BERMNAEAZRES THENRFZIEINE 1,500/

* Based on 2020 benchmark * NZZE-_EFREXE
# The Group is in the process of assessing the feasibility of installations ~ # KEHE l IEE FEEEMELREABEERR
of renewable energy facilities in its factories. MeEY AT o
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
Management of emissions

The Group is mainly engaged in the manufacture and sale
of paper products including tabletop games, greeting cards,
educational items and premium packaging. We are fully
aware of the exhaust gas, wastewater, noise and various
wastes generated during our production process and daily
operation that bring a certain impact on the environment.
We believe that our long-term business growth and success
are closely linked to our efforts in maintaining environmental
sustainability and resources protection. Therefore, we are
committed to controlling our impact on the environment
through various means, including emission reduction,
efficient use of resources and fostering an environmentally
friendly culture in the workplace.

Our Environmental Management System (“EMS”) has
been certified with the international standard (ISO14001:
2015), which forms the basis for formulating the Group’s
environmental strategy and is fully implemented in all aspects
of our business operations. The Group’s environment
related measures and work guidelines are formulated
based on the significant environmental factors and risks
identified in accordance with the EMS, with the aim of
providing employees with guidelines to follow in business
operations. The system precisely clarifies the responsibility
of each position to facilitate the contribution of all staff to
environmental management.

During the Reporting Period, we were not involved in any
confirmed non-compliance incidents in relation to emissions
that had a significant impact on the Group.

RIR - g MERRS
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Management of exhaust gas and greenhouse
gas (“GHG”) emissions

The production process of printing and paper products
(such as offset printing, silk screen printing, paper surface
treatment, etc.) and the daily operation of the factories
(such as the use of kitchen and vehicle) generates certain
exhaust gases, including inorganic gases such as benzene,
toluene, xylene, volatile organic compounds and hot exhaust
gas. As a manufacturer in the printing industry, we are
obliged to comply with the “Emission Standard of Volatile
Organic Compounds for the Printing Industry ( E il 17 %
EEE#AA Y BERIZZE) in the PRC. Therefore, the
Group strives to implement the measures stated in the
“Administrative Procedures for Emissions” to minimise the
emissions generated during the production process and
daily operation. Specifically, we adopt the following emission
control measures. Organic gases such as volatile organic
compounds are collected through gas collection hoods,
purified through activated carbon absorption devices, and
emitted at high altitude in accordance with regulations, with
emission levels regularly measured. Inorganic gases such as
carbon dioxide, sulphur dioxide and nitrogen oxides are first
drawn out through exhaust fans, discharged through dust
collectors, and then purified by eco-friendly air conditioners.
In addition, we maintain our air purification treatment
equipment regularly to ensure their continuous and effective
operation. We have installed a real-time monitoring system
at the exhaust vent of our Dongguan plant to measure the
parameters of volatile organic compounds to monitor and
control the gases emitted, and optimised the frequency of
activated carbon replacement from once every six months
to every three months to facilitate effective exhaust gas
emissions. We have introduced electric forklifts in our
Dongguan plant and Heshan plant. Apart from this, we
regularly examine the functionality of air treatment facilities.
Each year, we engage a qualified third-party organisation
to conduct external inspections to ensure compliance with
the emission standards of the “Air Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of China (FFZE AR
HFB KRS A A). We have developed a rigorous
internal mechanism for quantifying, reporting and verifying
GHG emissions, and have completed the ISO 14064-1
Greenhouse Gas Accounting and Verification, with which our
data collection and reporting become more systematic and
compliant with the international standards.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s total GHG
emissions amounted to approximately 17,956.08 tonnes of
carbon dioxide equivalent (“tonnes CO,e”). The major GHG
emissions from our operations are from Scope 2 emissions,
which account for approximately 17,865.79 tonnes CO,e
or approximately 99.5% of the total emissions. Our major
air pollutants include nitrogen oxides, sulphur oxides and
particulate matter. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s
major air pollutant emissions met the permitted level.

Type of pollutants
ERMER

Total GHG Emission
(Tonnes CO,¢)
AERBHRAES
(W —E tmEE)
Scope 1 Emission’
(Tonnes CO,¢e)
SE1HERE"

(W —E tmEE)
Scope 2 Emission?
(Tonnes CO,¢e)
SE2HHE?

(W —E tmEE)

Intensity (Tonnes CO,e per
HK$1 million of revenue)
BE (W_atRES/
B1EEB W)

0.43

Nitrogen oxides (Tonnes)

gty (1) | 0.09

0.001
0.001

Sulphur oxides (Tonnes)
mE Ly (W)

0.022
0.005

Particulate matter (Tonnes)

TR (W)

1 Scope 1 represents direct GHG emissions generated by the use of
gasoline, diesel and refrigerant.

2 Scope 2 represents indirect GHG emissions generated by the use of
purchased electricity from local power companies.

B - R R EAE

RREBRAN REBE KR E RE K
4= 5 %17,956.08MF — &t ix & = ([ Mg
“EtREED  BMEBTNETER
EREHMREBE _HENRE Y
17,865. 79 —E L iR EE N B H M E N
#199.5% - KM EZE =R 5L YW EIE
REY  REWRBRNY - RRE
HA AEBERNETZEZRSEMOEER
EFAFTAUKE -

[ 2023 [ 2022

17,956.08
18,981.74

17,865.79
18,716.23

17.28
14.87

1 HEERBERTH RBARBRLBEL
MERBEREHNE -

2 BECHEBEEMARBAERENAFANEN
FELMBEEREEREBERE -
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We are committed to continuously reducing the GHG
emissions generated from the Group’s operations and
ensuring our exhaust gas emissions meet the emission
standards of the “Air Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the People’s Republic of China” and the “Emission Standard
of Volatile Organic Compounds for the Printing Industry”.
We plan to further optimise and consolidate our production
workshops to reduce exhaust gas treatment facilities;
introduce additional electric vehicles and shuttle buses,
and gradually replace diesel forklifts with electric forklifts
to reduce carbon emissions. We will pursue certification
of 1S0O14064-1:2018 for our Heshan Plant. We will also
review relevant policies and measures from time to time and
upgrade our equipment where appropriate to further improve
the Group’s management of exhaust gas and greenhouse
gas emissions. The Group has set up a 5-year emission
target (please refer to reference section of “Sustainability
Targets” for details) and taken the abovementioned steps to
achieve it.

Management of wastewater discharge

The Group complies with the “Water Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China (4 ZE A
R #HFE K525 85%)", the “Discharge Limits of Water
Pollutants (K5 2% 8k PR {&)” and other applicable laws,
regulations and standards. We have formulated relevant
internal policies, procedures and various emission reduction
measures to effectively control and manage the wastewater
discharge of all facilities such as production plants, offices,
staff dormitories and canteens. We regularly maintain
wastewater treatment facilities and pipelines to ensure their
proper functioning and prevent leakage, thereby reducing
water wastage and secondary pollution to the environment.
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Hazardous wastewater

Hazardous wastewater generated from the Group’s
operations mainly includes wastewater produced from the
cleaning of printing blankets and machinery, laboratory
wastewater and wastewater containing air compressor oil.
We have implemented and enhanced measures in different
operational departments to reduce industrial wastewater,
including the use of water reclamation and reuse systems
in our Dongguan plant to improve the wastewater reuse
rate in the production process, the use of water recycling
and filtration system in the plate-making process to recycle
and reduce wastewater, purification of wastewater through
our wastewater treatment facility, and engagement of
qualified contractors to collect and recycle hazardous
wastewater and sludge with hazardous substances
deposited in sedimentation tanks. During the Reporting
Period, we installed water reclamation and reuse equipment
in our Dongguan testing laboratory to further reduce the
wastewater discharge. During the Reporting Period, the
hazardous wastewater discharged by the Group was
approximately 159.43 tonnes and the intensity of hazardous
wastewater discharged increased by approximately 37.4% to
approximately 0.15 tonnes per HK$1 million of revenue.

RIR - g MERRS
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Non-hazardous wastewater

The non-hazardous wastewater produced in the Group’s
operations mainly includes domestic wastewater from
offices and staff dormitories, as well as oily wastewater
generated in canteens. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has complied with laws and regulations such as the
“Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, and actively managed and enhanced
the management of non-hazardous wastewater. For oily
wastewater, our wastewater treatment facilities decompose
the oil residues so that the wastewater can fulfil the
relevant standard to be discharged together with domestic
wastewater. In addition, our factories are equipped with
domestic wastewater septic tanks to treat and discharge
wastewater to local sewage treatment plants. We conduct
regular inspections and maintenance on our wastewater
treatment facilities and water facilities, such as freshwater
pipes, to prevent any malfunction and avoid unnecessary
domestic wastewater due to water leakage. In order to
ensure that our emissions meet the legal requirements,
we have installed a monitoring system at the water outlet
to measure the relevant parameters of the discharged
wastewater, including pH value and electrical conductivity,
in real time, and transmit the data to the relevant local
government departments simultaneously. During the
Reporting Period, the non-hazardous wastewater discharged
by the Group was approximately 147,446.52 tonnes and the
intensity of non-hazardous wastewater discharged increased
by approximately 6.3% to approximately 141.88 tonnes per
HK$1 million of revenue.

We are committed to reducing the discharge of wastewater
generated from the Group’s operations. The water
reclamation equipment, which commenced installation during
the Reporting Period at the Heshan plant, will be officially
commissioned in 2024 after passing the environmental
assessment, so as to reduce the overall wastewater
discharge of the Group.
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We will review the relevant policies and measures from time
to time and upgrade the equipment in due course and will
continue to optimise the production processes at our plants
to reduce industrial wastewater generation and further
improve the wastewater discharge management of the
Group.

Management of solid waste disposal

We have formulated internal waste management procedures
to standardise the process of all waste treatment and
storage, and require strict implementation by our employees
to ensure that our waste disposal complies with relevant
laws and regulations, such as the “Law on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste of
the People’s Republic of China (% A R L 71 B & 2 B2 ¥
FRIRIBIJAE). We have also signed undertakmgs with
the relevant local governments to strive for excellent waste
management. The Group strictly complies with all applicable
environmental regulations and policies, including but not
limited to the “Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China (F#EA K HEXMBEIRIRRE L) and the
“Environmental Protection Tax Law of the People’s Republic
of China (FZEARKEXFMBEIRIZERER ). We pay close
attention to the updates in national and local environmental
protection laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period,
the Group was not involved in any breaches of relevant
laws and regulations in relation to generation and discharge
of hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste that had a
significant impact on the Group.
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Hazardous solid waste

Hazardous or harmful solid wastes refer to the waste items
listed in the “National Catalogue of Hazardous Wastes”.
Chemicals are inevitably consumed during our production.
In order to minimise the impact of chemicals on the
environment and comply with relevant laws and regulations,
we have established guidelines for hazardous waste
treatment to manage the handling, disposal, transportation,
storage and recording of toxic and hazardous substances,
which are stored in properly labelled and sealed containers
located in assigned storage areas to avoid secondary
pollution caused by mixed wastes. The hazardous wastes are
handled by qualified professional environmental agents. We
use bags in chemical handling to reduce the use of plastic or
steel drums. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s plants
generated approximately 230.55 tonnes of hazardous solid
waste and the intensity of hazardous solid waste generation
increased by approximately 22.4% to approximately 0.22
tonnes per HK$1 million of revenue. We are in the process
of reviewing our hazardous solid waste management and
implementing relevant measures to reduce our generation
and discharge of hazardous waste.
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Non-hazardous solid waste

Non-hazardous wastes refer to wastes that are not listed in
the “National Catalogue of Hazardous Wastes”, which can be
divided into “recyclable waste” and “non-recyclable waste”.
The Group endeavours to promote recycling. A4 paper
waste is reused in the production process and in office,
and recyclable waste, including waste paper, waste pallets,
waste hot foil paper, waste printing blankets and waste zinc
plates, are sold to recycling companies. We have switched
to using paper bags for packing some of our inks and larger
drums for storing some of our heavily used chemicals. We
have also switched to the use of renewable activated carbon
in the exhaust gas treatment facility at our Dongguan plant.
In addition, we set up environmental protection zones in
our plants, offices and dormitories for waste separation
and recycling to reduce unnecessary waste disposal. We
organise relevant training to equip our staff with practical
knowledge on waste disposal, including colour labels for
each type of recycled waste, so as to facilitate our staff
to contribute to solid waste management. Non-recyclable
waste mainly includes office waste, daily domestic waste,
kitchen waste, etc. They are placed in non-recyclable
garbage areas or garbage bins, and are transported to
the health department for handling. During the Reporting
Period, the Group’s plants generated approximately 6,648.46
tonnes of non-hazardous solid waste and the intensity
of non-hazardous solid waste generation increased by
approximately 5.6% to approximately 6.4 tonnes per HK$1
million of revenue.
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We are committed to continuously reducing the solid waste
generated from the Group’s operations. We plan to enhance
the relevant equipment and measures at our plants, including
reducing exhaust gas treatment facilities at our plants so
as to reduce the generation of activated carbon; installing
activated carbon recycling system for exhaust gas treatment
in the new facility in our Heshan plant to reuse activated
carbon; and enhancing waste separation training at our
plants to promote waste separation and recycling among
our employees, and promote environmental protection
and waste reduction in the workplace. We will also review
relevant policies and measures from time to time and
upgrade our facilities in due course to further improve the
solid waste management of the Group. The Group has set
up a 5-year waste reduction target (please refer to reference
section of “Sustainability Targets” for details) and taken the
abovementioned steps to achieve it.

Management of noise

The noise produced during the Group’s operations mainly
comes from production machinery and equipment, vehicles
and forklifts. The Group strictly complies with relevant
laws and regulations, including the “Emission Standard for
Industrial Enterprises Noise at Boundary (L2 {b 2 5 R IR 15
1% 2 BEAZ #)” (GB12348-2008 Il) of the PRC and entrusts
a third-party organisation to conduct annual inspection on
the noise conditions of the operating facilities. We control
the noise level and its impact on the environment through
enhancing the layout of production workshops, prioritising
the use of low-noise equipment, regularly conducting repair
and maintenance on machinery and equipment and limiting
the whistling noise from vehicles and forklifts in the plant
areas. We enhanced the high-noise areas in the plant, which
includes high-pressure gas supply in the central area and
replacement of traditional air pumps with vacuum converters
to reduce the volume of machine operation. During the
Reporting Period, we installed additional sound-absorbing
devices in the waste gas treatment facilities to reduce the
noise from motor operation, and installed sound-absorbing
doors for air compressor rooms. Meanwhile, we provide
earplugs and earmuffs to employees who need to work
in a noisy environment to reduce the risk of occupational
hearing loss. We are committed to continuously enhancing
noise management in the Group’s operations. We will
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review relevant policies and measures from time to time and
upgrade facilities as appropriate in order to further improve
the Group’s noise management.

Management of resources utilisation

The Group attaches great importance to the effective
management and use of energy and resources. The energy
and resources used in the Group’s operations mainly include
gasoline, diesel, electricity, water and paper. The Group has
formulated and implemented various policies with respect to
energy and resources management based on the principle of
“reduction at source”, and strictly complies with the “Energy
Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China (/7 # A
R HE MBS 4 LR K)"and the “Water Law of the People’s
Republic of China (1 # A R &£ A1 Bl 7K )%)” and other relevant
laws and regulations on resource conservation. The Group
is committed to continuously improving the energy and
resources management of various facilities of the Group
and reducing the impact of our business operations on the
environment. Adopting the ISO50001 energy management
system, we identify and evaluate the major sources and
use of energy and resources annually. We implement a
number of relevant measures in the production departments,
offices, staff dormitories, canteens and other facilities. We
also promote the knowledge and awareness of resource
conservation among employees, encourage them to make
full use of resources, maximise their efficiency and reduce
the waste of resources. Every year, all relevant departments
formulate plans to boost energy efficiency to achieve the
Group’s overall energy conservation goals. Our measures for
efficient use of resources are as follows:
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Energy conservation
Electricity saving

Electricity is the major energy consumed in the Group’s
business operations. Therefore, we strictly comply with the
“Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China
(FEARKMBE A 8EIRE)” and other applicable laws
and regulations, and implement a series of energy-saving
measures to enhance the Group’s electricity management
and reduce electricity consumption. We have installed an
online energy monitoring system in our production plants
to obtain real-time data of electricity consumption from
different control points, and our administrative department
is responsible for monitoring and analysing the data and
taking action in case of abnormal situations. We have also
reassessed and enhanced the operation of our workshops,
including reducing the space of the workshops and adjusting
the start-up time, so as to reduce the use of air-conditioning.
During the Reporting Period, energy storage systems were
added to both the Dongguan plant and Heshan plant to
reduce electricity costs. In addition, we have introduced
electric forklifts to replace traditional diesel forklifts and
installed sensor lights in the facilities to save energy. We also
actively promoted energy-saving and consumption reduction
policies and enhanced relevant awareness among employees
to establish good electricity consumption habits.

During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed
approximately 22,288.40 MWh of electricity in its operations.
The intensity of electricity consumption increased by
approximately 17.3% to approximately 21.45 MWh per HK$1
million of revenue during the Reporting Period.

In order to improve the efficiency of electricity consumption
in the operation of the Group, we will enhance the air
pressure system and piping in our plants to shorten the
transmission distance and achieve energy saving. We also
plan to increase the number of blowers in the vacuum
system at our Heshan plant to enhance energy conservation.
The Group has set up 5-year energy use efficiency targets
(please refer to reference section of “Sustainability Targets”
for details) and taken the abovementioned steps to achieve
them.
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Conservation of gasoline and diesel

Gasoline is mainly used for vehicles, while diesel is mainly
used for forklifts (fork lift trucks) in our plants. The Group
has formulated various conservation measures to regulate
the use of gasoline and diesel, and its vehicles and forklifts
are regularly inspected and maintained by the administrative
department to ensure their energy efficiency are normal so
as to prevent unnecessary fuel consumption and exhaust
emissions due to mechanical failure. We also require our
drivers to plan the most efficient driving routes in advance
and turn off the engine when idling.

During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed
approximately 27,543.02 litres of gasoline and approximately
8,661.44 litres of diesel in its operations. The intensity of
gasoline consumption increased by approximately 5.6%
to approximately 26.50 litres per HK$1 million of revenue
and the intensity of diesel consumption decreased by
approximately 40.2% to approximately 8.33 litres per HK$1
million of revenue during the Reporting Period.

Energy consumption
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Direct Energy — Mobile Fuel Gasoline
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% Diesel
O e
Indirect Energy () Electricity
fEl £ BE IR RE

Litres 27,543.02 32,040.44
N

Litres 8,661.44 17,801.51
N

MWh 22,288.40 23,345.70
Jk B B

We plan to replace diesel forklifts at our plants with electric
forklifts to reduce fuel consumption.
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Water conservation

We understand the importance of water resources to
production and daily life. Water used in our production
process is mainly related to the printing process. In order to
reduce water consumption in production and increase the
utilisation rate of water resources, we have installed a water
reuse system and a water recycling and filtration system
in our production plants to recycle and reuse wastewater
in the production process, and completed water balance
test. The plants have equipped the water meters and
water-saving appliances. Also, rainwater is collected for
greening purposes. We also conduct regular inspection and
maintenance on water facilities, such as freshwater pipes
and water dispensers to avoid water leakage.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s water consumption
in operation was approximately 147,605.95 tonnes and the
intensity of water consumption increased by approximately
6.4% to approximately 142.04 tonnes per HK$1 million of
revenue. We will gradually phase out water-consuming
equipment and plan to add rainwater harvesting systems
to collect rainwater for cleaning and irrigation. The Group
has set up a 5-year water efficiency target (please refer to
reference section of “Sustainability Targets” for details) and
taken the abovementioned steps to achieve it.
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Water Consumption Tonnes
K& Mg

&0

Water Consumption

Intensity revenue
RKEE WEH1BEEB TR

Tonnes per HK$1 million of

147,605.95 170,443.29

142.04 133.53

The water used in all of the Group’s plants and offices is
supplied by the local water supply department. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not encounter any issue in
water supply.
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Paper for production

Paper is the major raw material used in the Group’s
production. We have established internal policies and
procedures to regulate the process of raw material
procurement, usage, storage and quality inspection to
procure paper that meets the production and quality
requirements (please refer to reference section of “Supply
Chain Management” for details). The purchase and
distribution of paper are according to the production plan
that developed based on demand. Through our product
engineer’s analysis and calculation, we ensure to maximize
the utilisation of paper that help to reduce consumption.
We generate monthly reports on paper consumption and
conduct analysis and assessment on the purchase, usage
and production scrap rate, to ensure effective control
of paper consumption. During the Reporting Period, the
Group consumed approximately 20,759.70 tonnes of
paper for production. The intensity of paper consumption
for production decreased by approximately 17.9% to
approximately 19.98 tonnes per HK$1 million of revenue
during the Reporting Period. We will continue to review
the relevant processes to improve the efficiency of paper
consumption.

Office paper

We are committed to building a “green office” and adopt a
series of measures to reduce the use of printing paper.

§” Advocate a paperless office culture and encourage
employees to send and retain documents in electric
form to reduce printing.

QF Assign printing permissions according to job
requirements and preset printers to duplex printing
mode.

QF Make full use of paper that has been used on one side
for photocopying or printing.

§0 Collect paper used on both sides with recycling bins
and deliver it to qualified recyclers for handling.

QF Reuse some of the waste paper produced in the
production process in the office.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s office paper
consumption was approximately 7.36 tonnes. The intensity of
office paper consumption increased by approximately 6.1%
to approximately 0.007 tonnes per HK$1 million of revenue
during the Reporting Period.

Use of packaging materials

Carton boxes and cardboards are the major sources of
our packaging materials. In order to promote recycling, we
provide production options of recyclable packaging materials
to our customers. We use biodegradable materials for some
of our product packaging such as bags and blister covers.
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s total packaging
material used for finished products was approximately
2,240.84 tonnes. The intensity of packaging materials used
for finished goods decreased by approximately 11.1% to
approximately 2.16 tonnes per HK$1 million of revenue during
the Reporting Period.

RBEEHR AEENORLEAEED
R7.36ME - EHAPRLAE AR ETEIZ
MEI6A%ZEB1H &8 T W K90.007H -

BEMEIRE R
BAERERASEMEEMHNEERIR -
REBEWER BMAEPREMHER
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@ Packaging Materials Tonnes 2,240.84 3,099.57
Consumption
BRERMEAE A
@ Packaging Materials Tonnes per HK$1 million of 2.16 2.43
Consumption Intensity revenue
BEMEERRE WE/B1EEA TR
Environment and natural resources RERBRER

We understand that cutting down trees for the production of
paper may cause long-term environmental disturbance to the
forest habitats and may affect the biodiversity of animals and
plants, soil fertility and water quality. Therefore, we use paper
certified by the Forest Stewardship Council® (FSC®) in some
of our production to support sustainable forest management
practices, thereby protecting the forests and mitigating
our impact on the environment. We also encourage our
customers to use FSC®-certified paper.
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Climate change

The Group’s principal places of operation, including
production plants and offices, may be exposed to physical
risks and transition risks. Acute physical risks may include
weather-related events such as floods, fires, storms, etc, and
also chronic physical risks induced by longer-term changes
in the climate such as temperature changes, rising sea
levels, reduced water availability, etc. Transition risks may
include policy and legal risks, market risks and reputational
risks. Such risks may lead to adverse impact on the Group’s
business and operations including plant operations, staff
safety, material supply, order delivery, business development,
financial performance, financing, etc. Therefore, we have
formulated policies and response procedures in respect of
the relevant risks, implemented preventive measures and
taken out insurance to enhance the Group’s capabilities to
respond to climate-related incidents and reduce their impact
on the Group’s operations and finance. During the Reporting
Period, we introduced energy storage facilities in our
Dongguan plant and Heshan plant to reduce peak electricity
demand. We will also strive to reduce the greenhouse gases
generated in our operations and contribute to the mitigation
of global warming (please refer to reference section of
“Management of exhaust gas and greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emissions” for details).

EMPLOYMENT

Employees are our most valuable assets. One of the
Group’s core values is to treat our employees with respect,
care, support and empowerment. The Group is an equal
opportunity employer. We are committed to providing
equal opportunities in all aspects of employment including
recruitment, remuneration, training and promotion of
employees. Adhering to the principles of equality, diversity
and inclusion, the Group’s human resources policies
and practices are strictly compliant with the applicable
laws, which include but not limited to the Employment
Ordinance, the Sex Discrimination Ordinance, the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance, the Family Status Discrimination
Ordinance, and the Race Discrimination Ordinance and the
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China (F
AREMBE L& E R ).
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As at 31 December 2023, our Hong Kong headquarter, R-Z-_=F+_-A=+—H BEMNE
Dongguan plant and Heshan plant had a total of 2,246 ## I - R E LB ILEE £ 52,246
employees. All of them were contracted employees. Detailed ZEE 23 AAKHEE - LR - F
breakdown of our total workforce by gender, age group, #:#87) - EEEF L@ E D HEE B
employment type and geographical region is as follows: MY T

Number of employee EE 8 H
Total A& 2,246 (2023) 2,203 (2022)

By gender By age group
R RIE D REBRERED

2023 2023
272 391
2022
297 368

2022

B Age 18-30 18%305%
Age 31-40 31ZE40%5%

B vale =1 B Age 41-50 41Z505%
Female Z 1% [ Age above 50 503% 5L
By employment type By region
REEENES ZiEE D
2023 2023
2022 2022
.
. Full-time 25 . Hong Kong office EB A E
Part-time 3 Mainland plants At/ =

110 Q P GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED £2%H

ERERAF



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s average turnover
rate was approximately 3.0%. Detailed breakdown of
our employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region is as follows:

Employee turnover rate

B - R R EAE

R|EPAN AEENFHRERENR
8.0% o &M R - F ik Bl & i & B 5 #Y
EERAEHMEIWOT

BERLXA =

By gender & Bl & o

Male B 2.7% 3.2%
Female peg 3.2% 3.4%
By age group EFERARNE 2

Age 18-30 182 30%% 8.6% 8.5%
Age 31-40 31Z40%% 1.9% 2.2%
Age 41-50 MEB08 1.2% 1.8%
Age above 50 508% A £ 31% 2.6%
By region &t EE D

Hong Kong office BEMRRE 2.5% 2.0%
Mainland plants A H 5 5B 3.0% 3.4%

Note: the employee turnover rate is calculated by averaging the monthly
turnover rates. Monthly turnover rate is calculated by the number of
employees who left the Group/average number of employees during
the months times 100%. Employees who left the Group within a
month of the commencement of their employment are not counted.

it BERAERVFHEBARAETHE - AR
AERHRAEBENEE A ARTHRE
8 NBUOEIA100%5TH - B B AR —(E
AABMASEETEFEERN -
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Compensation and benefits

We review employees’ remuneration packages with reference
to the comparable market level, employees’ performance
and the Group’s financial performance annually to ensure
our competitiveness in retention of high-caliber employees.
Employee remuneration includes basic salary, end of year
payment and discretionary bonus. In addition to the statutory
leave entitlement, our employees are entitled to extra
annual leave, sick leave, marriage leave and compassionate
leave. Apart from the statutory insurance schemes, eligible
employees are entitled to medical insurance and medical
check-up. The Group offers compassion gifts to employees
such as gift cheque for marriage and condolence money in
some special occasions. We also regularly organise festive
staff activities and staff recognition events to enhance
employees’ morale and sense of belonging.

As a family-friendly employer, we are concerned about
employees’ family life and well-being. Our family-friendly
employment practices include five-day work week, which
allows employees not only to spend more time with their
families, but also get sufficient rest and develop personal
interests. We also allow flexible working hours and special
work-from-home arrangement for employees who are in
need of flexibility to balance their family obligations and work
duties.

During the Reporting Period, to join hands with our
employees and the society to combat the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group implemented a series of measures to
maintain social distancing and facilitate disease control. As
the pandemic subsided, the Company retain some of the
precautionary measures, including allowing staff infected with
COVID-19 to work from home when needed; allowing flexible
working hours and lunch hours; offering extra paid leave to
employees who voluntarily participated in the vaccination
programme.
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH

We attach great importance to occupational safety and
health, and are committed to creating a safe working
environment, so that all employees can receive the greatest
protection in the workplace. We strictly comply with the
occupational safety laws and regulations related to the
Group’s operations, including the “Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance” of Hong Kong, the “Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control
of Occupational Diseases (A R £ A B B 2 B A
J&)”, the “Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of
China (R ZE AR H£RME L E % 2)%)", the “Fire Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China (1 #E A R # 1 &
JE %) and the “General Specifications for Fire-fighting
Facilities P& 738 47 #5)”. In order to achieve better
safety risk management and control, we have established
an occupational health and safety management system
and passed the international standard of 1ISO45001: 2018
certification. We have formulated and implemented a number
of safety policies and guidelines, safety objectives and work
plans for different areas, providing detailed and specific
safety guidelines to employees at all levels, standardising
daily operational practices and safety performance,
and eliminating potential risks as much as possible to
prevent accidents. We have been actively improving our
position-related occupational health assessments which
ensure health checks for employees before they are involved
in job rotation, so as to safeguard their occupational health.
In addition, we have installed a degradation catalytic
system in our plants to filter the volatile organic compounds
generated from the relevant production processes. Safety
policies and guidelines, safety objectives and work plans
are regularly audited and reviewed by senior management.
Meanwhile, we also conduct internal safety audits annually to
review our overall safety performance.
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In order to strengthen the Group’s governance in
occupational safety and health, the Group has established
the Occupational Safety and Health Committee led by the
Executive Directors, and it has three functional teams to
review and supervise the performance in industry safety,
occupational health and environmental protection. We also
conduct occupational safety and health management risk
assessments on management systems, equipment safety
standards, job responsibilities, training, culture promotion,
reward and punishment systems through third-party
professional organisations to review and improve the Group’s
occupational safety and health management in a more
objective, comprehensive and professional manner, with the
aims of providing employees with a safe working environment
and continuously heightening the level of occupational safety
and health to minimise the number of work-related accidents
and injuries.

Occupational safety in production operation

Identifying hazards and making improvements are the first
step to enhance occupational safety. Therefore, the Group
has established a hazard identification policy to set out
clear identification procedures. The identification work
covers various potential risks throughout the production
chain and the supporting departments. We actively conduct
risk assessment and prevention in all aspects of our
production operation. Considering that the Group uses a
variety of production machinery and machine safety risks
are common in occupational safety risks, we commissioned
an independent third-party professional organisation to
conduct a comprehensive machine safety risk assessment
on our plants, and conducted safety assessments and
improvements after the introduction of new equipment to
achieve continuous improvement in the long run.

In addition to machine operation, different departments and
processes in our production operation may also involve
other hazards. Therefore, the Group strives to take various
measures to minimise the safety risks to its employees. The
identified hazards also include the generation of dust and
noise, falling objects, contact with objects and equipment,
use and disposal of chemicals, etc. During the Reporting
Period, we implemented a number of measures in this
regard, including engaging a certified organisation to inspect
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and improve the electrical infrastructure of our Dongguan
plant; placing the main circuit control switches of machines in
separate boxes; installing a real-time monitoring system and
alarm devices for high-temperature drying ovens to ensure
that emergency treatment can be carried out in a timely
manner in the event of an incident; enhancing the high-noise
areas in the plant, including high-pressure gas supply in the
central area to eliminate the noise caused by high-pressure
pumps in the production workshops; providing earplugs
and earmuffs to employees working in the noisy areas to
reduce the impact on employees, etc. Meanwhile, we have
formulated and strictly implemented working guidelines on
the purchase, handling and storage of chemicals to ensure
that all chemicals used in our plants are purchased from
qualified chemical suppliers, and all hazardous materials
are stored in chemical storage areas with restricted access
and explosion-proof cabinets, with surveillance devices in
place to prevent accidental leakage. We provide employees
with qualified and sufficient occupational safety protective
equipment to ensure that they are free from occupationa
hazards. In addition, we have set up a job safety
responsibility system, which sets out the grading criteria for
inspection management and promotes the implementation
of various occupational safety measures in the workplace
through an incentive system. At the same time, we employ
qualified safety officers to conduct internal safety inspections
on a daily basis and arrange cross-department safety
inspections no less than two times per month to ensure the
implementation of adequate preventive safety measures and
proper operations and to eliminate potential safety hazards
in the production process in a timely manner. In addition, we
have carried out an occupational health status evaluation to
ensure that the potential occupational hazards are effectively
identified, so that those related workers can receive effective
prevention and protection. We entrust external professional
organizations to audit and review the hazard sources and
risk management within the Group regularly. We also pay
attention to the safety management of subcontractors, and
ensure that the operation of subcontractors complies with
the Group’s safety management requirements by conducting
relevant qualification examinations, safety training, and
on-site safety inspections.
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In order to further enhance occupational safety protection,
we will evaluate our workflow from time to time and increase
automated machines to replace manual operation and avoid
work-related injuries caused by human negligence. We will
also continue to review the workplace environment and the
layout of production workshops to minimise the risks and
potential hazards in the working environment and operation
process.

Safety training and emergency preparedness

Training is an indispensable part of building an occupational
safe working environment and culture. The Group strives to
provide occupational safety training courses and activities
to all employees to enhance their safety awareness and
enable them to acquire relevant practical knowledge and
qualifications. The scope of training includes occupational
health and safety management system, machine safety
and operation, work permit system, use and storage of
chemicals, etc., aiming at enhancing employees’ professional
knowledge of hidden dangers and hazards in the workplace
and allowing them to apply such knowledge in production
operation. We have strengthened the safety training for
production trainees to boost their safety knowledge and
awareness and eliminate unsafe behaviours during operation,
so as to reduce work injuries. We provide targeted safety
training and drills for high-risk work processes. We have
arranged some of our operational management staff to
attend the Certified Machinery Safety Expert programme
and to develop them to be qualified machinery safety
professionals, so that they can carry out daily inspections
and follow-up on machinery and equipment safety effectively.
Through cross-departmental safety inspections and safety
management training, employees’ safety awareness
and implementation of regular safety inspections and
management are enhanced. We have improved job-related
occupational health assessments and strengthened related
training and assessment. We organised large-scale safety
training courses and safety promotion activities in our
plants to raise the safety awareness of our employees, and
developed safety questionnaires to understand the safety
concerns of our employees. Furthermore, we maintain regular
communication between related departments and formulate
up-to-date occupational safety measures accordingly.
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Regarding other preventive work, in addition to providing
safety awareness training for all employees, we have also
formulated detailed contingency plans to deal with fire,
chemical leakage and other emergency incidents. Emergency
drills, including fire drills and chemical spillage drills, are
held regularly to enhance workers’ awareness and ability
to handle unexpected situations. At the same time, we will
strengthen the prevention of near misses including record
keeping, management and rectification of near misses.

Work injury and work-related fatalities

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded no
work-related fatalities and recorded a total of 687 lost days
due to work-related injuries.
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Number of work-related B T # ) A 0 0 0
fatalities
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Note: The rate of work-related fatalities is calculated as the number of work- — #f4% : TTUMMERTIZE LT ASRNA

related fatalities divided by the average number of employees in each
year.

Control measures in relation to COVID-19

In response to the pandemic situation and operation of our
offices and plants in different regions and the pandemic
control policies of the local governments, we have formulated
various emergency response guidelines and implemented
stringent and effective pandemic prevention measures,
including health declaration mechanism, regular disinfection
and hygiene control, pandemic prevention and control works,
work-from-home arrangement, promotion of pandemic
prevention awareness, etc. to minimise the risk of spread
of the pandemic. As the COVID-19 pandemic subsided, we
retain some of the precautionary measures.
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Talent is an important cornerstone of sustainable
development of an enterprise. The Group has established
relevant policies and systems and continues to devote
resources to promote the training and competency
enhancement of employees at all levels, so as to facilitate the
long-term development of employees and the Group.

The Group has established a qualifications framework, which
sets out the required competency matrix and standards for
different departments and positions as the criteria for staff
qualification assessment and formulation of continuous
development and training. The Group has set up an internal
training centre to systematically plan, organise and execute
diversified employee training programmes and assessments,
and continuously improve the skills and qualifications of
employees to meet the development needs of employees and
the Group. The training programmes cover different areas
such as leadership and management, teamwork, production,
information technology, quality awareness, occupational
safety and health, culture of continuous improvement,
work ethics, etc. In order to be in line with the Company’s
business development, we have drawn up different levels
of improvement plans and goals to improve the quality and
quantity of training. We will continue to increase the average
annual training hours of our employees, resume some
practical trainings that were suspended due to the epidemic,
and organise more management skills training.

The Group has set up a 5-year targets for staff development
(please refer to reference section of “Sustainability Targets”
for details).
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Percentage of employees trained
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ZIEEBDL

By gender &4 Bl 8l o

Male B 95.2%
Female 7 95.5%
By employee category BEEEENES

Senior Manager and above =R E R R R 73.0%
Middle Management RRERE 96.6%
General Staff —®BT 95.6%

Average training hours completed per

BREEETHZINFIHER

employee

2023

—E-=

By gender &5l &8 o
Male S 14.2
Female pegis 13.0
By employee category BEEEENE S
Senior Manager and above AR A &R 2.3
Middle Management PREEE 8.5
General Staff —®BT 14.7
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LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group exercises a policy of zero tolerance against child
labour and forced labour. Therefore, we implement a series
of stringent measures to prevent child labour and forced
labour and strictly comply with the national and regional
regulations and laws, including the Law on the Protection
of Minors of the PRC, Provisions on the Prohibition of Using
Child Labour, and the Labour Law of the PRC.

We have formulated preventive procedures for our
recruitment and employment process. |dentity verification
and background check are included in the recruiting process
to ensure job applicants are fulfilling the legal working
age (i.e. 16 years old). For internships and on-job training
programmes offered to students, the Group will sign a
cooperation agreement with the partner colleges and student
participants to obtain consensus on the working terms and
conditions. In addition, all contracts are formulated based
on the applicable labour contract law and all employees
are required to sign the legally binding contracts before
commencement of work to prevent any form of forced labour.

Employees’ consent for working overtime is required to
prevent forced overtime work, and they are compensated in
accordance with the applicable labour laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any breaches of relevant laws and regulations related to child
and forced labour in our operations.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group attaches great importance to supplier
management and regards it as an important part of
our risk management strategy. Our suppliers are mainly
manufacturers of paper and auxiliary accessories. We
have formulated a series of policies and guidelines to
comprehensively standardise all supplier management
procedures, such as the identification, inspection, selection,
engagement and evaluation of suppliers, to ensure that the
production process, quality, safety, finance, occupational
health, environmental protection and other aspects of
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suppliers are in compliance with regulations and industry
standards, and also ensure that the relevant procedures are
carried out under the principles of transparency, fairness and
justice. We actively establish a close and mutually beneficial
relationship with approved suppliers who have passed the
assessment, so as to jointly improve the quality of products
and services and complement each other.

We select suppliers based on the factors such as their
product quality, quality system, product safety standards,
production capacity, code of conduct, service and price
competitiveness. Prior to becoming our approved suppliers,
potential suppliers are required to complete a thorough
questionnaire and undergo an on-site audit by our material
sourcing department, quality assurance department and
compliance department to comprehensively review the
capabilities and track records of the suppliers in equipment
and processes of production and inspection, quality
management, compliance, financial status, access control,
network security, employee safety and environmental
protection and identify potential risks of the suppliers in these
areas. We give priority to suppliers who have established
systematic management approaches in product quality
assurance and environmental and social responsibilities
and are able to provide materials or alternative solutions
that meet environmental protection standards. In addition,
we also require our suppliers to obtain the “Customs-Trade
Partnership Against Terrorism” certification. Approved
suppliers are required to sign a declaration of compliance
and undergo our regular audits to ensure that they fully
understand and continuously meet our quality, management,
environmental, occupational safety and compliance
standards in all aspects. During the Reporting Period, the
Group had a total of 496 approved suppliers. The number of
suppliers by geographical region is as follows:

NUMBER OF SUPPLIERS BY REGION
EtEEHEEERE

The PRC
9 rm
’
\¢{

455

Others
HAh

41
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

As a professional paper product manufacturing and printing
services provider, the Group is committed to meeting
customers’ needs by providing quality products and
customer-oriented services, and ensuring that the Group’s
products comply with relevant laws and regulations such as
the “Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEAREFIEE BE £ 5X). We have formulated a series
of policies with respect to product responsibility, covering all
aspects of production operation such as production safety
management and specifications, product quality audit, brand
copyright protection, file management, employee code of
conduct, handling of customer complaints and product
return. In addition, we fully comply with the relevant laws and
regulations in relation to advertising and labelling, including
the “Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China (F
= AR AMEE LX), the Trade Descriptions Ordinance of
Hong Kong, and the U.S. Customs Regulations on Country of
Origin, etc., to deliver appropriate information to customers
without false, misleading or incomplete information and
misstatements.

Quality assurance

The Group is determined to continuously provide customers
with high-quality products to meet the expectations and
needs of international enterprises and brand customers
as well as individual customers, so as to maintain our
competitiveness in the industry and secure long-term
business growth, and to ensure strict compliance with
relevant laws and regulations such as the “Product Quality
Law of the People’s Republic of China (f ¥ A 70 B & &
F £ %) and the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests (7 2 A & £
MEHE & mRER)
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We have a comprehensive quality management system with
ISO9001:2015 certification, which covers three important
aspects, namely quality assurance, quality engineering and
quality control, to ensure that our entire production operation
process from product development, material procurement,
production to delivery meets the specified quality standards.
We have stringent quality control procedures in place to
control the quality of incoming materials, production process
and final products to ensure that our products meet our
internal standards and our customers’ quality requirements.
Our quality assurance team is accredited by ANSI-ASQ
National Accreditation Board under ISO 17020, which
demonstrates our technical competence in the fields of
calibration and testing. Product safety tests on raw materials
and products can be conducted by our own in-house
laboratory which is accredited by different international
professional bodies including China National Accreditation
Service for Conformity Assessment (CNAS), ANSI-ASQ
National Accreditation Board and U.S. Consumer Product
Safety Commission (CPSC). It also meets the requirements
of the international standard ISO/IEC17025:2005, and is
qualified to conduct tests in accordance with international
standards in relation to the toys, packaging and other goods
in the U.S. and Europe.

Customer feedback and complaints and
product recall

We have policies and procedures in place to collect
and handle customers’ feedback and complaints. Upon
receipt of a complaint relating to a product defect, our
customer service team will coordinate with the relevant
production department to conduct a detailed investigation to
determine the cause of the defect and discuss appropriate
solutions, including arranging exchange, return or refund
to the customer for product defects caused by us and,
if necessary, seeking compensation from our supplier or
subcontractor at fault. We conduct customer satisfaction
surveys with our OEM customers on a regular basis to collect
customers’ feedback on various aspects of our services,
including product quality, customer service, production lead
time, operation capability and material procurement and
development, in order to understand customers’ opinions
and needs and constantly improve our service level. We
achieved an overall satisfaction rate of 84% in our latest
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survey. During the Reporting Period, we received 45 and
98 complaints from our OEM customers and web sales
customers, respectively, all of which were properly followed
up and responded by our customer service team. During the
Reporting Period, we did not record any non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations or product recalls due to
quality or safety reasons.

Number of complaints received

RBEFZERERDE - RREHA -
HPYEERBBEZENEZRIAEE
B2l IR E B U EY R B

by type

EEANEENKRFHE

OEM sales OEMSH & 45
Web sales Hub s e 98
Total ®Et 143

Intellectual property and personal data
privacy protection

We emphasise the importance of the intellectual property
rights and personal data privacy of our customers and
have established relevant procedures and guidelines to
safeguard them. We strictly comply with laws and regulations
relating to intellectual property rights and privacy, including
the “Intellectual Property Law of the People’s Republic of
China (% A B H 70 B &1 3% & # /%)”, the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong, etc. We have formulated
and strictly enforced policies and procedures to manage
the production process and monitor documents and
files provided by our customers to prevent unauthorised
copying, unlawful use or distribution or leakage of product
designs, specifications and other intellectual property
rights by employees, subcontractors and third parties. The
relevant measures include filing customer’s digital files to
a secure database with access restricted to designated
authorised staff only, destroying and disposing of all printed
and redundant finished products after completing the
printing process, setting up 24-hour security controls in
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our production facilities and warehouses; requesting the
contractors to strictly comply with guidelines and procedure
of handling intellectual property rights of our clients and
conducting regular site inspections to ensure measures
have been applied properly; providing regular training to
staff on personal data, intellectual property protection and
cyber security, etc. If we identify any suspicious contents or
images in the production files provided by customers, we
will ask the related customers for a letter of authorisation for
printing such content or images. Orders that do not pass our
in-house screening will be refunded.

We have established procedures and guidelines related to
the protection of personal data privacy to prevent employees
from copying, using, distributing or leaking customers’
personal data without authorisation. Our websites also
set forth our privacy policy with respect to the collection,
use and protection of customers’ private information of
customers on our websites. We also include confidentiality
clauses in our employment contracts to prohibit unauthorised
use, possession and leakage of any confidential information
and documents obtained at work. Furthermore, we maintain,
inspect and enhance the information security of our
computer systems regularly to prevent leakage of files and
information.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not violate any
laws and regulations in relation to intellectual property rights
or privacy.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group firmly adheres to the highest standards
of business integrity and strives to maintain integrity,
impartiality, work accountability and transparency. We
have formulated our anti-bribery and corruption policy and
whistleblowing policy, and strictly implemented relevant
requirements to ensure that all business operations of
the Group comply with our integrity standards and the
requirements of relevant laws and regulations, including
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong and the
“Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China (f# A
R HEFBI %), to eliminate any form of illegal acts of our
employees, including corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud,
money laundering, etc. We require all employees to strictly
comply with the related policies and code of conduct and
requirements prescribed in the employee handbook, making
statement and declaration on conflict of interest. We have
established and implemented stringent regulatory and
approval processes to prevent misconduct or conflict of
interest due to procedural loopholes. We have dedicated
reporting channels in place and encourage employees
to report in writing or in person confidentially when they
identify or suspect relevant violations and conflicts of
interest. Reported cases will be investigated by our internal
investigation team and reviewed by the Audit Committee to
determine further actions, including disciplinary action and
immediate dismissal, in accordance with the established
procedures. During the Reporting Period, we dispatched
relevant policies updates to business partners and
employees to strengthen the awareness of anti-corruption
among relevant stakeholders. On the other hand, we
provided relevant training to employees, including induction
and on-the-job training on work ethics and anticorruption
provided by the training department, and arranged
anti-corruption seminars provided by the Independent
Commission Against Corruption to employees, especially
those with direct contact with business partners or involved
in financial transactions, to enhance their awareness of
business integrity and anti-corruption.

During the Reporting Period, the Group and its employees
were not involved in any corruption-related cases or
litigations.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

It is one of our corporate missions to contribute to the
betterment and sustainability of our community by always
acting with care. We adopt a policy to proactively identify
needs in different communities and devote efforts and
resources to demonstrate our community engagement and
support. During the Reporting Period, we pushed forward
various endeavours including donations, volunteering,
collaborations with external organisations and provision
of internship opportunities to demonstrate our support to
community services, youth development and humanitarian
services. During the Reporting Period, the Group made
a total of approximately HK$357,000 cash donations to
charitable organisations and a total of 3,296 hours of
involvement in knowledge sharing and charity work.

The Group has set up a 5-year community investment target
(please refer to reference section of “Sustainability Targets”
for details).

Donations to charities

The Group is committed to various charitable activities
with the aim of fulfilling its corporate social responsibilities.
During the Reporting Period, we supported the Hong
Kong Red Cross for the 15th consecutive years as the
main sponsor of its annual fundraising campaign “Pass-it-
On”. We made cash donation to support its humanitarian
aid and local community work while providing pro bono
printing services for the campaign’s promotional materials
to help them maximise the exposure of its campaign at a
lower cost. We also supported different youth work with
monetary sponsorship for organisations focusing on youth
development including the Hongkong Shine Tak Foundation.
In addition, we continued to support Food Angel, a charity
focusing on local food rescue and food assistance, with
food donations to the deprived local communities collected
from our employees and sponsored by the Group. We also
organised internal goods donation activities to collect useful
items such as books, clothes, toys, etc. from our staff and
donate them to the Salvation Army for a good cause.
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Collaborations with charities and
organisations

The Group actively collaborates with different charities and
organisations who share the same visions to jointly contribute
to the society. During the Reporting Period, we collaborated
again with New Sight Eye Care, a registered charity
dedicated to restoring and protecting the vision of people in
the Republic of the Congo, for their annual desktop calendar
charity sales programme which aimed to raise funds for their
eye hospital project. In addition, we supported the Heep
Hong Society, a local children’s education and rehabilitation
organisation, to develop an educational game set, in which
we provided professional advice on product design and
use of materials, etc., leveraging the Group’s board game
production capability and experience to promote children’s
education and rehabilitation. The product will be officially
launched in 2024. In addition, we also collaborate with social
service organisations to organise volunteer activities. During
the Reporting Period, our volunteer team collaborated again
with an elderly centre to deliver care and tangible support to
the disadvantaged singleton elderly and two-elder families
through home visits.

Knowledge sharing

We believe that knowledge sharing helps bring innovative
advancements to both the community and industry. During
the Report Period, we continued to carry out internship
programmes to provide opportunities for interns to gain
hands-on experience and practical knowledge in a real
business environment. We offered internship opportunities
in our marketing and IT departments with extensive job
exposure, on-the-job training and coaching by experienced
staff, with the goal of facilitating their competency
development and career planning.
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HONOURS AND CERTIFICATIONS

We have achieved diverse international standards of
operation systems, such as ISO 9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015,
ISO 50001:2018, to maintain our product quality and
enhance our environmental and energy performance to
ensure our efficiency and compliance. In addition, we have
also been given a number of certifications and awards from

different organisations.

Certifications/awards

RE®’E

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Awarding / authorising
organisations

MEE RERE

RIE L NERRE

RERRE

AIE D TR E R
ISO 9001 : 2015 + ISO 14001 : 2015 ~ ISO
50001
hn 3 3 179 19 38 5 e B R 55 K B
R ERA R - Hoh - RPINE
BRRRERES ERENRE -

ERARBTE M

12018 LMREFHRMOEREEM
C DARE R

Awardees
¥ EAQAE

ISO 9001:2015
ISO 14001:2015
ISO 45001:2018

SGS United Kingdom Limited

Q P Printing Limited/Dongguan
Zensee Printing Limited/Taunus
Printing (Heshan) Company
Limited*

ERHRIAERAR,

=ERHBARA 7/
BRI (BIL)BRA

ISO 50001:2018
ISO 14064-1:2018

SGS-CSTC Standards Technical
Services Co. Ltd.
BREERNRE AR QA

Dongguan Zensee Printing Limited

FSC® Chain-of-Custody
FSCeEE iH Bz & 32

SGS Hong Kong Limited
EEBRARAREARAA

Dongguan Zensee Printing
Limited/Taunus Printing
(Heshan) Company Limited*/

Q P Printing Limited/QP (HK)
Limited/Q P Trading Limited/
Q P International Limited/Q P
Sourcing Limited
REBHORIARAR,
BEDR(BL)ARRE ER
EﬂF' BRAR/SEB(EB)ER
RE/EREHERREER
B B 1 %EBE 7/@&%#4
FEARAQ
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Awarding / authorising

Certifications/awards organisations Awardees
AR RIE B RERS BHEAF
C-TPAT Validation China-United States Joint Dongguan Zensee Printing Limited
B — mARREH Validation Team* ZERHRIBRAR

(C-TPAT) B & RERARE/A
ICTI Ethical Toy Program — The International Toy Industry Dongguan Zensee Printing

Seal of Compliance Association Limited/Taunus Printing
ICTITE X EE — HEFEE BItE e (Heshan) Company Limited*

SEBHRIBERAR,
e N (85 1) AR A

China Environmental China Environmental United Dongguan Zensee Printing Limited
Labelling Product (Beijing) Certification Center SERHRERA
Certification* Co., Ltd
FERBEGSEMRE FIRBAS (U R)RBEALERA
A
G7 Master Facility Targeted Idealliance Dongguan Zensee Printing
GTEREBERFE" REE D R Limited/Taunus Printing

(Heshan) Company Limited*
T;MMEI]J:'J%_BE/AT/
EEER (BBIL)BRA

High and New Technology Department of Science and Dongguan Zensee Printing
Enterprise Certificate Technology of Guangdong Limited/ Taunus Printing
ST RS R Province, Department of (Heshan) Company Limited*
Finance of Guangdong EERHRBIBRAR,
Province, Guangdong fEEENRI (B8 1L) BRAF

Provincial Office of the SAT
and Guangdong Local Taxation
Bureau

BREMBRME - ERE MK
B EXBEEREREMB

BRkEREMAHBRE
10 Years Plus Caring The Hong Kong Council of Social Q P Printing Limited
Company Logo Service ERHRABRA
10FPlus [BREBEIER | BELSREHS
Caring Certificate Federation of Hong Kong Q P Group Holdings Limited
BLBEEE Industries EREEZERAERA
EEIkEe
Standard Chartered Standard Chartered Bank Q P Group Holdings Limited
Corporate Achievement BITIRTT EREEERERA

Awards 2023 — Digital
Transformation Corporate
Outstanding Award

BT 3 BB K #2023 —
YIS ER PR

130 Q P GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED E£2&£EZERER AT



Certifications/awards

AR RE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Awarding / authorising
organisations

RIE L NERRE

Awardees

EERQF

BDO ESG Awards 2023 —
Best in Reporting Award
BDORE - @ RERKNE

2023 — HEESGHRE A5

M RERE
BDO
BRIV EREGTENEBA

Q P Group Holdings Limited
EREEEZERERA

Hong Kong Innovation
Technology Achievement
Awards 2023 —
Manufacturing Excellence
Achievement Award

& 78 B HT BHOR Bt K 822023
— FHBEERRKRE

Hong Kong Federation of
Innovative Technologies and
Manufacturing Industries

FERRAMMBR R EXERAA

Py
Eg

PSS 0N

Q P Group HoIdings Limited
r'-':ilu\;lEt.T Hxﬁﬁﬁ

Good MPF Employer Award
B EE

Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority
BEMERAEERTEERER

Q P Printing Limited/QP (HK)
Limited/DPI Laboratory Services
Limited/Product Innovator
Limited/Printer’s Studio Limited

EBRHRIAERAR,
mu(i?/%)ﬁﬁﬁ a,/
EERARBERAF,

J%Euué’éiﬁﬁﬁﬁ@?/
Printer’s Studio Limited

# The Chinese translations of the names are for reference only.

*

The English translations of the names are for reference only.

*

HERENRERERSE o
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

DATA SUMMARY

BERAUERE

GREENHOUSE (“GHG”)
EMISSIONS

Scope 1™

Total

Intensity 2

Scope 2 2
Total
Intensity 3

AIR EMISSIONS
Nitrogen oxides
Sulphur oxides
Particulate matter

HAZARDOUS WASTES
Solid Wastes Generated:

Total
Intensity 2

Wastewater Discharged:
Total
Intensity 2

NON-HAZARDOUS
WASTES

Solid Wastes Generated:
Total
Intensity 2

Wastewater Discharged:
Total
Intensity 3

BERBERE

gE-:

==

B

gE—2:

wer B
B

BRUEKE

(4]
k=R
ER

RERM

EENEREN:

nE
BES

Ry Bk :

==

B

BRERY

EENEREN:

0§
B

FRBEK:

=

B

Tonnes CO2e
Tonnes CO2e

Tonnes COze
Tonnes CO2e

Tonnes
Tonnes
Tonnes

Tonnes
Tonnes

Tonnes
Tonnes

Tonnes
Tonnes

Tonnes
Tonnes
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90.29
0.09

17,866.79
1719

043
0.001
0.022

230.55
0.22

169.43
0.15

6,648.46
6.40

147,446.52
141.88

265.51
0.21

18,716.23
14.66

0.09
0.001
0.005

231.40
0.18

142.48
0.1

7,735.91
6.06

170,300.81
133.42
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PACKAGING MATERIALS B mfAEEMH
USED FOR FINISHED

GOODS

Total “e Tonnes 1 2,240.84 3,099.57

Intensity * BES Tonnes i 2.16 2.43

ENERGY AND HERRKERAE

WATER RESOURCES

CONSUMPTION

Electricity: Eh:

Total HE MWh K F B 22,288.40 23,345.70

Intensity 3 RS MWh K E B 2145 18.29

Gasoline: i

Total “e Litres AH 27,543.02 32,040.44

Intensity 3 REe Litres N 26.50 25.10

Diesel: Ly

Total HE Litres N 8,661.44 17,801.51

Intensity 3 BES Litres N 8.33 13.95

Water Resources: KER:

Total He Tonnes 1 147,605.95 170,443.29

Intensity ¢ RES Tonnes i 142.04 133.53

PAPER CONSUMPTION RiEE

Production: £E:

Total He Tonnes i 20,759.70 31,047.05

Intensity 3 REs Tonnes 5 19.98 24.32

Office: WAE:

Total BE Tonnes W 7.36 8.52

Intensity ¢ BES Tonnes i 0.007 0.007
Notes: i -

1 Scope 1 represents direct GHG emissions generated by the use of 1 HE—EBRERARH  LHRBRBELE
gasoline, diesel and refrigerant. MEEZAEREHENE -

2 Scope 2 represents indirect GHG emissions generated by the use of 2 HE_EABFRAREEEHENRTANE
purchased electricity from local power companies. NEANEELERESEKE -

3 The emission/production/consumption intensities are calculated in 3 RE HEE/ FHREREUASIEEST
terms of every HK$1 million of revenue. WaatE -
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RE - HERE)

B¥RE

Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Index

(B5 #ERERHER) RS

Reference Section

Py

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

IREE EE -REERBRANER

A. Environmental
A RS

Aspect Al: Emissions

General Disclosure: Information on the (a) policies; and (b) compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Management of emissions

BN ER

BREUWERALD

description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

HERERERBERNN L HECREREREREKEGH SR -

EEA:HHYD —REE AEERARRERBHR MARLBOET AEREZENNE
EE0: @BR: ROETHETABEATENRBLZERANNES -
KPIA11 The types of emissions and respective emission data. Management of exhaust gas
BRENIERAL B REREBENAE - and greenhouse gas
o . . ("GHG") emissions

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity. e .

o e e ! BEREERERMNE
BRENEEAL BEREBENAEREE - B
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. Management of wastewater
B aREEN S FECHEENGBRAE - discharge, Management

‘ ‘ of solid waste disposal

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. .

- o ' BAEROEE BEEY
?‘%L XMEIT At4 Fﬁéi/mm}%%wwi&m&_o EEW%@
KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them Management of emissions
BREWERALL BABREHRERREKRBRNSR B ER
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a | Management of solid waste

disposal

RENRENEE

Aspect A2: Use of

General Disclosure: Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,

Management of resources

BREWIEENY

FRRERAKR LN AEARE  EREKERERMEARREKBRNSR -

Resources water and other raw materials. utilisation
EEA2 ERER —REE BRERER(BELR KREMRIE)HBE EREANHER
KPIA2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity. Energy conservation
BRENERA2 RENEAMEER /ARELREEEREE - AR
KPIA2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Water conservation
BREMERA22 BRKEREE - FAAK
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Energy conservation
BRENERA23 BRERTHRRBUEARRERERNIR 4R
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, | Water conservation

water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. E# K
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Index

Reference Section

(BR5 #ERERBER) RS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

IZER EE -RHERBRENER

9285

KPI A2.5

BREMERALS

Total packaging material used for finished products and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

RRmReEHNA8 R(NER) BEEBNEE -

Use of packaging materials

BEMHNER

Aspect A3:
Environmental and
Natural Resources

EHAS . BER
RRER

General Disclosure: Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

—REE RERTAURERRAERENEATENRR «

KPI A3.1

BB IRA3

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage them.

HEEBRDURARARERNEATY ERCRBEREHYENTD -

Environment and natural
resources
RERARER

Aspect A4: Climate

General Disclosure: Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate

Climate Change

Change related issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer. AEEL

BE A REEL —REE BAIREHEARAR G HETAEEYENEARGRBESENRR

KPI Ad.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

BRANERALL BECERAEeHETAELYENEXRGRESE  REHGY

B. Social

B.#8&

Employment and Labour Standards

BRRZIER

Aspect B1: Employment | General Disclosure: Information on the (a) policies; and (b) compliance with | EMPLOYMENT
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating | €18

to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.

EEB1 Ef —RBE-BREMREE TRRER IERE RE TEKe k-
REGUARERGEREMG: @BR: ROETHRTABEAT ENERE
BRADIMEH -

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region.

B A AIE B RIUR - BEER  FRANRSEESNESLY -

KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

BRBUERBRI2

BEH - FRANRBENSHEERRNE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Index

(BR5 #ERERBER) RS

Reference Section
SZEH

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TZEE EE -REERBRENEE

Aspect B2: Health and General Disclosure: Information on the (a) policies; and (b) compliance with | OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY
Safety relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating AND HEALTH
to providing a safe work environment and protecting employees from occupational | B %% kE &
hazards.
EEB2: REHEZ2 —REEFRREZITERERRBEEREBENREN: (@BE: k(D)
BYHETABEAT ENRBEERADINES -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.
BB MREB21 BEZF(RRAEFE)BFERICHHATRILE -
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
BRENERB22 RIGBRATEAS -
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are
implemented and monitored.
BRENERB2S BRFMRANBERREAR2ER IREBRIRERLE
Aspect B3: Development | General Disclosure: Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for | TRAINING AND
and Training discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. DEVELOPMENT

JEH B3: &R R

—BREE BERABEECIERENANZRREARE M5 -

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category.
BB MR B3 BRUERIRESRAEANKIEEEAIL
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee

B ENER B2

category.

BERNREERAED  BREEZKFINFHRH -

BAlRER

Aspect B4: Labour
Standard

EHEB4: ST EH

General Disclosure: Information on the (a) policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labor.
—RREE:BBMLEIRRNEHN: QBF: ROBTHETAGEATEN
REEERADNER -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced
labour.

R A IER B4 MR BEEANERIEREIREHSE -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

BREANER B2 HAEERERBERSEREBBERAMRRO SR -

LABOUR STANDARDS

YT T )
STR%E

136 Q P GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED E£2&£EZERER AT




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANGE REPORT
R g REAWRE

Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Index Reference Section

(R HERERGEESD R 9285

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TZEHE EE -REERBRENEE

Operating Practices

EEEM
Aspect B5: Supply Chain | General Disclosure: Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the | SUPPLY CHAIN
Management supply chain. MANAGEMENT
BHEBS: EHER ~BHE ERARENRE R ERREE - REREE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.
B & MBS REEESMEERHE -
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where
the practices are being implemented, how they are implemented and monitored.
BRENEEBS2 BRAEERRGERNEN RARNTEBREANNREREE  UREBRTR
ERNE-
KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
BRENIEEBS.S BREREAEERSERTNRERLEARNEN U RABRITRERAE o
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.
BR B NIEIEB54 EREREREARRESARRER R RENED  URBBRTRERAE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Index Reference Section

(R HERERGERSD R 9285

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TZEE EE -REERBRENEE

Aspect B6: Product General Disclosure: Information on the (a) policies; and (b) compliance with relevant | PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
Responsibility laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health | & & EE
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.
EEB6:EREE —RRE FRMREERARBEORREARE BE BERLBSENRA
WAED: (@) BE: ko) ETHETABEAYENRBZERAMINER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons.
B 2 WU 1RB6.1 BEACEREMARTRR 2 EREEAMARDRMAS L -
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received and how they are
dealt with.
BRENEEB62 EREBRERRBREORFHAIREL L -
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property
rights.
B ANUIERB6.3 HREEERRENZEEGHNEDN -
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
B AR RB6.4 HRESRTARREREYRR o
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
B EANIERB6.S BREBEARRERABEE URBEBRTRERRE -
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Reference Section
SZEH

Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide Index

(BR5 #ERERBER) RS

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs
TZEHE EE -REERBRENEE

Aspect BT7: Anti-
Corruption

EEBT:RES

General Disclosure: Information on the (a) policies; and (b) compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
—REEBRMLBR PR RFRAEEN @ BE ko) BFHETA
REAYENEBERRROINEH -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the
issuer or its employees during the Reporting Period and the outcomes of the cases.

B R MR BT REEBREETAREEERHUBEENA T FARENEERFDLR -

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

BRENERBL2 HahaEERERERF URABRTRERNE -

KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

BREWEIRBI EAREEREIRENRETE -

ANTI-CORRUPTION
RES

Aspect B8: Community

Investment

EHEBS HERE

General Disclosure: Policies on community engagement to understand the needs
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities” interests.
—RBE:BRMHEZ2ARTREBMEMERENRREEBEDEZRM
BHROHE -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport).

B2 R 13 Ba. EXERER(MAE REEE LI BE X 8B

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

B2 ME13B8.2 REIERMBAAR(NEBARME) -

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

HERE
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INDEPENDENT | Y& 37 #% i Em R s
AUDITOR'’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Q P Group Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Q P Group Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 148 to 251, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023;

° the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for
the year then ended,;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
B BEN RS

RRNER

BACREEESTMASRMN(ER
B EAD(EBBAEYDETET -
BMEZSELATAENEEZEELR

SIZBERBAGREMBERRALENE
EIRE D PR E — R -

BPBEE RPMESHEFRERR
MEEMRBFINES B RIRHER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
SRR R GRS

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to

provision for inventories write-down.

Key Audit Matter

HEEITEER

BPEZRATIENNEAREAZTEEH
R MUOB B R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter
EMNESFNAEEERESNEE

Provision of inventories write-down

FEMBRE

Refer to Note 4(a) (critical accounting estimates
and judgements) and Note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements.

B2 BN T4 (MR Hat kA
i) & M2t o

As at 31 December 2023, the Group
held inventories of HK$65,130,000 (2022:
HK$72,442,000), net of provision for write-down of
HK$26,458,000 (2022: HK$25,709,000).
WR_EZ_=%F+ZA=+—HB- BE&5EB#HA
¥ 565,130,000 T (= T = — £ : 72,442,000/
7T) + FOBR MU B 526,458,000 T (ZE ==
25,709,000/ L) °

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value (“NRV”). The cost of inventories
may not be recoverable if those inventories’ selling
prices declined, costs to complete or selling
costs increased or they have become obsolete or
damaged.

FENERANEAZREFE(TERFED IR

BEINR - WxEFEEE MK » T TRAKH
ERAEMIED BRFHFZIE - B EZKRD
FERA

We have performed the following procedures in
relation to management’s estimation of provision
for inventories write-down:

HREBRBGLAFEMOREE  BHMAZET T
BF:
° Understood management’s process in

relation to the provision for inventories write-
down and evaluated reasonableness of
the methodology which took into account
inventory ageing profile, historical and post
year-end usage and sales data.

. THEREEHEEEMBRBENREF I
AR EERKRBR BERFER
BEBBALEERE T ENGEMY -

° Understood and tested management’s
controls over the estimation of provision of
inventories write-down.

. THREAREEBHAAFTEMREED
& -
° Tested, on a sample basis, the inventory

ageing by comparing the inventory records
with the underlying documents.

. aﬁz_ifﬁF'%%X#Ftbfri%nafj’*?ﬂaﬁﬁhﬂ?%ﬁ
AR B2

° Assessing the reasonableness of provision
for obsolete inventories by considering
the subsequent usage, sales orders,
inventory conditions and the planned sales
arrangements.

. FRERERBELRE
RO K 57 88 E
REENSEM -

N HERE 78
AERREFER
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Key Audit Matter

HEETEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
B BEN RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter
BB NNEERRETEE

Management consistently applies a methodology
to make provision for inventories write-down.
Management determines the lower of cost and
NRV of inventories by considering the subsequent
usage, sales orders, inventory conditions and the
planned sales arrangements.
EREERERITRFEMBBEN L - E1F
BELBEREEECRABR HEFTE FEMNRARA
RBREHELH BEEFENKARKAIZE FE
WERESE o

We focused our work on management’s provision
for inventories because significant judgements and
assumptions are required to be made to determine
the NRV of inventories, including subsequent
usage, sales orders, inventory conditions and the
planned sales arrangements.

BN ITHEEFREEENTEERE BARER
FENAERFEFTEELEAHAGTLRER &
ReBEER HETE FERARREHEELR
B o

o Observed management’s inventory counts
to identify any obsolete or damaged
inventories.

. BREBRBNTFERYAMAEMRESK
BEFE-

° Tested whether the inventory provisions
at the reporting date were calculated in
a manner consistent with the Group’s
inventory provision policy by recalculating
the inventory provisions based on ageing
profile and other parameters in the Group’s
inventory provision policy.

. BiE EEETERBERETHREMR
MEMSEBERAEFEEE  AEARK
SEHNGEEREBERSRE EEERFE
BB ER -2 h AFE -

Based on the procedures described, we found
the management’s judgements and estimates in
relation to the provision for inventories write-down
to be supportable by available evidence.
ERERERF RMBEREEEEBFE BORE
B FIET R ST B RIS EE X -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
B BEN RS
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the audit committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Chung Bor.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED | #r&fEm &
STATEMENT OF PROFIT | & ﬂjiﬁﬂy T IR
OR LOSS AND OTHER | #==%==Ff=A=1"RLFs
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Note HK$°000
P & FTHET

Revenue Wi 5 1,039,199 1,276,392
Cost of sales 85 & A AR 8 (683,107) (859,628)
Gross profit £ F 356,092 416,764
Other gains, net H b Uy %5 % 58 6 8,428 2519
Other income E bl A 7 10,154 19,389
Selling and distribution expenses HEMDHRAX 8 (101,603) (110,399)
Administrative expenses THRAX 8 (182,650) (185,226)
Operating profit R R 90,421 143,047
Finance income AMEWA 10 7,794 2,380
Finance costs A& KA 10 (3,997) (2,294)
Finance income, net B E WA FEEE 3,797 86
Profit before income tax B A 48 B Al s R 94,218 143,133
Income tax expense Frig i M 11 (15,950) (16,294)
Profit for the year FRER 78,268 126,839
Attributable to: MT&FEA:

Equity holders of the Company RRBIREmRE 80,099 126,839

Non-controlling interests TR R (1,831) —

78,268 126,839

Earnings per share for profit PNNETR: Ry & R

attributable to equity holders FHOZRER

of the Company
— Basic and diluted earnings per — BREARAREERT

share (expressed in HK cents per (AR BWT]R)

share) 12 15.06 23.84
Other comprehensive loss, Hth2mEE B (BRBIE)

net of tax
Item that may be subsequently AJRERKEEN D EER

reclassified to profit or loss w2 HH
Currency translation differences BB E =R (20,129) (55,832)
Total comprehensive income for & R 2 U = A 58

the year 58,139 71,007
Attributable to: -2 A

Equity holders of the Company RRRRERIRE 59,970 71,007

Non-controlling interests FE 15 IR 5 (1,831) —

58,139 71,007

The notes on pages 155 to 251 are an integral part of these & 155;.;251,5 LT RREE TS
consolidated financial statements. WMERMMEKE D
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CONSOLIDATED | 4R & BA IR S 5%
STATEMENT OF | ®#=%==#t=A=+-"
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2023

2023 2022
—_E_= =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment I 15 426,181 390,839
Investment property REME 17 2,135 2,135
Right-of-use assets FREEE 20 149,876 155,653
Intangible assets EREE 18 28,995 29,072
Deposits, prepayments and other e BEREBEREAM
receivables JiE Y 7 18 23 33,086 9,558
Deferred income tax assets EEMSHEE 32 5,931 7,868
Debt instruments at amortised cost % #§ 4 B 2 71) BE 19
EHTHE 19 - 3,891
Equity investment at fair value BERAFEGFTAERDN
through profit or loss RERE 19 500 —
646,704 599,016
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 21 65,130 72,442
Trade receivables =Y &S] 22 163,323 144,432
Deposits, prepayments and other e BEREREAM
receivables & I 18 23 49,209 47,435
Debt instruments at amortised cost 1% ## &4 AX A< 71 BR /Y
ERIA 19 3,900 11,695
Income tax recoverable A Ug Bl FT 15 Fd 2,026 9,494
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTH 8 25 160,365 294,721
443,953 580,219
Total assets EEH#E 1,090,657 1,179,235
EQUITY Ex
Equity attributable to equity AT EZRREMN
holders of the Company &
Share capital fi% < 16 5,320 5,320
Share premium f&% 17 4 B 26 139,593 139,593
Reserves ER 26 688,738 697,928
Shareholders’ funds fEEE 2 833,651 842,841
Non-controlling interests JEFE IR = 1,069 —
Total equity EREHE 834,720 842,841

FHNEIEE21H 2 WX R AR E I
HmEROAEXES -

The notes on pages 155 to 251 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI

As at 31 December 2023

R_F_=F+_A=1+—H

2023 2022
—E_-= =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T 7T
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Deferred income tax liabilities EXEMEHAE 32 15,184 9,362
Lease liabilities HERE 31 1,138 631
16,322 9,993
Current liabilities REaE
Trade payables 2 SN RIE 27 64,436 68,159
Accruals, provisions and other JETER  BELEM
payables FES 3k 1E 28 97,351 101,389
Contract liabilities BREE 5 17,101 17,153
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFTIS i B & 11,037 14,297
Borrowings & 29 47,879 116,319
Lease liabilities HERE 31 1,811 2008
Derivative financial instruments TELmMIEA 24 — 6,856
239,615 326,401
Total liabilities BEHE 255,937 336,394
Total equity and liabilities ExhkaEHEE 1,090,657 1,179,235

The consolidated financial statements on pages 148 to 251 ZH148E251E MG A ERROC R - =
were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2024 —MFE=A -+ "HESZE& I E I H

and were signed on its behalf. NTEERREE -
CHENG Wan Wai YEUNG Keng Wu Kenneth
R 2 % 8%
Director Director
EBF =

The notes on pages 155 to 251 are an integral part of these SR FE155F 2518 2 £ A ARG A P15
consolidated financial statements. MERMMEKILY o
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CONSOLIDATED | 44 fE2s & 8%
STATEM ENT OF BE-_T-_—F+-A=+—ALLFE
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Attributable to owners of the Company
ARABAAER
Share Share Capital Statutory
capital premium reserve reserve  Translation Retained

(Note 16) (Note 26) (Note 26) reserve earnings Total
I & By | + [t

kxR TR
* AERE  REEN it
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000

TR AL TATL TEL AT BT AL

At 1 January 2022 R-Z--%-5-H 5,320 139,593 (3,686) 32,067 53,534 619,496 846,314
Profit for the year ERET - - - - - 126,839 126,839

Other comprehensive income  Eft2EH KA
Currency translation differences ~ E%HBEZE - - - - (55,832) - (55,832)

Total comprehensive income  2ERAAE - - - - (55,832) 126,839 71,007

Transactions with ownersin ~ EEEANEEEASH
their capacity as owners ETHRS

Dividends paid (Vote 73/ BRREWt13) - - - - - (74480) (74480
Statutory reserve EERE - - - 4,852 - (4,852) -
- - - 4,852 - (19332  (74.480)

At 31 December 2022 R-ZEZZE+ZH
=1-A 5,320 139,593 (3,686) 36,909 2,298) 667,003 842,841

The notes on pages 155 to 251 are an integral part of these & R $1555 2518 2 [ff 5% & K 4R & B 1%
consolidated financial statements. WEREKEID
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AR BE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-FT-=F+-A=t+-HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KDAREARE

Share Share Capital  Statutory Non-
capital  premium reserve reserve Translation  Retained controlling

(Note 16)  (Note26)  (Note 26)  (Note 26) reserve earnings interest Total
s RHEE  E4RE  ERRE
(Wi1e)  (W#26)  (W#26) (B2 BERE RERA  FERER it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
Tén TEn Tén Tén Tén Tén Tén Tén

At 1 January 2023 R-8-zE-A-H 5,320 139,598 (3,686) 36,909 (2298) 667,003 - 842,841

Profitloss) for the year EhgHl/ (B8 - - = =

80,099 (1,881) 18,268

Other comprehensive ~ Ef2ERA

income
Currency translation ERAEER
differences - - - - (20,129) - - (20,129)

Total comprehensive 2ABNEE
income - - - - (20,129) 80,099 (1,831) 58,139

Transactions with owners Z£FBANEEEASH
in their capacity as ETHRE

owners
Contributions from non- FrEhERLE
controlling interests - - - - - - 2,900 2,900
Dividends paid Vots 19~ ERREH#13) - - - - - (69,160) - (69,160)
Statutory reserve EEEE - - - 3,868 - (3,868) - -
- - - 3,868 - (73,028) 2,900 (66,260)
At 31 December 2023 ~ W-E-=Et+Zf
=t-8 5,320 139,593 (3,686) 40,717 (22,427) 674,074 1,069 834,720

The notes on pages 155 to 251 are an integral part of these & R F155F 2518 2 i 3£ A K& 4 B 1§
consolidated financial statements. WMEMABKE S -
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CONSOLIDATED | 24 H e e E
STATEMENT OF | #z====Ft=A=t-AL%E
CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Cash flows from operating
activities

Note
B 5

RETHMBRERE

2023
—E-=

HK$’000
FERT

2022

HK$’000
TET

Cash generated from operations KEFRRS 33(a) 116,010 287,649
Income tax refunded BRERH 7,355 —
Income tax paid =EIIECE (11,229) (18,657)
Net cash generated from RETHMEHREFHE

operating activities 112,136 268,992
Cash flows from investing RETBHFRBRERE

activities
Interest received BT 8 7,339 1,331
Purchase of property, plant and BEME BREK

equipment and deposit for B A R -

property, plant and equipment WBENEE IS (119,333) (66,444)
Proceeds from disposals of TEYE BREK

property, plant and equipment R TS RIE 33(b) 553 141
Purchase of intangible assets BABRBEEE (1,888) (1,447)
Acquisition of debt instruments at W i 32 8 35 X AR 51 BR &Y

amortised cost BEHLTA - (15,581)
Acquisition of equity investment WEEATFTEFAER

at fair value through profit or loss B IS B (500) —
Proceeds from redemption of debt [ [0 1% # 4 5K A 71) R 19

instruments at amortised cost BB TARMEHRIE 11,722 —
Net cash used for placement in time 77 A31E A 14 2| Hi 19 & A

deposits maturing after three GFHREAReFEHE

months (92,885) —
Net cash used in investing activities & & EEFTAIR & F5 (194,992) (82,000)

The notes on pages 155 to 251 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
meHeRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-FT-=F+-A=t+-HILFE

2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash flows from financing METBRERERE
activities
Proceeds from borrowings B AEHIE 33(c) 30,805 126,500
Repayment of borrowings BEEXN 33(c) (99,275) (94,620)
Dividends paid to the Company’s ERAARRKRE
shareholders % 8 13 (69,160) (74,480)
Payment for lease liabilities HEBEBEMNK 33(c) (2,318) (3,043)
Interest paid EENERS 33(c) (3,825) (2,220)
Contributions from non-controlling ~ FE#E X #E 25 H &
interests 175 —
Net cash used in financing activities B E EBFTRAIR & F58 (143,598) (47,863)
Net (decrease)/increase incash B&RREZEY
and cash equivalents (R 2) /18 hn 5% 58 (226,454) 139,129
Cash and cash equivalents at FYReRAEE
beginning of the year B 294,721 158,781
Effect of changes in foreign EXEGHHTE
exchange rates (787) (3,189)
Cash and cash equivalents FRAESEBESE
at end of the year B9 25 67,480 294,721

The notes on pages 155 to 251 are an integral part of these SR FE155F 2518 2 £ A ARG A P15
consolidated financial statements. MERMMEKILY o
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21

NOTES TO THE | #R& B 15 i it

CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in manufacturing
and trading of paper products.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 19 April 2018 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3
of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office
is 71 Fort Street, P.O. Box 500, George Town, Grand
Cayman KY1-1106, Cayman Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The basis of preparation and other potentially material
accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied
throughout the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

Basis of preparation

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
which are in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap. 622 are set out below. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except that investment property,
equity investment at fair value through profit or loss
and derivative financial instruments are measured at fair
value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the consolidated financial statements.

241
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ARF KB EEEAF - HH
BRARTENRFREALERES -

AARIRZE-N\FHNA+NLBRE
REREANE22ERRNA(—R—
FE=ZFED - BEFERIEF])ER
ENESTMNILAERRERAF °
RN B Y B i 9% S5 M Ak A71 Fort
Street, P.O. Box 500, George Town,
Grand Cayman KY1-1106, Cayman
Islands °

BRBERAIN RaMBERERIAE
t(BTDZ7 -
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TXHARBEUFEE BB RERA
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AR BRARBEHBI  ZFERE
ERMZINFEERER -

R EE

REFEAVBEREEN(EBYE
HEER ) REBRRIGE (F622F)
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FAEOEZEFERRHINAT - ik
NFEFENREDE RAFE
AR BRERERTEERT
AN AP HRRELE LKA
EHmR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BRI R
2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2 mUEERHMAUEEARS
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY STERRBE (&)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 FREE(E)
()  New and amendments to HKFRSs adopted by () AEEEMOIE LLEER
the Group BB %S &R
The Group has applied the following amendments AEEBR-_TZ=F—H—H
and practice statement for the first time, for the RN REHRNERNERUT
reporting period commencing 1 January 2023: BEIREB QS :
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
BB B HmEER BT RBEELD
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

EREVBRELENEITHRUEFTA) REBRAKD

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 —
Comparative Information

EEMBREENBEITHRUERTAR) BREAEEMBRELENBE TR LB BN KRS LR
FOH — LBWEH

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Disclosure of Accounting Policies
Practice Statement 2

BRI EUNBVRREBEVBRE STBEROEKE
HREBH RN EE2H(EFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

BB ERFE8H (IBFT ) I AT ES

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from
a single transaction

BEAGFERF129UBET ) HE-—XGMEAZEENBEERNELENIE

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules

BB G ERFE129 BT A) BEHMENE — F S FEARA

The application of the new and amendments to REERAMIIREBITRHB

HKFRS in the current year has had no material B 75 3R 5 R R ANEE AR

impact on the Group’s financial position and FERUGEEENTBNR AR

performance for the current and prior years and/ EBEUR /S MELREMBR

or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated KT BRBEELEEATE -

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(i)  Amendments to HKFRSs not yet adopted by the

Group

Amendments to HKAS 1

Classification of Liabilities as Current

fre SRR M

2 EUEERHMAEEKRS
TR B E (&)

21 EREXE(R)
(i) AEEEARERANEERTE
78 B 7% ¥R & 2 R

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on

or after
RTHBEHHR
ZEBBHN
FEHBER

1 January 2024

BE G EREE (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 1

B G R ERIE1R (BETA)
Amendments to HKFRS 16

RN B R ELERF165 (BFTA)

HK Interpretation 5 (Revised)

EERBESR(KLERD)

or Non-current
BaEIE AR KIERE —E-MFE—H—H
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

MERENIERBDAR

1 January 2024
—FE-ME—-HA—H

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

ERMEENAERE

1 January 2024

—E-mFE—H—H

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

MBHRENZE®H —RERXASEN —T-_MF—H—H
BERTEFBERNERER

1 January 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2 GUEERHMAUEERS
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY AR EBE(E)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 FEEE(EK)
(i)  Amendments to HKFRSs not yet adopted by the (i) AEBEHKRERAHLCEBITE

Group (Continued) BB EER(E)

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on

or after
RT 5 BH=®
ZEREN
FEHBEX
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024
HKFRS 7
BEAGHENETR(BITNRE HEBRAELH —E-NF—HA—H
BB WREERETIR(EETA)
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
BERGFEFE215% (BRI A) i =T Y 3 —E-R¥—HA—H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture
ERMBWMELEFI10R(BFIAR) REFHEHBERSE QA ZHA 53

BB EFEF8E(BFIA) BELEIRA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Amendments to HKFRSs not yet adopted by the
Group (Continued)

Certain amendments to HKFRSs have been
published that are not mandatory for 31 December
2023 reporting period and have not been early
adopted by the Group. These amendments to
HKFRSs are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment in Hong
Kong

In June 2022, the Hong Kong Government
enacted the Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”)
which will be effective from 1 May 2025 (the
“Transition Date”). Under the Amendment
Ordinance, any accrued benefits attributable
to the employer’s mandatory contributions
under mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
Benefits”) of an entity would no longer be
eligible to offset against its obligations on long
service payment (“LSP”) for the portion of the
LSP accrued on or after the Transition Date. There
is also a change in the calculation basis of last
monthly wages for the portion of the LSP accrued
before the Transition Date.

Prior to 1 January 2023, the Group applied
practical expedient in HKAS 19 paragraph 93(b)
(the “practical expedient”) to account for the
offsetable MPF Benefits as deemed employee
contributions to reduce the current service costs
in the period in which the related services were
rendered.

fre SRR M

2 WAUEERHMBAUEEKRS
TR B E (&)

2.1
(ii)

(i)

B E % ()

REBHREMNNLEIETTE
BB SRS 2R (&)
ERMME TEETRBYE
WELEAWIF T _=F+=
A=+ —BmEEA &G MEE
Bl - BAEEIY RIZATRR ©
TERZECETEANBRE
HEBTEHAEBRRBERL K
RFEHERABRAKRR S
EEERATE-

EERARGBEHEBEREZ
SETHREH

RZEBE-_—_F-A FBRF
FlECZEZ_—_FRRBRRIK
&1 810% ) (K 85 & BE) (18 77) 15
BI[ERTHR B B =ZF=H
FRA-B(EHBDREER -
RIBETIED - BB A58 H 1%
NIEEFEITE TR XA S ME
HRETEEMTMRHEZE (&
BeRBDBETEFAERK
HEREH A 2% 20 E
HREe(RERBL) IS
MEHRSSET - REHA
RN ERERB B HOR
% —EATEMNFHEEENTE
Fre -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BRI R

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iif)

Amendments to HKFRSs not yet adopted by the
Group (Continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” (the
“Guidance”) which provides clarified and detailed
guidance on the accounting considerations relating
to the abolition of the offsetting mechanism. The
Guidance clarified that following the enactment
of the Amendment Ordinance, LSP is no longer
a 'simple type of contributory plans’ to which the
practical expedient had been intended to apply.

By following the Guidance, the Group has therefore
changed its accounting policy and ceased to apply
the practical expedient and reattribute the deemed
employee contributions on a straight-line basis
from the date when services by employees first
lead to their benefits in terms of the LSP legislation
in accordance with HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a).

This change in accounting policy upon the
cessation in applying the practical expedient has
resulted in a catch-up adjustment for past service
costs and a corresponding change in the Group’s
LSP obligations in the year ended 31 December
2023.

The abovementioned change in accounting policy
does not have any material impact to these
consolidated financial statements.
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2.2
2.2.1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Subsidiaries

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

@)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date.

2.2
2.2.1

fre SRR M

RAUEENHMAEEKRS

st BUR R ()

s 2 F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

RAUEENHMAEEKRE
TR B E (&)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(@) Business combinations (Continued) (@)

2.2 B TE (&)
221 IREAKRE)
HEELG(E)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured
at either fair value or the present ownership
interests’ proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gain or loss arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the
fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised
in accordance with HKFRS 9 in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(@) Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised
and previously held interest measured is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the profit or
loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gain on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform to the
Group’s accounting policies.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost also includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
are required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive director
of the Company that make strategic decisions.

2.4 Foreign currency translation
(@) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial
statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HKD” or “HK$”), which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
generally recognised in profit or loss. They are
deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges
or are attributable to part of the net investment in
a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the profit or loss,
within finance costs. All other foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in the profit or loss
on a net basis within other gains/(losses).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(o)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(c) Group companies (Continued)

(i) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

The Group’s accounting policy for property, plant
and equipment is explained in note 15. All property,
plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
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2.5

2.6

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gain and loss on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with carrying amount. These
are included in profit or loss.

Construction-in-progress represents buildings and
plant and machinery under construction and pending
installation, and is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Costs comprises direct construction costs, the
cost of plant and machinery and applicable borrowing
costs incurred during the construction period. No
provision for depreciation is made on construction in-
progress until such time as the relevant assets are
completed and ready for intended use. When the
assets concerned are brought into use, the costs are
transferred to other property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated in
note 15.

Investment property

Investment property is held for long-term rental
yields and is not occupied by the Group. Investment
property is initially measured at cost, including related
transaction costs and where applicable borrowing
costs. Subsequently, it is carried at fair value. Changes
in fair values are presented in profit or loss as part of
other gains, net.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA MBS ERARMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.7 Intangible assets

@)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identified net
assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUSs"), or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level.

Computer software

Computer software licenses are stated at
historical cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost
over their estimated useful lives, which are five
years.

Golf club membership

Golf club membership is stated at historical cost.
The club membership has an indefinite useful life
which is not subject to amortisation and is tested
annually for impairment.
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2.8

2.9
2.9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful
life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units).

Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets
Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

() those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income, or
through profit or loss); and

(i) those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed
in profit or loss.

2.8

2.9
2.9.1

fre SRR M

RAUEENHMAEEKRS
TR B E (&)

FEMEERE
BEMNERACAFHNELEE
NMe#E  FFAA—REZERE "
BB F BN EEE TR L
BRE g gETEHEENH -
WMEFEHRBEREHRAAKREE
BEEIEWER - EtEEFET
MENR BEREBEEENREER
HER Y E SRR - BI85
wﬁmﬁﬁﬁ°ﬂ%@%ﬁ%§?
NP EHNBREHEKR AN EEER
EREEMERNRSE - ST ME
WMEMS  EERBILAHMNR S
MARREKFEREE - ZABEAE
ERAERAREE EBIREME
F&é?@ﬂ@é?i 5 i) B IR
{ﬁ/m}\ °

R M 0 3 A (B R S
85 E B AR R E R E 2
el -

TMEE
/\ A»E

AEBEBRTIAERMNEHE
EETOE:

LT RE

() HEBRATFEIFIENSRMEE
(T am et A E fth 2 m U &5 3k 5T
AfEzE) R

(i) HEBHEXNAGFENEBREE -

DEGTEREESREENEY
$+§£&Eﬁd%//lh£m/ﬁ\%@$,ﬁﬂﬁﬁf€ °

g ERK  NREBRERFEM
(MEXFRAFEFABRZNER
BEVBNBECREEEERGERS
RAGTESTREE - BRAFEFTA
BaHcEMEENR U AFTAR
mAE e

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ % 169



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BRI R

2.9
2.9

29.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gain and loss
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in debt
instruments, this will depend on the business model in
which the investment is held. For investments in equity
instruments, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and measurement
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There
are two measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on
a debt investment that is subsequently measured
at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in the profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method.
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2.9
2.9.2

293

294

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

° Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do
not meet the criteria for amortised cost or financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income are measured at fair value through profit
or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at fair value through profit
or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net in
“other gains/(losses), net” in the period in which it
arises.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has the following types of financial assets
subject to HKFRS 9’s expected credit loss model:

° Trade receivables

° Other receivables

o Cash and cash equivalents

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its assets
carried at amortised cost.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires

expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.9
2.9.4

2.10

A H5 R M ot

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit loss, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
then impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit
losses.

To manage risk arising from cash and cash equivalents,
the Group only transacts with state-owned or reputable
financial institutions. There has been no recent history
of default in relation to these financial institutions.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and must
be enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
Company or the counterparty.
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2.11

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and
other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
provision for impairment.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less, and bank overdrafts. In the consolidated statement
of financial position, bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities.

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

2.14 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA MBS ERARMEE

==

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.15 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the profit or loss over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during
the period of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying
assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

(@)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the statements of financial position
date in the countries where the Group operates
and generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the consolidated
statement of financial position date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

fre SRR M

2 WAUEERHMBAUEEKRS
TR B E (&)

2.16

B 5 & 3 3E P 18 B

HAT AR BENEELERIA

MIBERE AN ER

HEERH A2

MRS EREREEANEBA
BARIBR SN - EZ BN BB D
BIREMmEmKmsl B ENERT
TR -

(@)

BNEAFR 15 71

BIEPr S M X H iR AR E
EEMAENELERRBE AL
BRRNMEMRIERBHD R
KEBEEEEMNBRAGHE - B
I B b A B A B R AT AR
BR B 15 00 T HA FF 1l AR R AR
o XHEBERBR TRIEES
78 [7) 54 755 14 BB ST RO TR R RR OE
B

i ST PS8

B EE R
ELERBRIANBABEEER
BERAENREREINEGS
MEHEROEDENZEME
EMERMEEZRE - R WK
EFEHABREYBENT
REER - AR - A R fH
EREFBHREREERS(TE
BREBAMPHEELRE
MAIETER  MEXZEHTE
EotERBENHEE
AT ERCRR « IBIEPTE I Y 2%
ARGEEFBRRKAMAIE
WA EEDH MG AEFH
HIEERSHREEZRKEL
ENHEERAEREH S E
AR B R (FOEG) MmEE °

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ 175



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BRI R

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax
(Continued)

(0)

Deferred income tax (Continued)
Inside basis differences (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred
income tax liability where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries only to the extent that
it is probable the temporary difference will reverse
in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference
can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.17 Employee benefits

(@)

Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme. Where employees leave the MPF
scheme prior to the full vesting of the employer’s
contributions, the amount of forfeited contributions
cannot be used to reduce the contributions
payable by the Group.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate outside Hong Kong are required to
participate in the central pension schemes (the
“Pension Schemes”) operated by the respective
local governments. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentages of their payroll
costs to the Pension Schemes. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the Pension Schemes
is to pay the ongoing contributions under
the Pension Schemes. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the Pension
Schemes.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses, after taking into consideration of the
profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders
and certain adjustments. The Group recognises
a provision where contractually obliged or where
there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.17 Employee benefits (Continued)

(c) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up
to the date of consolidated statement of financial
position.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(d) Long service payments

Employees who have completed the required
number of years of service to the Group are
eligible for long service payments.

A provision is recognised in respect of the
probable future long service payment expected
to be made. The provision is measured as the
present value of expected future payments,
consideration is given to expected future wage and
salary levels, experience of employee departures
and periods of service.

2.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

178 Q P GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED E£2&£EZERER AT

RAUEENHMAEEKRE
TR B E (&)

217 EE®F (&)

© EERIEF
BENFHRENREHRE R
BINEEZTERER #E
RAMBRAKREHMIIRRE
PR e RIS M & £ W F R &
EHRFEBROGEFEECHFD
B

BRENBEEBEREBRENNEE
RS TT SHER ©

d EHR%E
ETEEERASERS M E
EBRZFH AEREREK
R E -

T8 5% 2K AT B S A 2 & B AR 7
OG- ZRERRE
HARNANREFE L&
BEAARKIERFSKF
B TR B RC 8% A K IR 7S B o

2.18 & &

WMARBEABESHMELREG A
EREFTEE LALFTEAEER
MEAENEE BB KASRE
fhat - RIRERBE - TEHAR
REBEERBE

WEZEBAUEET REEEFR
HERANEBENEECHRAIEER &
BEREEZETNEN - AEER
—EEBEMNAESNER—ERE
HENERR DO EESE )
IRHEREE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.18 Provisions (Continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

Contingent asset is not recognised as receipt of the
amount remains uncertain.

219 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date on which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any incentives receivable; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease reflects the lessee exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined,
or the entity’s incremental borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR BTSRRI EE
2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 2 MEBEEERHMOUEERE
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY AR EBE(E)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
2.19 Leases (Continued) 219 HE (&)
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising FTAREERKAGE  BFEUT
the following: B
e the amount of the initial measurement of lease s HEBEBEWVIFHESLE:
liability;
e any lease payments made on or before the e MNHWBBES ZATFTERNEMR
commencement date less any lease incentives MENK  REMSNEMNE
received; and ERE R
e any initial direct costs. o  (EMFIBEEMKAE -
Details about the Group’s leasing policies are provided FEEAEEHEBRENFBEDAE
in note 20 for the right-of-use assets and note 31 for MU E20(EEE AREE) KW
lease liabilities respectively. JN(EEEEa®E)-
2.20 Research and development expenses 220 TR X
Research expenditure and development expenditure TEERENERNCRELEED
that do not meet the criteria to capitalise as an MERAXREERERRBRAX L
intangible assets are recognised as an expense as Al 1 58 73 B 2 B [ 35 A0 AR R H 12 B
incurred. Development costs previously recognised MITEeRRRBEE °
as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a
subsequent period.
2.21 Dividend distribution 2.21 R B 2K
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders DETARARENRE  RAR
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated AIRESKES(WNEB) R ERER
statement of financial position and the Company’s HRARNEAEENGA MBI RE
financial statements in the period in which the dividends RAREBHHBHREFERBAEE -

are approved by the Company’s shareholders or
directors, where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

2.22 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance. The Group
does not use any derivative financial instruments for
speculative purposes.

Risk management is carried out by management of
the Group. Formal and informal management meetings
are held to identify significant risks and to develop
procedures to deal with any risks in relation to the
Group’s businesses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA MBS ERARMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk

(@)

()

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in the People’s
Republic of China and Hong Kong (“PRC”) with
most transactions denominated in either Renminbi
(“RMB”), HKD or United States dollars (“USD”).
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
primarily through sales and purchases transactions
that are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the relevant subsidiary. The
Group considers its foreign currency exposure
mainly arises from the exposure of RMB and USD.
As HKD is pegged to USD, the Group believes
the exposure to transactions denominated in USD
which are entered into by group companies with a
functional currency of HKD to be insignificant.

The Group manages its exposures to foreign
currency transactions by monitoring the level
of foreign currency receipts and payments. The
Group ensures that the net exposure to foreign
exchange risk is kept to an acceptable level from
time to time. The Group also regularly reviews
the portfolio of local and international customers
and the currencies in which the transactions
are denominated so as to minimise the Group’s
exposure to foreign exchange risk. The Group
intends to use derivative financial instruments
to manage the foreign currency exposure. The
derivative financial instruments must be in the
same currency as the hedged item.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, approximately
HK$47,090,000 and HK$116,319,000 of the
Group’s borrowings were denominated in HKD
respectively. At present, the management does
not expect that there will be any significant
foreign exchange risk associated with the Group’s
borrowings and the Group did not use any
financial instruments to hedge its foreign exchange
risk arising from the Group’s borrowings during the
year.
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3.1
(@)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(1)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% against HKD with
all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit
for the year would have been approximately
HK$16,338,000 and HK$15,715,000 lower/higher
respectively, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
loss/gain on translation of trade receivables, inter-
company balances and cash and cash equivalents
denominated in non-functional currency of the
relevant group companies.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the impact on exchange difference for EUR
is immaterial as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
due to the minimal amount of balances, and
accordingly no sensitivity analysis is performed.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises from
borrowings of floating rate. The Group is exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate bank borrowings. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly related to the fluctuation
of Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate arising from
the Group’s borrowings.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, if interest
rates increased or decreased by 50 basis points
and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s pre-tax profit would decrease or increase
by approximately HK$235,000 and HK$582,000
respectively as a result of increase or decrease in
net interest expense.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed rate short-term bank deposits
(Note 25) and lease liabilities (Note 31). The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider other necessary
action when significant interest rate exposure is
anticipated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA MBS ERARMEE

==

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Continued)

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets except for the cash and bank balances,
the Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates. However, the exposure in this regard
is considered to be minimal as the bank balances
are all short-term in nature. It is the Group’s policy
to keep its borrowings at floating rate of interest
So as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from cash deposited with
banks and financial institutions, trade receivables and
other receivables.

Credit risk on trade debtors is managed by the
management of the individual business units and
monitored by the Group’s management on a group
basis. Most customers are sizable and renowned
companies. Management assesses the credit quality
of smaller customers by considering their financial
position, past experience therewith and other relevant
factors. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly
monitored.

The Group has set up long-term cooperative
relationship with these customers. In view of the history
of business dealings with the customers and the sound
collection history of the receivables due from them,
management believes that there is no material credit
risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding receivable
balance due from these customers. Management makes
periodic assessment on the recoverability of trade and
other receivables based on historical payment records,
the length of the overdue period, the financial strength
of the debtors and whether there are any disputes
with the debtors. The Group’s historical experience in
collection of trade receivables falls within the recorded
allowances and the directors are of the opinion that
adequate provision for uncollectible receivables has
been made.

In respect of cash deposited with banks and financial
institutions, the credit risk is considered to be low as
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit rating agencies.
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3.1
(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
throughout each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at
the date of initial recognition. The Group considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

° internal credit rating
° external credit rating

° actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
customers’ ability to meet its obligations

° actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of customers

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of customers

o significant changes in the expected performance
and behavior of customers, including changes in
the payment status of customers in the Group and
changes in the operating results of the customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA MBS ERARMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade receivables.
The Group considers the credit risk characteristics
and the days past due to measure the expected
During the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022, the expected losses
rate for customers of sales of goods is minimal,
given there is no history of significant defaults from
customers and insignificant impact from forward-
looking estimates. The assessed expected credit
losses for the trade receivables are not material.

credit losses.

The Group made no write-off of trade receivables
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and

2022.

The Group has significant concentration of credit
risk from customers. As at 31 December 2023 and
2022, 79% and 83%, respectively of total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s five largest
customers. Based on the past payment history,
the directors believe that the credit risk inherent
in Group’s outstanding trade receivables from this

group of customers is low.

186 Q P GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED E£2&£EIZERER AT

3.1
()

B EREREGE)

%%H@l%hm

m/\

(1)

% (%)

W%WWM

AR E RS AE B M
BEERFERRENEBRE
EBRFHREE  ZTERFF
SATEEZEEFKIAER 2

TEHEEBEERE AEEZE
EEERBEALEBHAK
M?;%%FE%EOKQE
TE=FRZEF+=
AZ+—HLFE ERBHE
TEREEFNE KEH
MAEEGHTOTETE R
MEFHEEYW 2 EHEIBER
BIE - EHERKE 2 EFHE
EHEEEBSBITREK -

REBEZZE =K _2 -
F+-_A=+—HIFE &
SETEMEZEZEKGRE -

AEBBARERFMEAREF
WEERB R-_T-_=FK
2 _F+=-A=+—8"
XE$EI£K%ﬁMfWﬁ
DRMEE SRR R IB AR
79% %83% o E R iBE A A
ﬁ'%$mﬁkéﬂﬁﬁgﬁ
ZAREBAEEESREKR
MEEEERBERIE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

(1)

(i)

(itr)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group monitors the outstanding debts from
its customers individually due to the concentration
of credit risk. Based on historical payment trend,
there is no correlation between the risk of default
occurring and the collection past-due status as
long as there is no significant change in the credit
rating of the customers. Historically, the Group’s
loss arising from risk of default and time value of
money is negligible.

Other receivables

Other debt instruments at amortised cost include
other receivables.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, management
assessed that the expected credit losses for
the other receivables are not material when they
do not have default history and the issuer has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

Cash and cash equivalents

To manage the risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents, the Group only transacts with
reputable commercial banks which are all high-
credit-quality financial institutions. There has been
no recent history of default in relation to these
financial institutions. The expected credit loss of
cash and cash equivalents is close to zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA MBS ERARMEE

==

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that an entity will
encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated

with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial assets.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the availability of
funding from an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities from leading banks.

Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group’s management aims to maintain flexibility
in funding by maintaining availability under committed
credit lines.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity reserve which comprises cash and cash
equivalents (Note 25) and undrawn banking facilities
(Note 30) on the basis of expected cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the end of the reporting period to
the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Balances due within 12 months equal to their carrying
amounts as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

fre SRR M

3 MBEREREEE)

¥ EREEE)
© NnBEZMEERE)

Within
1 year or Between Between
repayable 1 and 2 2and 5 Over
on demand years years 5 years Total
-ERg
REREE —-£ZME WMEZRE HENLE @t
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET FHT AT FET TET
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=%
+=A=+-8
Trade payable EUL S 64,436 - - - 64,436
Accruals, provisions and other [T Ef  BE R E
payables (excluding accrued b [E N Z A (T &
staff costs, other taxes BEGEIRNA
payables and provision for H fth B 378 Rt
social insurance and housing &RB NI REAE
provident fund) e ) 32,394 - - - 32,394
Borrowings b 47,879 - - - 47,879
Lease liabilities HEERE 1,915 1,164 - - 3,079
146,624 1,164 - — 147,788
As at 31 December 2022 R=-Z=-=
+=ZA=1+-H
Trade payable BHREMNFE 68,159 - - - 68,159
Accruals, provisions and other fEst B - BEE L HE
payables (excluding accrued b B Z A (T &
staff costs, other taxes EREFABEINA
payables and provision for H fth B B8 Rt
social insurance and housing 8RB MEREAE
provident fund) SEE) 23,873 - - - 23,873
Borrowings EE 116,365 - - - 116,365
Lease liabilities HEARE 2,267 641 - - 2,908
210,664 641 - - 211,305

As at 31

gross within 12 months.

December 2023, the Group had no
outstanding forward foreign currency contracts (2022:
sell US$14,000,000 for RMB90,900,000) which settle in

RZZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H &%
BRERmATFRENEMIIESHN(Z
T Z 4 : B 114,000,000% 7T A B

A A K #90,900,0007T) » I 7121
ARABREES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA MBS ERARMEE

3.2

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
The Group uses its capital and bank borrowings to
finance its operations.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as debt divided by total capital.
Debt is calculated as total sum of borrowings and
lease liabilities. Total capital is calculated as “equity”
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

3.2

B EREREGE)

EXEREE
AEBEREANBERERREALAE
BERFELENRED R ARRE
B R 3 7 Ho A 7 25 46 B8 & 1= LR
BAMRHHREERRBAREE
ERA - AKBENAEEEERR
TERASEXBREHES -

RERFAHBERARE ~AKEA
HEBERNTERROKE - MERE
BEN BITHRIEEEENR

DIER -

8% A F — A E R AR
BERABLREREAR R
DEB B AR BESE - BT
BRRBEAENENTE - BA
1 FIR AR £ B H HROR 2R BT 0 [ 25
o

As at 31 December

R+=-—H=+—H
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT T
Borrowings CEN 47,879 116,319
Lease liabilities HEaE 2,949 2,859
Debt & 7% 50,828 119,178
Total equity B 834,720 842,841
Gearing ratio EXRBERE 6.1% 141%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

Fair Value Hierarchy

Financial instruments that are measured at fair
value are disclosed by the level of the following fair
value measurement hierarchy:

Level 1 — quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices).

Level 3 — inputs for the asset or liability that
are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the date of the statement of financial position. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market transactions
on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market
price used for financial assets held by the Group
is the current bid price. No financial instrument is
included in Level 1 as at 31 December 2023 and
2022.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximize the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates.

The Group’s derivative financial instruments are
included in Level 2 of the fair value measurement
hierarchy (Note 24).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BRI R

3

3.3

3.4

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

i. Fair Value Hierarchy (Continued)

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into
and out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end
of the reporting period.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, there were no transfer between the Level
1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no
transfer into or out of Level 3 from or to Level 1 or
Level 2 fair value measurements.

i.  Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values

Specific valuation technique used to value financial
instrument includes the present value of future
cash flows based on forward exchange rates at
the balance sheet date for derivatives.

Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there were no
financial assets or financial liabilities which were subject
to offsetting, enforceable master netting or similar
agreements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are addressed below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Estimated allowance on inventories
Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and applicable
selling expenses. These estimates are based
on current market conditions and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products
of a similar nature. It could change significantly
as a result of changes in customer taste and
competitor actions in response to industry cycles.
Management reassesses these estimates at the
end of each reporting period.

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives
and related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment. Such estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment. The recoverable amount
of a cash generating unit (“CGU”) is determined
based on value-in-use calculations which
require the use of assumptions. The calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a
five-years-period. Cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using the estimated growth
rates. These growth rates are consistent with
forecasts included in industry reports specific to
the industry in which each CGU operates. Details
of impairment charge, key assumptions and impact
of possible changes in key assumptions and
impact of possible changes in key assumptions
are disclosed in Note 18.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c) Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

Judgement is required to determine key
assumptions adopted in the valuation models
for impairment review purpose. Changing
the assumptions selected by management in
assessing impairment could materially affect
the result of the impairment test and as a result
affect the Group’s financial condition and results
of operations. If there is a significant adverse
change in the key assumptions applied, it may be
necessary to take additional impairment charge to
the profit or loss.

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

(a) Revenue

4 B SRR HE (&)

(c) k&R EEREE)

BE AR EROEEEREL
PITER AR RO B B2 R AR 5 DN IA HI B
ERERAIRERTEZENR
REFA AL EORER BN ER
EEBEARFE RKMEEARSE
B BRR R EERE - 6
ZEARBRELEEANNE
B BINREEBAEATA

5 KWaEkosHEH

(a) W=

Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
—g=-= —ET=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET
Revenue I 2=

Sales of paper and other products HEAR MK HEMEM 1,039,199 1,276,392
Sales of goods are recognised at the point in time when HEEYRERERBRKERINE
a group entity has delivered products to customers and FiE1T ﬁﬁ ERRTENMERY

fulfilled all the performance obligations as stipulated in
the sales contracts.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all performance
obligations not yet satisfied by the Group were from
contracts with original expected duration of less than
one year. Therefore, as permitted by the relevant
practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied performance
obligations were not disclosed.
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(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker that are used for making strategic
decisions and assessing performance. The chief
operating decision-maker is identified as the executive
directors of the Group. The executive directors assess
the performance of the operating segments based on
a measure of gross profit for the purposes of allocating
resources and assessing performance. These reports
are prepared on the same basis as the consolidated
financial statements.

The management has identified two reportable
segments based on sales channels, namely (i) web
sales and (ii) original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”)
sales.

Accounting policies of revenue recognition:

The Group principally derives revenue from sales of
products.

Revenue from the sales of products is recognised
when control of the products are transferred to
customers. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for goods sold, stated net of
discounts, returns and value-added taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when specific criteria have been
met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

(a) OEM sales

Revenue from OEM sales (mainly including
products of greeting cards, tabletop games,
educational items and premium packaging items)
directly to customers is recognised when control
of the goods has transferred, in accordance with
relevant shipping terms, to customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA MBS ERARMEE

(a)

==

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition: (Continued)
(b)  Web sales

Revenue from web sales (mainly including
products of playing cards, tabletop games and
puzzles) directly to customers is recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when
the products are accepted by the customers, to
customers.

Upon entering into a contract with customer, the
Group obtains rights to receive consideration from the
customer and assumes performance obligations to
transfer goods to the customer. The combination of
those rights and performance give rise to a net asset
or a net liability depending on relationship between
the remaining rights and performance obligations.
The contract is an asset if the measure of remaining
conditional rights to consideration exceeds the satisfied
performance obligations. Conversely, the contract is a
liability and is recognised as a contract liability if the
measure of remaining performance obligations exceeds
measure of the remaining rights.
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(b)

NOWSTOHECDN&XDNEDHWWCMLQWEMHWS
iR B B R M

REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5 WaEkosHER(E)

INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment information

(b) 7 #HE R

ARTEERHEORE-F =4
R-F-—#+-B=t+-BLEE
5 S ARSI

The segment information provided to the executive
directors for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z_-_=f1+-A=+—-HLFE

Web sales OEM sales Total
MU EE OEME & st
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
FET FET FET
Segment revenue from RKEIINBEFH
external customers 7 36 W = 193,418 845,781 1,039,199
Cost of sales 5 & A AR (33,282) (649,825) (683,107)
Gross profit Sl 160,136 195,956 356,092
Other gains, net H bW #2505 58 8,428
Other income H b ug A 10,154
Selling and distribution HERDHERAX
expenses (101,603)
Administrative expenses THAX (182,650)
Finance income, net g U AT R 3,797
Profit before income tax B BT 15 T3¢ A 4 A1 94,218
Income tax expense P15 Bt X (15,950)
Profit for the year F N A 78,268
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B EmERMEE
5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5 WHERDIBER(E)
INFORMATION (Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) o EBE R (&)
Year ended 31 December 2022
BHE_ZT-_—_F#+-_A=1+—HLEFE
Web sales OEM sales Total
48 ufi 5 & OEMEE & st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAT
Segment revenue from KEIINBEFH
external customers 7 36 W = 193,706 1,082,686 1,276,392
Cost of sales 5 & B AR (41,560) (818,068) (859,628)
Gross profit EH 152,146 264,618 416,764
Other gains, net H b Uy 25 0F 58 2,519
Other income Ha g A 19,389
Selling and distribution HERDHEAX
expenses (110,399)
Administrative expenses THRAX (185,226)
Finance income, net BEWAFRE 86
Profit before income tax B BT 15 75 B A1 143,133
Income tax expense FrisBiRA (16,294)
Profit for the year F N5 T 126,839
Revenue from major customers who have individually RETEXFPEHEAEERK R
contributed to 10% or more of the total revenue of the 10% sk A E) MMz T

Group are as follows:

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+t-ALEE

2023 2022

=T
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#& T F& T
Customer A ZEA 191,056 302,419
Customer B ZFB 263,793 248,739
Customer C 2FC 106,154 106,827
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRE SRR MR
5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5 WEkoIER(E)
INFORMATION (Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) o EBE R (&)
Revenue from external customers by location, based on BEBEINE M - R E D25
the destination of delivery, are as follows: MEPW ST :

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+t-ALEE
2023 2022

—E_=HF —=F=E- =
HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx TE T

The United States of America ENBREZRRH(EBRD

(the “USA”) 695,088 866,131
Europe &M 173,903 232,620
The PRC e 79,981 83,410
Others EHAh 90,227 94,231

1,039,199 1,276,392

Non-current assets, other than deferred income tax IRBDEEELEMSHREE - &
assets, debt instruments at amortised cost and equity BHKAVNENEELARERF
investment at fair value through profit or loss are Bt A\BRmaRERERINUEN
located as follows: Ik

Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2023 2022

—_=E2-= —_=E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F& T TH& T
The PRC e 540,596 536,893
Vietnam fivgea) 99,677 50,364
640,273 587,257
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e ISR M

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5 WmEkoIER(E)
INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Contract liabilities (c) &XEE
The Group has recognised the following liabilities AEEDHEFRANERIUTE
related to contracts with customers: & :

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—8H
2023 2022
—E-=F =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Advances received from customers BREFBR 16,935 16,896
Customer loyalty programme EERBHE & 166 257
17,101 17,153
The following table shows how much of the revenue TREVNREFEEENNEES
recognised relates to carried-forward contract liabilities HeaEmMERNKE SR :

that were satisfied in a prior year:

Year ended 31 December
BE+T-A=1+t—HLEE
2023 2022

— = — = —ge = =

—_ =

HK$°000 HK$’000
FET TET

Advances received from customers BEEFRR 16,504 10,549
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RE S EmERMEE
OTHER GAINS, NET 6 HMRz=FT
Year ended 31 December
BEZE+t=-A=+—BHLEE
2023 2022
—E-= —_FT-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#E T T T
Other gains, net Hihl =5 F 58
Foreign exchange gain bE H s 7,109 22,414
Fair value gain/(loss) on derivative PTESMTAANTE
financial instruments (Note 24) Weak /(& 8)(H iE24) 1,343 (19,879)
Loss on disposals of property, plant and &M% - MEN&REZ
equipment (Note 33) & 18 (B #£33) (24) (16)
8,428 2,519
OTHER INCOME 7 Hag A
Year ended 31 December
BET-A=1+—HLEE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FA T
Other income H g A
Rental income RGN 51 50
Sales of scrap materials 5 & BE R 7,150 11,688
Government grants (Note) IS %8 B (i 2%) 2,753 7,291
Others HAh 200 360
10,154 19,389
Note: B it
There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to ZEBPULEMEREXNNGESIEMKA
these grants. The Group did not benefit directly from any other forms FH - AEBVTEEZEEMAMEROK
of government assistance. NEBPZE -
Rental income from investment property is recognised HEMENHSWALEZERNIE
on a straight-line basis over the term of the leases. FAHEBRAER -
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RE SR M R
8 EXPENSES BY NATURE 8 HBMEBEESHHX
Year ended 31 December
BZ+t=-A=+—HLEE
2023 2022
—s—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Raw materials and consumables used BT B £ K& OE # & 316,857 413,383
Changes in inventories of finished goods A & & ¥ K s 2 7 &

and work in progress =) (1,376) 24,848
Provision for inventory obsolescence T ERE (A E21)

(Note 21) 1,433 10,443
Employee benefit expenses (including EERFHFAXZ (BIEES

directors’ emoluments) (Note 9) B &) (B 7%9) 343,897 356,240
Sub-contracting charges PBEEM 90,752 121,074
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BERXREITE

equipment (Note 15) (H1i£15) 51,275 53,160
Transportation expenses ERpBR 40,911 54,429
Electricity expenses BEMX 20,469 20,770
Repair and maintenance expenses HERBEEER 13,250 13,223
Technical maintenance support iy 4 v IR 8,611 5,829
Service charges of payment gateways @@ REE 6,901 6,660
Amortisation of right-of-use assets EREEESE

(Note 20) (#1:#20) 6,206 6,419
Legal and professional fee FERBEEEA 6,013 5,204
Sales commission HEMS 5,661 7,394
Trade credit insurance E5 8RR 2,414 3,275
Auditor’s remuneration % EL R B &

— Audit services — RS 2,190 2220

— Non-audit services — EEZRS 490 622
Short-term lease expense (Note 20) REIMER X (Hat20) 1,507 1,516
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEE(NFZ18)

(Note 18) 1,233 930
Others Hib 48,666 47,614
Total cost of sales, selling and HEKA - HERDH

distribution expenses and X MITER R X 858

administrative expenses 967,360 1,155,253
The research and development expenses charged for HE_Z-_=FR-_ZF__F+=A1

ST HEFEXNNRERSD
5l #9 328,036,000 7T %40,839,000
BT TRBREEERNMAX M
FRR M B I B 78 fn AT EE -

the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 were
approximately HK$28,036,000 and HK$40,839,000,
respectively, which mainly comprised of employee
benefit expense, raw materials and consumables used,
and depreciation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE S EmERMEE
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EERAMAXZ(BIEEETHN
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ £)
EMOLUMENTS)
Year ended 31 December
BZ+=-A=+—-HLEE
2023 2022
—_E_-= g
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e B4R OEBRL 283,657 299,000
Pension costs defined contribution plans ER& ik & — REH K
T2l 45,778 45,348
Other employee benefits Hivlg 518 F 14,462 11,892
343,897 356,240
(a) Independent non-executive directors (@) BYFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive AEERMBIFNTESTIHN
directors during the years were as follows: WS :

Year ended 31 December
BE+-HA=1t—HLEE
Name of directors 2023 2022

—E== —F-

—_—— —

HK$’000 HK$’000
TH T T& T

Independent non-executive B FHTEE

directors
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung Nicholas, PR B & 5 A -
MH, JP pEFHE A F#HLt 300 274
Prof. Cheng Man Chung Daniel, %5 8% ¥#% -
BBS, MH, JP WEFEE  KBEEE -
A Fap+ 300 274
Mr. Ng Shung, REKE -
JP (Australia) A Fap+ (CEXF D) 300 274
900 822
There were no other emoluments payable to the FA - BEEMENBEZIEHN
independent non-executive directors during the TEEFWNE(ZZE_—_F:8|)-
year (2022: nil).
Mr. Chan Hiu Fung Nicholas, Prof. Cheng Man PREEIE A BXRHE R
Chung Daniel and Mr. Ng Shung were appointed REEER_ZE-NE+A
as independent non-executive directors of the :+EI?I%§TE7%$ ﬂﬁi#
Company on 20 December 2019 with effect from WiTEE BT -_ZTF—H
11 January 2020. +—HEBERK-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EEEIMI(BEEEMS)

(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ (&)

EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief (b) HITESRFTETHAER
executive
The remuneration of the executive directors for the BHE_T-_=—"FK=-FT_-—
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set +Z A=+ —BLEFE 1T
out below: EENHMEINDOT

Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-B-CEZA=t-ALEE
Employer's
Allowances  contribution
Discretionary  and benefits  to pension

Name of directors Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme Total
BER BImBfié

fe it REEL LUk g [:F @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Tén Tén Tén Tén TR TR

Executive directors U7gs

M. Cheng Wian Wa HEgEE - 1,167 - 1,158 12 2397
M. Yeung Keng Wu Kenneth #4554 - 2211 - 415 17 2,643
Ms. Liu Shuk Yu Sanny Eamat - 1,951 - 829 18 2,798
Ms. Hui L Kivan HHERT - 650 500 128 18 1,296
Mr. Chan Wang Tao Thomas B2 %% - 1,697 1,000 620 18 3,335
Mr. Mak Chin Pang REERE - 1,307 1,000 468 18 2,193

- 8983 2500 3618 101 16202
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B B R M

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EEREFHEXX(BEEEMI)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ (#&)
EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)
(b) Executive directors and the chief (b) MITEEREFETHAE
executive (Continued) (#&)

Year ended 31 December 2022
[ ECECCETCACT-ALER
Employer's
Discretionary ~ Allowances and  contribution to

Name of directors Fees Salaries bonuses  henefits in kind  pension scheme
2Bk BImRAest

Be s mETL i

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000

Tin AT TEn TER TiEn

Executive directors H7gs

Mr. Cheng Wan Wai Bk - 1,166 150 1187 18 2471
M. Yeung Keng Wu Kenneth 34554 - 2211 150 394 18 2773
Ms. LuShukYoSamy — BEfAE - 1,051 100 856 18 2925
Ms. Hui Li Kivan FHERL - 650 700 110 18 1478
Mr. Chan Wang Tao Thomas ~ BZE %4 - 1,697 1,400 587 18 3,702
Mr Mak Chin Pang EREEL - 1,306 1,400 43 18 3167
- 8,981 3,900 3,527 108 16,516
Mr. Cheng Wan Wai, Mr. Yeung Keng Wu Kenneth, RZZE-—NF—H BEEL
Ms. Liu Shuk Yu Sanny, Ms. Hui Li Kwan, Mr. Chan A IBERBLE - BRI -
Wang Tao Thomas and Mr. Mak Chin Pang were BT BREBEERE
appointed as executive directors of the Company REBEEBZERBARRAINHR
in January 2019. TEE -
The remuneration shown above represents EXFREMEZSTFESER
remuneration received from the Group by AEBEWBRARIZEENIES
these directors in their capacity as directors or e A% EWE R B - B &
employees of the subsidiaries of the Group. No EERBE_T_=FK=ZF
directors waived any emolument during the years %+ A=+—HLEEFE
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. WEEMME ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BRI R

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Executive directors and the chief
executive (Continued)

No director fees were paid to these directors in
their capacity as directors of the Company or the
operating companies and no emoluments were
paid by the Company or the operating companies
to the directors as an inducement to join the
Company or the operating companies, or as
compensation for loss of office during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include five directors for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
respectively, whose emoluments were reflected in
the analysis presented in Note 9(b).

Directors’ retirement and termination
benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable
by any directors in respect of their other services
in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company or its subsidiaries’ undertaking
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

No payment was made to the directors as
compensation for early termination of appointment
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.
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9 EERIFEX(BREEN:)

(#%&)

(b)

(c)

(d)

HITEERTETHAE
(#8)

REBEZZE-_=FF=F=-=
F+—_A=+-—B1FE #§
ERIERBARAI RN EBERRE
EMRAZSESINESHS -
MARBREERANERE
EXNMEERMARRA
EERNAICRBIIERBER

g -

EFEEREHFAL
HE-_Z-_=Z=FrR=-_ZT-—
+-A=+—BItFE K&
ERrEsmesHm AToReRER
ZEE - HB & R M F90) 2
HIE) DT R R BR o

EERARREERER

REBEE-_ZTE-_=FK_FT_-—
F+-_A=+—HBLEFE %
BEEREBBAEREARAL
HWB AR EH 2 EMRHE M
T o T TR AR B A -

REBEE-_Z-_=ZFK_2F—-—
F+-—_A=Z+—BIEFE - #§
B EERAKLEZEMNSN
ERFHE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

(e)

()

(9)

Consideration provided to third
parties for making available directors’
services

No payment was made to any former employers
of the directors for making available the services
of them as a director of the Company during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Information about loans, quasi-

loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate
by and connected entities with such
directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings
in favour of the directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or
contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 35, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the
Group was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the years or
at any time during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

fre SRR M

9 EERIFAX(BREEENE)
(nﬁ)

(e) RERHEERBEDME=F
RERE

REBEEZZE-_=FF=-F=-=
FH+-_A=1+—B1EFE  #
EREEHNAEAARARFTESmMMA
EEMAIEREXRESINE
] 3R I8 o

(f) BRERESE - ZZS5E
EEHNEABRREZ

%%%ﬁ@ﬁ?@ﬂﬁ%%ﬂﬁﬁ
FCoEUEREREMRS
B &

REBEE_ZE_ZFR_F_-_—
$+ A=+—HLFE #
\\\\\\\ BERES IXREESEH
miAlﬁ&ﬁ&ﬁ§$ﬁﬁ
HHNEEBONER  BUERHK
HiiZ5 -

EPE’JE?(#E%&

Br M sESSFTH B E N AEE
METVEASEEKEBA
ARRZEEEEKMEERES
BEEREMRFERIEE
ZE=FRZIFZF+=
A=+ BULEFEXMAEHRT
BHEARS  THRAELH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

10 FINANCE INCOME, NET

Finance income

10 AEWAFHE
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+t—HLEE
2023

BEWA

—_E—=

HK$’000
FERT

2022
= —

=

HK$'000
TAET

Bank interest income R1TF B WA 7,485 2,226
Interest income from debt instruments &7 T AR 2k A 309 154
7,794 2,380
Finance costs Al & B A
Interest expense on bank borrowings |ITERMERAX (3,945) (2,220)
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBEMBERX
(Note 20) (K1it20) (52) (74)
(3,997) (2,294)
Finance income, net mMEWRANFRE 3,797 86

RIS IR AR B E B 8RR -

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

11 IEHEAX

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+T—-HLEE

2023 2022

—E-= —_ET-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FaExT FET
Current income tax Eﬂ HRFT 15 H% 9,147 16,186
Deferred income tax (Note 32) EREFT BB (K 3232) 7,868 108
Over provision in prior years, net J/A{Iirﬁéﬁﬁ IR (1,065) —
15,950 16,294

EREBHFESHRBAAEHT  &&EHK
MNEBSEEETENE2EE B LE
AR T 1528.25% Bt R FL ™
FMBE2E B A LW E R B s g ik
16.5% L X B - T F A F 155 M
BHEHBTEEEETEERN B
HEIZ16.5% 8 — B K EHH o

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong
Kong profits tax, the first HK$2 million of assessable
profits of a qualifying group entity in Hong Kong will be
taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The assessable profits of
group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC
are subject to the PRC Corporate Income Tax at the
rate of 25% during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulation in the PRC,
the Group’s subsidiaries, Dongguan Zensee Printing
Limited (R=E&BEIRI AR AF]) and Taunus Printing
(Heshan) Company Limited* (f& 2 EN Rl (#5 L) B R A 7))
were accredited as high-tech enterprises from 2017 and
2021 respectively, and both of them are entitled to the
preferential tax rate of 15%.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC, certain entities of the Group qualified as small-
scale and marginal profit enterprises. As a result, they
were entitled to preferential income tax rate of 5%
(2022: 2.5%) for taxable income of first RMB1 million,
and 5% (2022: 5%) for taxable income ranging from
RMB1 million to RMB3 million during the years ended
31 December 2023.

The subsidiaries established and operated in Vietham
are subject to the Vietnam Corporate Income Tax
(“CIT") at the rate of 20%, and are entitled to a 30%
reduction of CIT payable since their revenue is not
exceeding Vietnamese Dong (“WND”) 200 billion for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in
Vietnam, the Group’s subsidiary, Q P Enterprise
(Vietham) Company Limited, which was undertaking
a new investment project in an industrial park, is
entitled to tax holiday under which its taxable income
would be fully exempted from CIT for two years from
the first year an enterprise has taxable income from
a new investment project eligible for tax incentives
after offsetting prior year tax losses, followed by 50%
reduction in CIT in next four years. If an enterprise has
no taxable income for the first three years, counting
from the first year if it has turnover from a new
investment project, the tax exemption or reduction
duration shall be counted from the fourth year.

*

The English translation of company name is for reference only.
The official name is in Chinese.

fre SRR M

11 FREBAX(E)

REE_ZE_=ZFR_FT__F+=
A=+—BLEFE RPBEKILK
KEE Y B B R B B 1225% HY T K 85
MPBECEMER -

BEFEEBEERER  ~&5EF
KB AR REE BER B R AR
iEEHRGE L BRAAD A E
TE -+ FRIBE—FRERFE
EESHEmt¥ BHYZEHE15%E
BEREK o

BREFREBEERER  ~AEE
AETERASERKANEKRADE -
At iz -—=F+=-_fA=+—
BILFE BEREARBIEE T
HERHBAZESD (ZE-_—F:
25% MEBEMEBHBME  KFENT
ARBIEETEAREIAE LW
JERFTUMAZES% (ZF - —F : 5%)
MEBFMESHRBE-

FHEKIMEENEB AR AR
MBErEMSH(CEMRSH] -
HERE0%  TERHEHE-_ZT—-=
FRZFEZZF+ZA=1+—HLHF
EHRATBBE2TEREE((ME
B ZEAB30%AEMDEBSH
B e

BIEWENRBEEER A5E
# B A& Q P Enterprise (Vietnam)
Company Limited 7> T % & [& & & 7
KREBBUEELBH  HEERM
WAREL2BEHREBMNEERSEH
ME BAZCERUTZABBES
RFIEETEEPES BRI AGK
HE—FHIEEEER O EFE
o BENFHNPEMSHIESR
B0% © i E R E =F I & ER
BBWA - AR EBEESGSE
XENEFRFAE BBHBRAR
WA HRENFRAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 11 Fr5 BB < (&)

Pursuant to the laws and regulations of the British BEABHEBAHES(XBERER
Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and Cayman Islands, the Group is E¥ %J)& MEBBEREREHR XK
not subject to any income tax in the BVI and Cayman REE-_ZE-_=—FK-_FT=-—
Islands during the years ended 31 December 2023 and E—l— A=+—RHLtFEHARR
2022. BREBREENFEHESHMEM
FRiS Mt o
The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs 7N £2 B BR BT 1S B A A A B IE B iR
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the EERFEEERTERNEH
tax calculated at domestic tax rate applicable to profits HMEFENERSBEAEUATER:

in the respective countries/jurisdictions as follows:

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+t—HLEE
2023 2022

—=E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx TE T

Profit before income tax Bx BT 15 B4 B A 94,218 143,133

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates REBBER RIEERE
applicable to profits in the respective & A E A E R

countries/jurisdictions TEGHMTIE 15,064 23,479
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 7~ A] #1%i F &2 1,652 495
Income not subject to tax HA R BB A (917) (463)
Tax effect of deductible temporary IR R AT 0 R B

differences not recognised EENBBEE 185 12
Additional tax deduction for research Tt 3% %8 SN T H0RL

and development (2,841) (5,410)
Tax losses not recognised RIERT IEJEETE 4,169 111
Utilisation of previously unrecognised BA A AER

tax losses TIE BT 18 (132) (131)
Effect of preferential tax rate in the PRC FEEEH R T E — (1,287)
Tax exemption B (165) (512)
Over provision in prior years, net NAEFEREBZFHE (1,065) —
Income tax expense Fr i8R 2 15,950 16,294
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE FOR PROFIT
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 532,000,000 during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 December 2023 and

2022.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
are based on:

Earnings

Profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company

12

fre SRR M

RAT SRR B ZEF A
BRAERN

ih%$%ﬂﬂgﬁ$ Rk
h%ﬁﬁiﬁmﬂ&@i_z
TEER-FE-_F+-R=+—H

1E M 18 F Z #9532,000,000 /% & & A%

INHEFHEETH -

AREEBRBEE-_ZE-_=€EK=-_Z
T+ A=+ HIEFETE
BEETHNBEHSLER -

BREARNEBERNTGERIATE
EECE

27
Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2023

2022
= —

=

HK$’000
THBTT

—ZE=-=

HK$’000
FERT

RN B A i B R B AR A

80,099 126,839

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue (thousands)

P 8 (F B0

q)

Year ended 31 December
BE+-HA=1+t—HLEE
Number of share

IR BB
2023

2022
= —

BT E @B T

532,000 532,000

Earnings per share (HK cents per share)

FhkaH (&= BE)

15.06 23.84
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RE SR M R
13 DIVIDENDS 13 R E
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=+—HLEE
2023 2022
—=E=-= e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Interim dividend declared and paid RAFEEE IR &K
in respect of the current year of B HA R B ﬁiﬂ“ &
HK2.0 cents (2022: HK3.0 cents) per BR2.0B(IN( ===
ordinary share & 3.081) 10,640 15,960

Final dividend declared in respect of the #t F — A BEED &
previous financial year, approved and IR R ER R B
paid during the year of HK11.0 cents KA RKRERT

(2022: HK11.0 cents) per ordinary A% @A 1.0 1L (=
share T ZF 11.0%810L) 58,520 58,520
69,160 74,480

Final dividend proposed after the end of R&EHIAL R % Z = H

the reporting period of HK8.0 cents AR EREREBER

(2022: HK11.0 cents) per ordinary 80BN (=T &

share 11.0/8 1) 42,560 58,520
Final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting R EHEREEZZNBARRER
period is not recognised as a liability as at the end of WMEHERERERRREE -

the reporting period.
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14 SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 HE AT
RZTE-=FR_FE-_F+=A8

Details of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 and

2022 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WEAREH

Directly held
EERA
QP Holdings Limited

Indirectly held
BEKE

QP International Limited

ERARLXARAT

QP Sourcing Limited
ERNMHREERLA
Q P Printing Limited

ERDRARAA

QP (HK) Limited
ER(BR)ERAH

(i) Country of incorporation/
establishment;
(ii) Principal country of operations;
(iii) Date of incorporation/

establishment

BVI/ Hong Kong /
10 March 1998
LBERREE/EE/
“WANEZRTH

Hong Kong / Hong Kong /
16 March 2006
EB/BE/
“EERFZAtRE

Hong Kong / Hong Kong /

:22 ﬁ@ﬁ A

Hong Kong / Hong Kong /
5 July 1985
B/ ER/
“ANEELREH

Hong Kong / Hong Kong /
2 April 2002

%%)%%/

—TE-FMACA

Issued share
capital/
registered

HKS77,400
77400 T

HKS
17T

HKS10,000
10,0007 70

HK$37,000,000
37,000,000% 72

HK$10,000
10,000% 7T

fre SRR M

=t+t—BOMBARFENT:

Effective interest
held as at

RISIREREN
ERER

2023 2022
-5--g

_7__

100% 100%
100% 100%

100% 100%
100% 100%

100% 100%
100% 100%

100% 100%
100% 100%

100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities

TERE

Investment holding

REZR

Trading of paper products and
investment holding

BmBARREER

Sourcing of materials and
products

MHRERRE

Trading of paper products and
investment hold\ng
YRESRREER

Trading of paper products and
investment holding
BmBHRRERR
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iR e MG M EE
14 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 14 B A7 (&)
(i) Country of incorporation/
establishment; Issued share
(ii) Principal country of operations; capital/
(iii) Date of incorporation/ registered  Effective interest
Name of subsidiary establishment capital held as at Principal activities
(|EREL/AIEF; E8f
(ii)EEﬁ:ﬁ; F S Bx/ E@WJE,HH{%EH@ .
WRAREH (i) ERAYL/HIAH AfEx ERER IEXE
2023 2022
—E-=f -%
Indirectly held (Continued)
BAESE(R)
QP Trading Limited Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$10,000 100% 100%  Trading of paper products and
21 May 2013 o investment holding
ERZ5ARLT EB/BE/ 10,0005 72 100%  100% AEREFREELR
ZE-ZERACT-H
Dongguan Zensee Printing PRC/PRC/ HK$220,967,245 100% 100%  Manufacturing and trading of
Limited' 15 January 1992 paper products
REERARERAA EI:I/EI:I/ 220,067, 2457 T 100%  100% BEaEERES
“AAZE-ATHE
QP Enterprises Limited Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
16 November 2017 \
EROEARAT EE/EE/ 10,000 ¢ 100%  100% REBR
ZF-Et-At5H
Taunus Printing (Heshan) PRC/PRC/ US$8,800,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing and trading of
. Company Limited"* 17 November 2006 B paper products
B2 e (B BRAR RE /8 8,800000% T 100%  100% BELRERES
ZEENET-A14A
DPI Laboratory Services Limited  Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$1 100% 100%  Provision of laboratory testing
22 June 2010 o services
ERRAURBARLR ER/ER/ 187 100%  100% REERERARE
ZE-ZERAZTCH
Product Innovator Limited Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$370,000 100% 100% Trading and retailing of
26 September 1996 merchandise and investment
holdm
HEERERARAA EE/BR/ \ SO000ET  100%  100% BRESRTEURREAER
“AAREAAZTRA
Printer's Studio Limited* Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$10,000 100% 100%  Sales of website products
19 October 2009 o o
EE/EE/ 10,000 ¢ 100%  100% HREWHEER
“EENETRATAR
makeplayingcards.com Limited*  Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$10,000 100% 100%  Sales of website products
20 September 2021 o \ .
EB/BR/_2-5NATA 10,0005 7C 100%  100% HEREEER
createjigsawpuzzles.com Limited®  Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$10,000 100% 100%  Sales of website products
20 September 2021 o o
Ak/B%/-F--FAR=TH 10,000% ¢ 100%  100% REUHEER
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14 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Indirectly held (Continued)
BELE(R)

boardgamesmaker.com Limited*

Multi International Investment
. Group Limited
BEARRESEERAA

Eternity Year Investment Limited

Archer Praise Limited

LEBRAT

Radiant Keen Limited

RAERAT

Tiandin ZenSee Technology Co.,
Ltd"
REERRRARAA

Shenzhen Zen See Information
Technology Co,, Lid?*

/KWMME ﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂZ

Dongguan ZenSee Product
Testing Limitec?
%mmm/uﬁuﬂ E‘Iﬁ E

NSIH

(i) Country of incorporation/
establishment;

(ii) Principal country of operations;
(iii) Date of incorporation/
establishment

()EMAL/ HIEZ

(ii) % B

ELEEWEATE

Hong Kong / Hong Kong /
20 September 2021
EB/ER/E_-FNACTH

Hong Kong / Hong Kong /
3 March 2015
%%/E%/
F-1%=A=H

Hong Kong / Hong Kong /
24 October 2014

EB/EE/
“E-MEFAZHEA

Hong Kong / Hong Kong /
6 March 2015

B/ B8/
ZZ-n%E-A5A

Hong Kong / Hong Kong /
13 March 2015
%/%%/
—1%=RAT=H

PRC / PRC / 19 May 2006

#8428/
“ETIEIATAR

PRC /PRC /9 May 2014

hE/hE/
“E-MERANE

PRC/PRC/
9 February 2010
hE/hE/
“E-REZANA

fre SRR M

14 MEQT(HE)

Issued share
capital/
registered
capital
E&fT

Bx/
&

HKS10,000
10,000% 7T
HK$2
2B

HKS2
BT

HK$2
28T

HK$2
2B

HK$30,000,000
30,000,007 &

RMB100,000
AEH1000007

RB4,000,000

AK%4,000,0007

Effective interest
held as at

RESIRRERS

BB

2023

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%
100%

Ei

2022

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%
100%

Principal activities

IERH

Sales of website products
RBYHEER
Property holding
NEER

Property holding
nEEk

Property holding
UESED

Property holding
nEER

Trading of paper products
fm85

Provision of information
technology support for web

sales
AEGHERBEARNEIR

Provision of laboratory testing
services

RUERERARH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

14 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 14 &2 E (&)

establishment; Issued share
(ii) Principal country of operations; capital/
(iii) Date of incorporation/ registered  Effective interest
Name of subsidiary establishment capltal held as at Principal activities
(i) ZELE: WEARESEN
if kA (i)ERAL/ HIAH ERER IERR
2023 2022
k- Sk S S
Indirectly held (Continued)
BEHE ()
QP Holdings (Vietnam) Limited* ~ BVI/ Hong Kong / USD50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
10 September 2020
E}gﬁﬁi gﬁﬁﬁé/ 50000% 7T 100%  100% RERR
QP Trading (Vietnam) Company  Vietnam / Vietnam / VND300,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of paper products
Limited 16 January 2020
dm/an/ 3000000004EE  100%  100% #REH
ZECTE-ATAH
QP Technology Development Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$10,000 100% 100%  Information Technology
Limited 20 May 2021
ERRRERARAT ﬁé_/gﬁ_% S 10,0007 7T 100%  100% EaABH
Billion Space Development Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HKS2 100% 100%  Property holding
 Limited 24 Qctober 2014 B
EEERARAT Eh/ER/ 2% 100% 100% NEER
ZE-METAZTRA
Brighten Wish Limited Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HKS$2 100% 100%  Property holding
13 March 2015
SEARAA /%/%5/%/ S 25T 100%  100% WELRK
—-1F
Goldenway Fortune Limited Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$2 100% 100%  Property holding
3 March 2015
SNERARAT E#/E%/-2-15=R=A 2ET  100%  100% WERRK

(i) Country of incorporation/
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

Gl PEEE:

(i) Country of incorporation/
establishment;

(ii) Principal country of operations;
(iii) Date of incorporation/
establlsh‘lnent

fre SRR M

14 BT (HE)

Issued share
capital/
registered
capltal

Effective interest

held as at

Principal activities

RTABHSEH
ERER IEER

2023

—g-=

—ir==

£

2022

—FE— —/
T

100% 100%  Property holding
100% 100% NEER
100% 100%  Property holding
100% 100% WxER

100% 100%  Wholesale of paper and paper
products, and packaging
materials

100% 100% 4% fmkek
g

100% 100%  Manufacturing and trading of
paper products

100% 100% #RaHERES

70% N/A Design services
TER

% NA RHER
TER

51% /A Gyber security services and
AEM solutions N

5%  NA BEF2EBRERGE
TER

100% N/A Sales of website products
AR

100% NA REUHEER
TER

o

Indirectly held (Continued)
BESE(R)
Mega Access Capital Resources  Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$2
Limited 16 March 2015 o
ERERERAT EB/ER/ 2B
ZE-RE-ATA
Universe Oriental Enterprise Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HKS2
Limited 16 March 2015 o
ERR L EERAT 58/88/ 28T
ZE2-RE=ATA
QP TRADING ASIAPTE.LTD  Singapore / Singapore / Singapore dollars
26 April 2021 100
Hg/ g/ 1008 MK 7T
“EC-EMACTRE
Q P Enterprise (Vietnam) Vietnam / Vigtnam / VND110,437,697,568
Company Limited? 7 December 2021 \
dm/ME/—F-% 110437697 5681470 &
tZAtH
CM Concepts Limited* Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$1,500,000
31 July 2023 o
B%/BR/ZFZZELAZT-B 150000087
Light Security Consulting Limited  Hong Kong / Hong Kong / HK$5,000,000
3 August 2023 o
AARRHARRAR ﬁé/ﬁ/_ ZENAZH 5,0000007% ¢
QPMN Trading (Canada) Limited*  Canada/Canada/30 May 2023 CAD1
mex/Mex/-2-=F5A=18 Mgk
Notes:
1. These are wholly-owned foreign investment enterprises
registered in the PRC.
2. These are wholly-domestic owned enterprises under the PRC

law.

The English translation of the names of the companies and the
types of legal entity types are for reference only. The official
names/types are in Chinese.

# The Chinese name of these companies are not available.

1. ZEIBAEERAIRPEEMRT

2. ZE2RNERADREFRBEEEEM
DAV

. KXEREHRS2ZE ZERA R
ERBUNETARAT

ZERARERIAHE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 W% - BMERRE

Leasehold Plant&  Furniture & Motor  Construction
Buildings  improvements machinery equipment  vehicles in progress Total

BT RENREE  HERHE  BARRE RE EEIR it

HK§ 000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK5000 HK§'000 )

Thrn Thn Thn Tén Thr Thn
Year ended HE-E-CE
31 December 2022 tZA=1-H
LFE
Opening net book vale ~~ ENEEFE 154,200 53,061 154221 1390 1,081 15200 421,73
Additions TE - 901 14,118 2,102 2,073 21,398 46,592
Disposal HE - 99) (53) b - - (157)
Depreciation Vot §) nEe (9,184) (9,250) (25,807) (8.437) (£82) - (53 160)
Bchengereaignment B 6,1%) 5629 19983 0,465 o) 1884 (24169
Closing net book value ERBERE 138,833 40,990 132,49 3,115 2,651 475 390,839
At 31 December 2022 2
+ZA=1-H
Cost Ak 203,933 9,178 474,49 97,468 1,750 40,754 923,674
Accumulated depreciation 2317 & 165,100) (54,189) 1342000) 62359 (0,099 - bR
Net book value FREE 138,833 40,990 132,496 35,115 2,601 40,754 390,839
Year ended HE-B-zE
31 December 2023 tZB=1-A
LEE
Opening net book value ~~ ENEEFE 138,833 40,990 132,496 35,115 2,651 40,754 390,839
Additions HE - 21 8,647 5,250 1,140 81,369 96,433
Disposal HE - - (107) (106) (364) - (577)
Transfer E1 64,930 - - - - (64,930) -
Depreciation Note §) nEWHs) (9,093) (8,556) (24,699) (8,260) (667) - (51,275)
Exchange realignment EER (3,105) (1,000) (3,262) (697) (6) (1,169) (9,239)
Closing net book value EREMFE 191,565 31,461 113,075 31,302 2,754 56,024 426,181
At 31 December 2023 i St
+ZAZ1-H
Cost i 264,205 92,611 464,945 100,154 12,330 56,024 990,269
Accumulated depreciation  £3t7E (72,640) (61,150) (351,870) (68,852) (9,576) - (564,088)
Net book valug ERFE 191,565 31,461 113,075 31,302 2,754 56,024 426,181
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Depreciation expenses of approximately HK$27,967,000
and HK$29,096,000 have been charged in “Cost
of sales”, and approximately HK$23,308,000 and
HK$24,064,000 have been charged in “Administrative
expenses” for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 respectively.

Buildings with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$69,527,000 and HK$73,162,000 were pledged as
collateral for the banking facilities granted to the Group
(Note 29 and 30) as at 31 December 2023 and 2022
respectively.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, formal real estate
ownership certificates have not been obtained for
certain of the Group’s properties with total carrying
value of approximately HK$1,413,000 and HK$1,727,000
respectively. The Group has taken remedial actions
and is in the process of obtaining the necessary real
estate ownership certificates. In the opinion of the
directors, the absence of formal title to these real estate
ownership certificates is not an indicator for impairment
in the value of these properties as the Group has paid
the full purchase consideration for these buildings and
the probability of being evicted on the ground of an
absence of formal title is remote.

Depreciation method and useful life

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs to their residual values over estimated useful
lives as follows:

— Buildings 25 years
— Leasehold improvements 10 years, or over lease
term, whichever is the

shorter
— Plant and machinery 5-10 years
— Furniture and equipment 5-10 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years

fre SRR M

156 2% - MEKRE(E)

@i_;:_$&_$::¢+zﬂ
—t+—BIEFE 55427967000
7 7T 529,096,000 T By T & FF
XEFAMEE XX &5 54
23,308,000/ st %% 24,064,0007% JT
MITERIBERAITERAS] -

B ™ JF B #69,527,000/8 T &
73,162,000 T EFE BT IEAR
AEEDPIR_ZE_ZFK_%
T+ A=+ BEERNIRT
A& (B 7£29%30) M & -

RZEZ=ZFR_FE-__F+=
AR=+—HB Xx&EBEI Rt K&
Bk ® & » Bl 49 51,413,0008 7T &
1,727,000 T B & T ¥ E WG IE =
EHEREZE - AEEDFEIHERE
M BEERBMENEHEREF -
EERE BARAEBELXNZE
BEFHNE2HBERERARIER
X¥RMERZENTEEEMN Bt
ROZEEHERINEREZREY
ERPZEMENEELIERE -

TEZERAERFBH
ME- - BERREBEIERAERZX
AE LR TNERAERFHA
DEHF R EEZ KA

— EF 254F
— HEWEXRE 10FxZHEEH

(A EEAKE)
— B Es 5-104F
— REREZ®E 5-104F
— AE 54
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE BRI R

16 SHARE CAPITAL

16 A

2023 2022
— 2= -
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#& T TE T
Authorised: JETE
2,000,000,000 (2022: 2,000,000,000) 2,000,000,000 /%
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (=2 =

2,000,000,0000%)
& i% EE0.017% T &)
T A 20,000 20,000

BETRER:
532,000,000f% (=T = —
£ 1 532,000,000% )
FREEC.OIBTH
il 5,320 5,320

Issued and fully paid:
532,000,000 (2022: 532,000,000)
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTY 17 REWZE

As at 31 December
R+=ZB=+—H
2023 2022

—=E=-= T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER F& T

Non-current assets — at fair value ¥FEBEE — AT E

At beginning of the year R F 1) 2,135 2,135
Fair value changes NEFEE - —
At end of the year REXR 2,135 2,135
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

Investment property is situated in Hong Kong and
rented out under operating leases. Amounts recognised
in profit or loss for investment property are as follows:

fre SRR M

17 REWE(E)

REMEUNELE BHEEHEOH
HepREVENBSAERNE
B

Year ended 31 December
BE+t-HA=1+t—HLEE
2023 2022

—E_= —E-—F
HK$’°000 HK$’000

FH T FHT

Rental income recognised in 7O E Ath U A B 5R B
other income HME®RA 51 50
Direct operating expenses BEEEERY (6) (6)
45 44

The directors performed a valuation of the investment
property under the market comparable approach using
the current market price and adjusting for factors
regarding the location and size of the property to
determine the fair value as at 31 December 2023 and
2022. No change in fair value of investment property
was recognised for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

The fair value measurement is categorised in Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy, and there were no transfers
between Level 1, 2 and 3 during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

The key inputs as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are
average market price of similar investment properties
after adjusting for age, location, condition and
surrounding facility. The higher the market price, the
higher the fair value.

EEREMSAILRA LA FHE
AIMEREBEBEZYDEMNERRE
MAERRZEREMFEETMHE
NEERZE =K==
+ZA=+—HBMAFE -HEZ
T BN —E-—&F+-_F=+—
BLEFE REVENRAFELE

g1t -

ANFEFERZARFEEBLNE=
B BEREBEE_ZE-_=—FKk=_F
T+ A=T—BILFE " F—
B -FE_EBNFE=E MW EERE -

RZEZ=ZFR_ZE-_—_F+=A
Tt HHNETZHARBEAERER
NE RAERBFAEXBELAER
MBUREDENFTHTE - mE
e AFEHS -
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18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

HE
HK$'000
FE

BREE

Golf club
Membership  Computer

(Note) software

ELES

CEE-E
(W)  BRE&H
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TRET

Year ended 31 December BE-Z--_f+ZH

2022 =t-HALEE
Opening net book value ¢ MEmSE 26,664 943 3,139 30,746
Additions NE — — 1,447 1,447
Amortisation (Note 8) B3 (08 - - (930) (930)
Exchange realignment fE 5 R (2,009) - (92) 2,191)
Closing net book value EREREEE 24,565 943 3,564 29,072
At 31 December 2022 RZE-ZZF+ZA
=+-8
Cost X AR 24,565 943 5,825 31,333
Accumulated amortisation REr#E - - (2,261) (2,261)
Net book value EEFE 24,565 943 3,564 29,072
Year ended 31 December BZ-Z-=%+ZA
2023 =t+-HLtEE
Opening net book value FNREEFE 24,565 943 3,564 29,072
Additions NE - - 1,888 1,888
Amortisation (Note 8) &0 28) - - (1,233) (1,233)
Exchange realignment ERETE (695) - (37) (732)
Closing net book value FREMFE 23,870 943 4,182 28,995
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=%+=AH
=t+-H

Cost [N 23,870 943 7,635 32,448
Accumulated amortisation Lt EH - - (3,453) (3,453)
Net book value RHFE 23,870 943 4,182 28,995

Note: Golf club membership is stated at historical cost. The golf
club membership has an indefinite life which is not subject to
amortisation and is tested annually for impairment and applied
fair value less costs to sell when determining its recoverable
amounts. The management determines the fair value less
costs to sell by using the market approach with reference to
selling price obtained from trading platform of similar golf club
membership. During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no impairment was made in relation to the golf club
membership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The fair value measurement of the golf club membership
is categorised in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and
there were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Amortisation expenses relating to computer software
of approximately HK$1,233,000 and HK$930,000 have
been charged in “Administrative expenses” for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Goodwill arose from the purchase of Taunus Printing
(Heshan) Company Limited (“TPC”) from certain third
parties during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Goodwill arising from acquisition is allocated to the
relevant CGU, composed of Q P Enterprises Limited
and TPC, which are expected to benefit from the
business combination. Management reviews annually
whether the carrying amount of this CGU is higher
than the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is determined based on a value-in-use calculation
with key parameters including revenue growth rate
and gross profit margin. The calculation uses pre-
tax cash flow projection based on a five-year financial
budget approved by management using the estimated
growth rate of the relevant CGU, taking into account
the Group’s overall growth rate of 3% and gross profit
margin of 25%. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated assuming a terminal growth rate of
3% and no material change in the existing scope of
business, business environment and market conditions.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is
15% and management believes it reflects specific risks
relating to the segment.

Management believes that any reasonably possible
changes in any of the key assumptions would not result
in an impairment provision of goodwill.

There was no impairment provision for intangible assets
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

18

fre SRR M

mELEEE)
SERXELIESENRATEFTE
BAAFEEZNE_E BR#E
EZE—FRITE-ZF+ZA
=t HUtFE F-E -F_ER
FE=[E 7 M EEE

HEZT-_=FR-_T-_=_F+=A
=+—HIFE " o 541,233,000
75 7T }.930,0007% JT K T JiS B 14 48 BE
BHEMYERTERAI PNk -

BmERE _ZET-N\F+_-_A=1+—H
HEERETE=TBERZHR (5
L) AR AF(TPCI) -

WBEANEES K ZTEHEER
AP ESNEMRSEESEM(H
ERLEERARNTPCAHMK) - &
BEESFRVZASCELEEMOE
AEEESRATKE S5 - aTlkE
CHEDNDERNFHRAEENEETE &

T2UBRERZEREREFEK -
ZAEFERNEREEBR ANTESE
PEBEAER HKEABEBERSE
EEUMGHAEBEER Witk AsE
K BB R R3% N E | R25% -
ETHAIRESREEN - BBRF
HEMBAeR=E IREIERIERE
B3%EIRNEBHE  KLERER
MR EEXNESETHE - FH
IR & & T8 R A AL 3R X B15%
BEEER AL RERES I ERH
T RE -

ERERA WEMEEM/RER
EAABNAREY ¥ FRER

TR BEH R ERE

BE_ 2 =FK-_FT-_—"F+—-A1
Tt BLttFE VTEREEEE
TEL R E B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Amortisation methods and periods

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with
finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

See note 2.7 for the other accounting policies relevant

to intangible assets, and note 2.8 for the Group’s policy
regarding impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B B R M

19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 19 BERESHNERMITA

CATEGORY
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—8H
2023 2022
—s=-= —E=-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Financial assets tREE
Financial assets at amortised cost i 8 5H K AR BR 89
TREE
— Debt instruments at amortised cost  — 1% # $5 5k 748 71| BR &Y
EETA 3,900 15,586
— Trade receivables — BZRKKIE 163,323 144,432
— Deposits, prepayments and other —&e BANFRER
receivables (excluding prepayments H h & 5018
and VAT receivables) (T BEEMNFIER
JE WS (B 75) 44,714 21,584
— Cash and bank balances — Be NBFITEHR 160,365 294,721
Financial assets at fair value through BRATEFAERD
profit or loss THEEE
— Equity investment at fair value — BAFEFABEDH
through profit or loss RERE 500 —
372,802 476,323
Financial liabilities cREE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RS A BR A
TRIBE
— Trade payables — B ENIE 64,436 68,159
— Accruals, provisions and other — EFER BEKEAMm
payables (excluding accrued staff ER B (T BEE
costs, other taxes payables and ETEITRAR - HhfE
provision for social insurance and NEBEREERRE R
housing provident fund) FTEARESEE) 32,394 23,873
— Borrowings — B 47,879 116,319
— Lease liabilities —HEBE 2,949 2,859
Financial liabilities at fair value through &2 A F B ABZH B & &
profit or loss aE
— Derivative financial instruments — TEsRITA - 6,856
147,658 218,066
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA MBS ERARMEE

20 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

EHEEE

As at 31 December

Rt+t=—A=+-—
HK$'000
TE T
Land + iy 146,933 152,401
Properties ES 2,943 3,124
Motor vehicles "E - 128
149,876 155,653

Notes:

Additions to the right-of-use assets were HK$2,534,000 and
HK$21,331,000 for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 respectively.

Total cash outlfows for leases were HK$2,318,000 and
HK$3,043,000 for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 respectively.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows the following
amounts relating to leases:

B 3

(@ BEZZE-_=Ffk=-ZT-_—_%F+=-A
=+—BLtFE FRABEERED
Bl /2,534,000 7t 21,331,000/ 7T °

by BEZZE_=ZFk-T-_—_F+=-A
—t+—HALEFE HERSALLES
7l 42,318,000/ 7T % 3,043,000/ 7T ©

) & é%ﬁm%@JTMTEﬁﬁﬂfﬁﬁﬁZQ

A

As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2023

—m—=
HK$°000
THERT

Expense relating to short-term lease

HEHHEANMARZ

contract (Note 8) B (1 aE8) 1,507 1,516
Amortisation of right-of-use i PR i & = 8 (P 218)

assets (Note 8) 6,206 6,419
Interest expenses (included in finance FERAXGIARERAFEE)

income, net) (Note 10) (K1t 10) 52 74
Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated FREEE—RUEBREIZEED

over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.

See note 2.19 for the other accounting policies
relevant to leases.

Right-of-use assets with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$80,234,000 and HK$82,025,000
were pledged as collateral for the banking facilities
granted to the Group (Note 29 and 30) as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

INVENTORIES 21 &
As at 31 December
R+=A=+—8H
2023 2022
—E-= =

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Raw materials JR 44 18,331 25,942
Work in progress & 18,213 17,926
Finished goods X & 28,586 28,574
As at 31 December R+=-—A=+—8” 65,130 72,442

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and
included in “cost of sales” amounted to HK$315,481,000
and HK$438,231,000 for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 respectively.

The carrying amount of inventories is stated
net of provision for inventory obsolescences of
HK$26,458,000 (2022: HK$25,709,000).

HEZT-_=FR-_T-__F+=A
“+—BLEFE GFEXNEAERBE
A TATHEEKR AN S E D5
£315,481,0007% JT 438,231,000/
T o

e E’J%EE%&TD%&}%%T B E

Vi 7E) {gi =l

As at 31 December

R+=—BA=+—H
2023 2022
—Eg-= —E-_—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Movement of inventory provision FEREZ
As at 1 January n—A—H 25,709 16,796
Provision for inventory obsolescence for R #5177 &
the year (Note 8) (H1:£8) 1,433 10,443
Translation adjustment bE 5 38 2 (684) (1,530)
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—H 26,458 25,709
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net FERKAEIEE FERE DY

realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and
fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated
on the basis of normal operating capacity. It excludes
borrowing costs. Costs is determined using the first-in,
first-out (FIFO) method. Costs of purchased inventory
are determined after deducting rebates and discounts.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

BIEEAR - ABREERMH

BEERSTRAREELIOAE R
lx&F‘ﬂ%%Fﬁ?Zﬁ BEDRIEIE
FEERNDOE - KATBERR

B 7N o ﬁ$&%k%ﬁ£ﬁﬁ°%
EMFERAENRENRITNE
WE -AIERFEDEBEEKA
BARAEFTFEBRGTTEIAAMN
N ERT B ET A o
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22 TRADE RECEIVABLES 22 EZEWRIE

B 5 & WK IR

Trade receivables

As at 31 December
R+t=-A=+—H
2023 2022

—E_= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000

FTRET TR

163,323 144,432

Trade receivables arise from goods sold to third parties.
The credit terms granted by the Group are generally
ranging from 30 to 90 days.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the aging analysis
of the trade receivables, based on invoice date, were as
follows:

BoRWARBEBELEARE=ZHHEE
NER AEERENEEH K
N F30E0K

RZEBE-_=FR-_E-_—_F+=A1
—t+t—H RBZEHHIENEZES
RN IR R DTN T

As at 31 December

R+=—HA=+—H
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET T T
Within 30 days 30K AR 70,626 63,648
31-60 days 31£60K 38,815 54,291
61-90 days 61290K 30,598 23,150
Over 90 days 0K F 23,284 3,343
163,323 144,432

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying value of the trade receivables. The
Group does not hold any collateral as security.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. The Group considers
the credit risk characteristics and the days past due to
measure the expected credit losses. During the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the expected
credit losses for customers of sales of goods are
minimal, given there is no history of significant defaults
from customers and no adverse change is anticipated
in the future business environment. No provision
for impairment of trade receivables has been made
throughout the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate
their fair values as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Group’s trade receivables were denominated in the
following currencies:

fre SRR M

22 ES RN ARIE(E)
RZEZ=ZFR_ZE-_—_F+=A
—t+—H EZEKFIENEETE
HEQNFERE -

AEBHNEZRWHKIBTIANIE
s

As at 31 December

R+=—H=+—8H

2023 2022
—_E2-= —_=E_-—

HK$’000 HK$'000
F# T T& T
UsD ETT 69,719 89,535
HKD BT 87,836 51,128
RMB AR 5,480 3,712
Others Hi 288 57
163,323 144,432

23 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

23 2 FEARAREMENR

Tk IE

As at 31 December

R+=—HA=+—H
2023 2022
—_E2_= g
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#& T F& T
Prepayments TE RIB 22,703 22,370
Other receivables H A & U 50IR 21,245 10,221
Rental and other deposits HehEMILE 20,744 11,384
VAT receivables FE W IR BT 14,878 13,018
Amounts due from non-controlling JE WS 3E 2 AR IR R
shareholders* I 2,725 —
82,295 56,993
Less: Non-current portion A FEBNERE (33,086) (9,558)
Current portion Bl ER EE 9 49,209 47,435
The balances are interest-free, unsecured and repayable in 1 to EHRERE BEARER —ZEZ=F

3 years.

The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables

Pt -

RZEBE_=2FR_F =

F+=-A

of the Group approximate their fair values as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.

=t—H - AEENREREME
WHRIEMREEREAFERSE

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ 229



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

23 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Their recoverability was assessed with reference to the
credit status of each counterparty, and the expected
credit losses are minimal.

The Group’s deposits, prepayments and other
receivables were denominated in the following
currencies:

N
B Zx

R]RX

23 2% AAREREMER
M E ()
B Uy B T 2
WATTE  BEBEEBER) -

HEHIER

AEBENRE  BNREREME
WRIR TS A NI B B 5T E

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+-—8H
2023 2022
—=E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHE T FE T
RMB AR 58,009 30,068
HKD BT 15,820 21,155
VND iR E 7,647 5,239
UsD = 740 454
Others Hib 79 77
82,295 56,993

24 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL

24 FTEEMIA

INSTRUMENTS
2023 2022
=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FE T
Forward foreign exchange EHIIESHN
contracts
As at 1 January n—H—H (6,856) 9,497
Fair value gain/(loss) on derivative MTEEMITANAFE
financial instruments (Note 6) Wz /(B8 ate) 1,343 (19,879)
Settlement of derivative financial TEeMIALE
instruments 5,513 3,526
As at 31 December R+-A=+—H - (6,856)

There were no outstanding forward foreign
exchange contracts as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
US$14,000,000 (approximately HK$109,200,000)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR B B R M

25 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

25 e RIBITHER

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—8”
2023 2022
—E-= —_ET-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Cash at banks and on hand IRITEFBERE 44,140 53,762
Time deposits maturing within -~ 318 A /1 2 #§ &9 & B8 157 3K
3 months 23,340 240,959
Cash and cash equivalents in 48R EREXRMNRE X
the consolidated statement ReEEY
of cash flows 25(a) 67,480 294,721
Time deposits maturing after 3 31& A 12 2 i 0 F B 1F X
months 25(b) 92,885 —
160,365 294,721

(a) HEEEREXRNEER

(a) Cash and cash equivalents in the

consolidated statement of cash flows HEEEBEYWEHE:
comprise:
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFEx TE T
Denominated in USD AEILEE 21,630 93,425
Denominated in HKD A TR E 28,804 168,336
Denominated in RMB MARKGE 14,311 29,428
Denominated in other currencies LA A & ¥ =+E 2,735 3,532
67,480 294,721
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iR BTSRRI EE
25 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 25 BERBITHER(E)
(Continued)
(b) Time deposits maturing after three (b) =EAREMHNERERK:
months:
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—8H
2023 2022
—Eg-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Denominated in USD LAETTEHE 87,404 —
Denominated in RMB NAR®HE 5,481 -
92,885 —
The effective interest rates per annum relating to RZEZ=F+=ZRAR=+—
time deposits maturing after three months ranged A B =& A1% 3 8 & E 5
from 1.29% to 5.33% as at 31 December 2023. 7R EBRFMNENF1.29% %
5.33% -°
26 SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES 26 R nEBRfHFEE
Share premium of the Company is mainly attributable AKRalRHaEBEERREMATK
to the completion of the reorganisation and issuance of LRETEBR BE_T_=FK
ordinary shares. Reserves during the years ended 31 T F+ZA=+—HLFE
December 2023 and 2022 comprised of capital reserve, MZEREEARARE ZEEME -
statutory reserve, translation reserve and retained BMEREBLRBRAR -
earnings.
As stipulated by the relevant PRC laws and regulations BIBEAQDG R P HK R EE 2
applicable to the Company’s subsidiaries established BAREBMMEEPEIERERER
and operated in the PRC, the subsidiaries are required MBETE ZEWNBREABERM
to make appropriation from profit after tax (after BEM(CEHEBTIFEBB)BE
offsetting prior years’ losses) to statutory reserve. The EERE PR EBEAKRES
PRC entities are required to transfer at least 10% of S EARERETNFENNE
its net profit as determined under the PRC accounting DI0%EBHEH X EHE - BEE
rules and regulations, to their statutory reserve. The ERENSBERZD & HEDMNB
appropriations to the statutory reserve are required until NAEMEARES0% A L1E o X F 7
the balance reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered EHARERERTFEBBEIAR
capital. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset BATAR - ARARF BB R A
prior year losses or be utilised for issuance of bonus MRS BRI BR A EZEHI
shares. The Company’s PRC subsidiaries are restricted DB NZ BRG] o

in their ability to transfer a portion of their reserve either
in the form of dividends, loans or advances.

The capital reserve of the Group represents the AEBWEAFEEERA LM EMAM
reserves arising from the reorganisation for the purpose EERREE -
of the listing.
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27 TRADE PAYABLES

fre SRR M

27 EZENFE

As at 31 December
R+=ZB=+—H

Trade payables

B 5 AR

2023

—_E—=

HK$’000
FTRERT

64,436

2022
-

HK$’000
TET

68,159

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the aging analysis

RZE-_=ZFR T —F+_-8

of the trade payables, based on invoice date, were as
follows:

=t—B REZAHFENES
JEN RIERRE DT

As at 31 December

R+=-ZB=+—8H
2022
—E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#& T T8 T
Within 30 days 30K AR 33,861 49,112
31-60 days 31£60K 15,224 12,476
61-90 days 61290k 9,793 3,671
Over 90 days 90K E 5,558 2,900
64,436 68,159

The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate
their fair values as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Group’s trade payables were denominated in the
following currencies:

NRZIE_=FR_T-__F+=A4
T+t B - ES5RENREBHNERERE
HENFERE

/.

BB 5 ROR T T 5
EIRE

*

As at 31 December

R+=-—A=+—H
2023 2022
—=E=-= T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T8 T
RMB AR 52,531 54,167
HKD B IT 8,783 11,785
UsD ETT 2,151 1,754
Others Hb 971 453
64,436 68,159
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KRB MR M

28 ACCRUALS, PROVISIONS AND OTHER 28 E:tE&EH - BERHMEN

PAYABLES ;18
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—8H
2023 2022
—_ZE_= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FE T
Accrued staff costs JEET B TR A 38,731 43,687
Accrued expenses FEET R X 12,743 11,320
Other taxes payables H b fE S B 1B 6,935 10,922
Provision for social insurance and ek IR
housing provident fund NiE® BE 19,291 22,907
Other payables E M E S 3O 19,651 12,553
97,351 101,389

RZEBE - =ZFR_E-_—_F+=A1
=+—HB EHEAR BEHEIEAM
ENFIENEEEEEAFEES -

The carrying amounts of accruals, provisions and
other payables approximate their fair values as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.

AEBNEFER BELEME
NRBEIIAT I EBFE:

The Group’s accruals, provisions and other payables
were denominated in the following currencies:

As at 31 December

R+=-—BA=+—H

2023 2022
—_=E_= —EFE_—

HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FA T
RMB AR 68,653 70,995
HKD BT 17,808 24,566
Usb ETT 6,380 5,579
Others HAh 4,510 249
97,351 101,389
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29 BORROWINGS

fre SRR M

29 f&

As at 31 December

Bank borrowings FITERK

Less: amounts due on demand and/or i : R BB EIE T R ig

within one year shown under current
liabilities Hi &) 308

2R,/ —FAE

R+=—H=+—8”
2023 2022

—E-= 25
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA T
47,879 116,319
(47,879) (116,319)

FEENERE

Non-current portion

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, borrowings of
approximately HK$47,879,000 and HK$116,319,000,
respectively, were subject to repayable on demand
clause.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s
borrowings were repayable as follows:

R -_=ZFR T - —F+_A8
—t+—B®ERD B4 A&47,879,000
70T &116,319,000/8 7T * AR K E
KB BIERAHR -

R =ZFR-_E-—_F+=A1
=+t—HB AEEEROERBW

T
As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+—8H
2023 2022
—E==

HK$’000 HK$’000
F& T AT
Within 1 year —F AR 20,991 73,043
Between 1 and 2 years —EWF 9,870 19,506
Between 2 and 5 years W A 10,404 16,793
Over 5 years AEL F 6,614 6,977
47,879 116,319

The above amounts due are based on the respective
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements and ignore the effect of any repayment on

demand clause.

bt B HA SRR JOAR IR BRI & P L
EHEFEXBHFAFE LEEZE
TRZEREEGROTE -
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KRB MR M

29 BORROWINGS (Continued)

The Group’s borrowings were denominated in the
following currencies:

29 faX (&)

REBOERTATINEEE:

As at 31 December

R+=—HA=+—8H
2022
T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T 7T
HKD BT 47,090 116,319
VND W E 789 —
47,879 116,319

The effective interest rates of the above loans (per
annum) as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were as
follows:

—E=-=

T EFRA T =FR T
FH-A=+—HWNEBRFMENT :

As at 31 December
R+t=-ZHA=+—H

2023

Bank borrowings RITE K

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the borrowings
were pledged by certain assets with carrying values
shown below:

2.60%-7.43%

2.63%-6.30%

R-ZEBE-=FKg_FE-_—_F+=8
=t+—R BREETEEFERLA
HIREESI RO :

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H

2023 2022

—E=-= —_E——
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET
Right-of-use assets FRHEEE 80,234 82,025
Property, plant and equipment W BENMER 69,527 73,162
149,761 155,187
The carrying amounts of borrowings of the Group RZBEZ=FR-ZF-__F+=A

approximate their fair values as at 31 December 2023
and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30 BANKING FACILITIES

31

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had aggregate
banking facilities of approximately HK$238,101,000
(2022: HK$292,365,000) for overdrafts, loans, letter of
credit and trade financing. Unused facilities as at the
same date amounted to approximately HK$190,081,000
(2022: HK$175,864,000). These facilities were secured
by pledges over the Group’s right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment as set out in Note 29.

LEASE LIABILITIES

fre SRR M

30 RITHME

n= 7__¢+ A=+—8B &X&

SR ERELRESRE
*ﬁﬁﬁmfﬁ"ﬁaé Jr%’]/,’%288,101,000
B T(= T = = 4 :292,365000
& TT) o B[R Eﬂi@)ﬁﬁﬂ’]%ﬂ’ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ
/190,081,0003% 75(: T -~
175,864,000/ 7T) © ;2 5 @b & Th LA 3K

MM 2o AR ENEREEE
R BERREERER -

31 HEE®E

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—8H
2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Within one year —F UK 1,811 2,228
Within a period of more than one year HA[R BB —F - B BB
but not exceeding two years R F 1,138 631
2,949 2,859
Less : Amount due for settlement BmBBEETNATRIFE
within one year shown under current MR B ) 5K IE
liabilities (1,811) (2,228)
Amount due for settlement after one EMEBBEETATIF
year shown under non-current 1& B HA &9 3k 18
liabilities 1,138 631

The Group leases various properties to operate its
businesses and these lease liabilities were measured
at net present value of the lease payments during the
lease terms that are not yet paid. No extension option
and no residual value guarantee are included in such
property and equipment leases across the Group.

The total cash outflows for lease payment including
lease liabilities and interest expenses on leases, for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 were
HK$2,318,000 and HK$3,043,000 respectively.

AEEREZEMEANREHRS
EZSHERERBHARINE
EREMREFHEAE BHEE
BENGEEERMESANKE
HEMERREHEE -

HEZEMNR s THEABESIEE

2 E KT - _4F+-AH
—+-HALtFEMNHEAGBEREE
FEFRY o5 A2318,000% 5t &
3,043,000/ 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

31 LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) 31 HE&R(HE)

Accounting policies of lease liabilities:

The total cash outflows for payments associated with
short-term lease contract for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 were HK$1,507,000 and
HK$1,516,000 respectively.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was received

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the
lease, then the group entities use that rate as a starting
point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line
basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term or less than 12 months.

See note 2.19 for the other accounting policies relevant
to leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR B B R M
32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 32 IEIEFREH
The net movement on the deferred income tax account EIEFT AR FEE M T

is as follows:

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-—8”
2023 2022
—E=-= —EF_—
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January w—H—H (1,494) (1,567)
Charged to profit or loss (Note 11) MkaBm At (7,868) (108)
Translation adjustment PE 5 38 2 109 181
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFSEHEE (9,253) (1,494)
The movement in deferred income tax assets and BEMSEHEERBEREBE_Z
liabilities during the years ended 31 December 2023 —ZERZE-_—F ‘f': A=+—
and 2022, without taking into consideration the B IEFE (I & E B 4 &% Ef R/ —
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is s a) AR AN E’\J N
as follows:
Deferred income tax assets ELEMBBEE
Provision
for social
insurance
Property, and housing
plant and Inventory  provident
equipment provision fund Others
HERBER
ER tELES
BERRE BERE BE Hit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
TAT Thn BT FhEn
Balances at 31 December 2021 R-E-—£+-fA=+-HAR
and 1 January 2022 “Z-E-R-AREH 1,428 2,374 4,483 5,553 13,838
Credited/(charged) o A/ (kg BH
profit or loss (557) 1,755 (469) (8,368 (2,639)
Translation adjustment EREE 4 (230) (338) (270) (842)
Balances at 31 December 2022 R-EB-Z#+-A=+-ARK
and 1 January 2023 ZEICE-A-ANER 867 3,899 3,676 1,915 10,357
Credited/(charged) to HA/ (k) BE
profit or loss (823) 113 (480) (199) (1,389)
Tranglation adjustment ERAE 2 (97) (100) (51) (250)
Balances at 31 December 2023 :;:_Eﬂ' A=1+-R#K
ey 42 3,915 3,096 1,665 8,718
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ARE BRI R

32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities

32 EHEFREH ()
EEFREHEE

Property,
plant and Land use Withholding
equipment right tax Total
BER#ZE IHERE ik @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
TAET TAET TAEL TET
Balances at 1 January 2022 R-E-—F—H—H
K & 5 10,713 4,692 — 15,405
Credited to profit or loss FABEE (2,413) (118) - (2,531)
Translation adjustment A (657) (366) — (1,029)
Balances at 31 December RZEZZF+ZA
2022 and 1 January 2023 —t-HRZE==
—A-HNE#% 7,643 4,208 - 11,851
Charged/(credited) to profitor 1% &/ (3t \) B3
loss (2,251) (112) 8,842 6,479
Translation adjustment fE 5 R (168) (118) (73) (359)
Balances at 31 December RZZB-=%+-AH
2023 S+—-BEEH 5,224 3,078 8,769 17,971

AEENEREEFRASHREERDE
ZRAMBEREZHRACHEEN
TR &5 18 7] R DA 4K 35 OR 2R FE SR B0 A
MAREM - RFBELEMBHREE
B R] Uy B By AN 5 B B R FE
SHABMNE S BE L IE R KE
AR Al e

The Group takes into account the probability that
deductible temporary differences or tax losses carried
forward can be utilised against future taxable profits on
recognition of deferred income tax assets. In assessing
recoverability of deferred income tax assets, the Group
takes into account scheduled reversal of deferred
income tax liabilities and projected future taxable profit.
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32 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has unrecognised
tax losses of HK$29,341,000 (2022: HK$6,400,000)
to carry forward for offsetting against future taxable
income. The tax losses of HK$2,736,000 (2022:
HK$1,873,000) can be carried forward indefinitely under
the current tax legislation. The remaining tax losses of
HK$26,605,000 (2022: HK$4,527,000) will expire in five
years from the year incurred.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
intended to arrange distributions of profit from a wholly-
owned subsidiary in the PRC. Deferred tax liabilities
of approximately HK$8,842,000 have been recognised
regarding to a 5% withholding tax which is expected to
be levied on dividends distributed to foreign investors
from foreign investment enterprises established in the
PRC.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, deferred
income tax liabilities have not been recognised
for the withholding tax that would be payable on
the distributable retained earnings amounting to
approximately HK$92,000,000 and HK$291,754,000,
respectively, of the Company’s subsidiaries in the
PRC earned after 1 January 2008. Such amounts
are not expected to be distributed to the subsidiaries
incorporated outside of the PRC in the foreseeable
future.

fre SRR M

32 JEfE fr 1§ B ()

P& B A E (')

R-oE-—=F+-_FA=+—8 & &
A kT 57 B TE K5 18.29,341,0007% 7T
(== = — % :6,400,00/8 JT) » 7] 4
HOEEARRERBTW A - ZFH
TE 582,736,000/ L (— T — — 4 :
1,873,000/ 7o) Al IR B IR 1T i VA B[R
HR 4588 o g2 T 7 I8 B 826,605,000
BIL(ZZ = —F 1 4,527,000 1) #
BEEAFERTAFTRIE -

HE_T-_=F+ZA=+—8H1t
FE - AEEBRLTHERE —HFTEH
2EWNBRANEF - 48,842,000
BTHNERRAELEHBEGESRTE
Bt P R LM INE IR E S E WD
& & EFH IR EN R BB A5%TE
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RZE_=ZFR_ZTE-_—_F+=A
=+ —H BERAQRFTRPHD
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BT EHSERBEF D R L
92,000,000 7T &291,754,00078 JT
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EFEFRBEBIINEMAIONE R
Ej °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

33 NOTE TO STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(a) Cash Generated from operations

33 RERMERME

(a) BREmMBHRE

Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
—g=-= —ET=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FaExT FHET
Profit before income tax B P 15 ¢ A & A 94,218 143,133
Adjustments for: BUTSBEELHE:
Depreciation of property, plant and %% - BB &
equipment HEITE 51,275 53,160
Loss on disposals of property, HEWE BEK
plant and equipment HEEE 24 16
Provision for inventory TEHHT BB E
obsolescence 1,433 10,443
Amortisation of right-of-use assets  f# A # & & # §4 6,206 6,419
Amortisation of intangible assets | EE#HE 1,233 924
Finance income BB WA (7,794) (2,380)
Finance costs B & A A 3,997 2,294
Reversal of provision for social MR B RO
security insurance (2,993) (3,156)
Fair value (gain)/loss on derivative MTEEmITARNTE
financial instruments (W z=),/ B8 (1,343) 19,879
Unrealised exchange gain REIE H = (7,912) (25,307)
138,344 205,425
Changes in working capital: LEE2EE:
Inventories FE 4,021 26,735
Trade receivables 25 EWKRIE (19,015) 96,255
Deposits, prepayments and e ENIRER
other receivables B pE IR (646) 26,017
Trade payables =Y (2,169) (55,878)
Accruals, provisions and JEFtER - BEK
other payables H b &S IR 1,040 (13,983)
Contract liabilities aHEaE (52) 6,604
Derivative financial instruments TEeRIA (5,513) (3,526)
Cash generated from operations KEMERS 116,010 287,649
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRE SRR MR
33 NOTE TO STATEMENT OF CASH 33 RWERMEKRMT(E)

FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Proceeds from disposals of property, (b) ERETHLHEWE - K
plant and equipment arising from ERXEFRELENRER
investing activities b |
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, EHRARERERT  LEYD
proceeds from disposals of property, plant and ¥ MERREBMEHRIBEERE:

equipment comprise:

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—BLFE

2023 2022
—E-= —_E-—

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEX FHET

Net book value FREFE 577 157

Loss on disposals of property, HEME BEK

plant and equipment (Note 6) X EE R (A it6) (24) (16)
Cash flow from disposals of HEME  BEKREKB

property, plant and equipment BB e R A 553 141
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB MR M

33 NOTE TO STATEMENT OF CASH 33 BeREKRMT(E)
FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising (c) MMEEEBMEENEEY
from financing activities iR
This section sets out an analysis of reconciliation AEHIRFIREFENRE
of liabilities from financing activities for each of the EEFTEAMBEYER

years presented:

Lease
liabilities  Borrowings Total

HE&E R Bt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAET

Year ended 31 December HBE=-ZTE=-=%+=A

2023 =+—-HILEEE
As at 1 January 2023 R-ZEB-=%—A—H 2,859 116,319 119,178
Changes from financing MERESRELD:

cash flows:
Proceeds from borrowings BB E - 30,805 30,805
Repayment of borrowings BEME R - (99,275) (99,275)
Interest paid BRFE - (3,825) (3,825)
Capital element of lease rentals  Eft & Ax % o

paid (2,266) . (2,266)
Interest element of lease rentals &1 & | 8 25

paid (52) - (52)
Total changes from financing MERSREEELEE

cash flows (2,318) (72,295) (74,613)

Exchange adjustments/ ERAR HttkBRE
other non-cash movement # & (46) (90) (136)

Other changes: Hih %8 :
Increase in lease liabilities from — F A& # i € G %A
entering into new leases during & & {& & fi

the year 2,534 - 2,534
Decrease in lease liabilities from FRKX A ENHAE
terminate lease during the year B & 4 (132) - (132)
Interest expenses FEFRX 52 3,945 3,997
Total other changes Hin & 2,454 3,945 6,399
At 31 December 2023 R-ZEBZ=%+=A
=+—H 2,949 47,879 50,828
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iRE SRR MR
33 NOTE TO STATEMENT OF CASH 33 REREKRMET(E)
FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising (c) MEEEBMEENEEY
from financing activities (Continued) iR (&)

Lease
liabilities = Borrowings Total

HEAE =B L

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAET

Year ended 31 December &HE-ZT=-—%+=A
2022 =+—HLEEE

As at 1 January 2022 R-ZB-Z-%-/A—-H 4,478 84,439 88,917

Changes from financing BERESHRERT:

cash flows:
Proceeds from borrowings BRAMEFHE — 126,500 126,500
Repayment of borrowings BEER - (94,620) (94,620)
Interest paid BERFE - (2,220) (2,220)
Capital element of lease rentals Bl &A% o

paid (2,969) - (2,969)
Interest element of lease rentals &1 & | 8 25

paid (74) — (74)
Total changes from financing RERSRELHLE

cash flows (3,043) 29,660 26,617

Exchange adjustments/ ERAR HttkRS
other non-cash movement % & (127) - (127)

Other changes: Hitn# 5 :
Increase in lease liabilities from — F N &I 1 &G 5%
entering into new leases during & & & # N

the year 1,477 - 1,477
Interest expenses FERZ 74 2,220 2,294
Total other changes Hih &8 @58 1,551 2,220 3,771
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-Z-%+=A

=+-—H 2,859 116,319 119,178
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e SRR MR
34 COMMITMENTS 34 EiE
(a) Capital commitments (a) BEAREIE
At 31 December 2023 and 2022 capital RZFE_=FRh_F=- =
expenditure contracted for but not yet incurred are +—A=+—H BilHEN
as follows: REEMERFAIZWT:

As at 31 December
R+=ZB=+—H
2023 2022

—E_= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER F& T

Capital expenditure contracted for ~ D ET#1{E HARE £ 8

but not vet incurred NGRS
— Property, plant and equipment L ERN &S 21,020 44,955
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) ®REMEAIE
(i) As alessee iy 1EREMA
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the R_B_=FR_ZT__
Group had future aggregate minimum lease F+ZHA=+—H &&
payments under non-cancellable short term BRI HEERHEET
leases in respect of office premises, factory AR AME - BMEWE
premises and equipment as follows: REEIAORRKER

ERERBEWT

As at 31 December
R+t=ZBA=+—H
2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx TE T

No later than one year —FNA 151 8
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iRE SRR MR
34 COMMITMENTS (Continued) 34 &IE(E)
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) &R&HEREE)
(Continued)
(i) As a lessor (i) {EARLMEA
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the RZEZ=FR=ZT=-=
Group’s had future aggregate minimum lease F+-A=1T—8 ' &&
receipts under non-cancellable short term BN TR E LR
operating leases in respect of investment ETREEYMERIRA R
property are as follows: REEHAERBLEN
T
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET
No later than one year —F R 53 34
Later than one year and no later —F & EBRMER
than two years 35 -
88 34
35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35 ARG
For the purposes of this report, parties are considered MAREMES - W —H Al HEXMH
to be related to the Group if the party has the ability, BEHAREE I B REERE N
directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence iji%aj] AlZ T W RERSE
over the Group in making financial and operating A R o BE ET%XE&“/\‘(EHI
decisions. Related parties may be individuals (being %Eﬁé; ‘EKHX$)%/SZ ﬁa:f
members of key management personnel, significant E"Jfﬁﬁigﬁﬁ)_kjﬁ\giﬁa R
shareholders and/or their close family members) or BRASEBES (ZSHEBTAR

HANEATZTENER X HRFZ
BE BT MR S AR -

other entities and include entities which are under the
significant influence of related parties of the Group
where those parties are individuals. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common
control.
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KRB MR M

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35 BEAH RS (&)

(Continued)

The directors are of the view that the following

EERS UTEARRAR/RE

individuals and companies were related parties that EEZ_—FRIFZF+ZA
had significant transactions or balances with the Group —t+t—HIFEEAEBRHETE KX
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022: R Gk 1S A R BB T
Name of related Relationship with the BHASER HAQF FEH
parties Company/Group ollRES
Big Elegant Limited  Controlled by two of the SEEARAR BHARFHREH
executive directors of the ITESEME
Company
SG Printing Company Controlled by four of the BESERI AR A Zl—‘ NSl )
Limited executive directors of the NE] fTEEFTIE
Company
Hongkong Shine Significantly influenced by one EREERES XARAIN—EE
Tak Foundation of the executive directors of gB8RARA TEENERY
Association Limited ~ the Company =z
Other than those transactions and balances disclosed Bﬂ'— ABEEMEGRABEENZT IR
elsewhere in this report, the following significant ERIN A TE KRS JEEE

transactions were carried out with related parties during

E’\Eizi_?__ﬁ)&_y i =y

the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022: A=+—HIEFE#
(a) Transactions with related parties (a) EBEEXRS

The following significant transactions were
undertaken by the Group with related parties
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022:

UWTEARARS TV AAEEERR
BHREE-_ZE_=ZFR_Z
—ZF+ZA=t+—HLEFE
T

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+-BL%FE

2023 2022
—B-= —E--F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT AL
Rental payment to: XHEENET:
— Big Elegant Limited - EEERAA 1,044 1,044
Disposal of a motor vehicle to: HE-®WAEF:
— SG Printing Company Limited — BRHRIFR QA 350 -
Sales to: HWET:
— Hongkong Shine Tak Foundation - EBEEEEEARAT
Association Limited 930 -
Donation to: BRT:
— Hongkong Shine Tak Foundation - AREEELEERAA
Association Limited 200 48
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35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Transactions with related parties
(Continued)

The amounts shown on the above table represent
the cash amounts paid to or received from
the related parties during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

On 2 December 2021, the Group entered into a
Lease (“2022 Lease”) with Big Elegant Limited in
respect of a property in Hong Kong with a lease
term from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2023
and with monthly rental of HK$87,000.

On 8 December 2023, the Group entered into
a lease with Big Elegant Limited in respect of a
property in Hong Kong with a lease term from
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2025 and with
monthly rental of HK$87,000 as a renewal of the
2022 Lease ended 31 December 2023.

Such lease payment to the related party has been
classified and presented as amortisation of the
right-of-use assets and interest expense accrued
over the lease liabilities due to the adoption of
HKFRS 16.

The above transactions with related parties were
conducted in the ordinary course of the business
of the Group based on the terms mutually agreed
between the relevant parties.

Key management compensation

Key management includes directors of the
Group. The compensation paid or payable to key
management for employee services is disclosed in
Note 9.
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35 BEMAX5 (&)
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KRB MR M

36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 36 AARMBEMRRERFEE

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE BB R
COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the ANYNETR % O
Company
As at 31 December
R+=-—H=+—H
2023 2022
—_E=2-= —_E- =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT F& T
Assets BE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ERBRANEE 3,763 3,763
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other T8 3R IR F A Ath FE Uk
receivables KT8 - 636
Amounts due from subsidiaries & Y i & A &) ZL I8 180,102 262,014
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRSFEY 748 79,363
Total assets EE#E 184,613 345,776
Equity and liabilities EERkEE
Equity attributable to KATEZRREMN
equity holders of =
the Company
Share capital Ji& 7 16 5,320 5,320
Share premium f& 19 i B 139,593 139,593
Reserves 1 3,959 3,410
Total equity ERARHE 148,872 148,323
Liabilities =K
Current liabilities REAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE A< Bt B A R 3R 18 35,731 197,443
Accruals T E 10 10
Total liabilities BEHAE 35,741 197,453
Total equity and liabilities #EZRE&EHEE 184,613 345,776
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iR B B R M

36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 36 AARMBEMRRERFEE

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE gER(E)
COMPANY (Continued)
Reserve movement of the Company AARRERE X

Share Share Retained
capital Premium earnings Total
R R A3 E B REEF @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TET TET

Balance at 31 December R=-ZE=-—-f+=A8
2021 and 1 January 2022 =t+—-AR=-B=-=%

-R—-BHE&E 5,320 139,593 2,686 147,599
Profit for the year FREF - - 75,204 75,204
Dividends paid ENRE - - (74,480) (74,480)

Balance at 31 December R=-ZE=-Zf+=F#
2022 and 1 January 2023 =t1+-AR-ZE=-=%

—B-BHEe 5,320 139,593 3,410 148,323
Profit for the year F R A - - 69,709 69,709
Dividends paid BREE - - (69,160) (69,160)

Balance at 31 December R=-ZE=-=%+=A
2023 =t-BW&E& 5,320 139,593 3,959 148,872
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FINANCIAL
SUMMARY

MG E

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS Re¥E

Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=1-HLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
e

— ==

GLE
TER

“E-NE F-FE  -F--%F ZF-C

HK$'000
T

HK$'000
TET

HK$'000
7

HK$'000
TAL

Revenue Wi 1,193,641 1,232,631 1,389,759 1,276,392 1,039,199
Gross profit EF 365,558 436,866 430,108 416,764 356,092
Profit before income tax BRETEHAET 101,446 159,477 130,832 143,133 94,218
Income tax expense FEREY (17,158) (30,129) (11,790) (16,294) (15,950)
Profit for the year EREF 84,288 129,348 119,042 126,839 78,268
Profit attributable to equity KRa R REEE SR

holders of the Company 84,288 129,348 119,042 126,839 80,099

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, EQUITY AND

REEE BRERERE

LIABILITIES

As at 31 December
BEt-A=1-HLEE
2019 2021 2022 2023

“E-NEF
HK$'000
THET

“E-—F
HK$'000
TET

—E-—# CZECZ
HK$’000
TR

HK$'000
TET

Assets BE
Non-current assets ¥RBEE 520,633 577,986 643,467 599,016 646,704
Current assets nBEE 435,627 602,677 576,550 580,219 443,953
Total assets EEAE 956260 1,180,663 1220017 1,179,235 1,090,657
Equity and liabilities EiREE
Non-current liabilities ENBDEE 100,686 26,085 12,073 9,993 16,322
Current liabilities nBAE 321,077 370,211 361,630 326,401 239,615
Total liabilities BEME 421763 396,296 373,703 336,394 255,937
Equity attributable to equity RRAERRR

holders of the Company B ER 534,497 784,367 846,314 842,841 833,651
Non-controlling interests FERES — — — — 1,069
Total equity and liabilties BnLEEAR 956260 1,180,663 1220017 1,179,235 1,090,657
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